Cabinet
Date
Time
Venue

Wednesday 14 September 2022
9.30 am
Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham
Business
Part A
Items which are open to the public and press

1.

Public Questions

2.

Minutes of the meeting held on 13 July 2022 (Pages 3 - 6)

3.

Declarations of interest

Ordinary Decisions:
4.

Providing a sustainable solution for Durham Community Business
College, part of the former Durham Federation - Joint Report of
Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services and
Corporate Director of Resources (Pages 7 - 18)

5.

Quarter One, 2022/23 Performance Management Report - Report
of Corporate Director of Resources (Pages 19 - 74)

6.

Forecast of Revenue and Capital Outturn 2022/23 - Period to 30
June 2022 and Update on Progress towards achieving MTFP(12)
savings - Report of Corporate Director of Resources (Pages 75 118)

7.

Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2021-22 - Report of
Corporate Director of Children and Young People's Services
(Pages 119 - 160)

8.

Health and Care Integration - Report of Corporate Director of
Adult and Health Services (Pages 161 - 196)

9.

Discharge of Transport Functions by Durham County Council
2021/22 - Report of Corporate Director of Regeneration,
Economy and Growth (Pages 197 - 212)

10.

County Durham Pound Project Update - Report of Corporate
Director of Resources (Pages 213 - 230)

11.

Maintained Schools Budget Plans and Permission to Set Deficit
Budgets 2022/23 - Joint Report of Corporate Director of Children
and Young People's Services and Corporate Director of
Resources (Pages 231 - 248)

12.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.

13.

Any resolution relating to the exclusion of the public during the
discussion of items containing exempt information.
Part B

Items during which it is considered the meeting will not be open to the
public (consideration of exempt or confidential information)
14.

Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chair of the
meeting, is of sufficient urgency to warrant consideration.

Helen Lynch
Head of Legal and Democratic Services
County Hall
Durham
6 September 2022

To:

The Members of the Cabinet
Councillors A Hopgood and R Bell (Leader and Deputy Leader
of the Council) together with Councillors T Henderson, C Hood,
S McDonnell, J Rowlandson, E Scott, A Shield, J Shuttleworth
and M Wilkes

Contact: Michael Turnbull

Tel: 03000 269714

Agenda Item 2

DURHAM COUNTY COUNCIL

At a Meeting of Cabinet held in the Council Chamber, County Hall, Durham on
Wednesday 13 July 2022 at 9.30 am

Present:
Councillor A Hopgood (Leader of the Council)

Cabinet Members:
Councillors R Bell (Deputy Leader of the Council), T Henderson, S McDonnell,
P Sexton, A Shield, J Shuttleworth and M Wilkes

Apologies:
Apologies for absence were received from Councillor James Rowlandson and
Councillor Elizabeth Scott

Also Present:
Councillor Chris Hood

1

Public Questions
There were no public questions.

2

Minutes
The minutes of the meeting held on 15 June 2022 were agreed as a correct
record and signed by the Chair.

3

Declarations of Interest
As School Governors of Forest of Teesdale Primary School, Councillors
Henderson and Shuttleworth declared an interest in agenda item 4 and
would leave the meeting during consideration of the report.
Councillors Henderson and Shuttleworth withdrew from the meeting.

4

Proposal to close Forest of Teesdale Primary School on 31 August
2022 [Key Decision: CYPS/03/2022]
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Children and
Young People’s Services which sought approval to close Forest of Teesdale
Primary School on 31 August 2022, taking account of the Local Authority’s

Page 3

duties as prescribed in the Education and Inspections Act 2006 to secure
sufficient places and to ensure good outcomes for all children and young
people in the local area (for copy of report, see file of minutes).
Moved by Councillor Bell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance
and Seconded by Councillor Sexton, Portfolio Holder for Adult and Health
Services.
Resolved:
That the recommendation in the report be approved.
Councillors Henderson and Shuttleworth re-joined the meeting.
Cabinet agreed that Agenda Item No. 8 – Storm Arwen review be considered
as the next item to allow the presenting officer to leave the meeting.

5

Storm Arwen review
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change on the response to Storm Arwen which
included an improvement plan for managing future incidents (for copy of
report, see file of minutes).
Councillor Shuttleworth, Portfolio Holder for Rural Communities and
Highways informed the Cabinet that the review had provided the opportunity
for those involved in the response to Storm Arwen to have a voice in the
learning going forward. In compiling the report and action plan the Council
had listened to individuals, community groups and Members of the Council
who had provided feedback, along with partners from the emergency
services, the resilience forum and Northern Powergrid.
Councillor Wilkes, Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
considered that officers of the County Council at all levels did an incredible
job during Storm Arwen to help residents.
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

6

Treasury Management Outturn Report 2021/22
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources
which provided an overview of the Council’s Treasury Management Outturn
performance for 2021/22 including borrowing activity, investment activity,
treasury management and prudential indicators (for copy of report, see file of
minutes).

Page 4

Councillor Bell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance thanked the
officers for the comprehensive update on treasury management activity for
the last year and for setting out the Council’s position as at 31 March 2022.
It was pleasing to note that the Council remained in a strong financial
position and had fully complied with all of the requirements of the treasury
management policy and strategy agreed by County Council in February
2021.
Resolved:
That the report be noted.

7

2021/22 Final Outturn for the General Fund and Collection Fund
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources
which provided information on the final revenue and capital outturn for the
General Fund for 2021/22 and the final outturn for the Council’s Council Tax
and Business Rates Collection Fund for 2021/22. The report also detailed
the use of and contributions to earmarked, cash limit and general reserves in
year and at year end, together with the closing position regarding balances
held at 31 March 2022 and achievement of Medium Term Financial Plan
(MTFP) (11) savings targets in 2021/22 (for copy of report, see file of
minutes).
Councillor Bell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance informed
Cabinet the report continued to demonstrate that the Council had strong
financial resilience and exercised prudent financial management.
Councillor Hopgood, Leader of the Council thanked officers for the
comprehensive overview of the Council’s financial performance for 2021/22.
Managing the budget for one of the biggest councils in the country was
challenging and soaring inflation and increased bank base rates had added
another layer of complexity to forecasting. The Council continued to focus on
delivering its ambitions and priorities, making investments in excellent public
services and delivering improvements.
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

8

Medium Term Financial Plan(13), 2023/24 - 2026/27 and Review of
the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme [Key Decision:
CORP/R/22/01]
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Resources
which provided an update on the development of the 2023/24 budget and the
Medium Term Financial Plan (MTFP(13)) covering the period 2023/24 to

Page 5

2026/27. The report also considered a review of the Local Council Tax
Reduction Scheme for 2023/24 (for copy of report, see file of minutes).
Councillor Bell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for Finance informed
Cabinet the Council was seeking clarity, stability and additional financial
support from government. However, the Council was obliged to plan for the
worst and hope that by year end things would improve.
Councillor Hopgood. Leader of the Council informed the Cabinet that the
challenges facing the Council for next year would be extraordinarily difficult to
manage and re-iterated that this was not the budget but an update on the
development of the budget.
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

9

UK Shared Prosperity Fund Investment Plan
The Cabinet considered a report of the Corporate Director of Regeneration,
Economy and Growth which provided an update on the approach and
progress made so far in the development of an Investment Plan for the UK
Shared Prosperity Fund (UKSPF). The report sought approval for the
submission of the UKSPF Investment Plan for Durham (for copy of report,
see file of minutes).
Councillor Henderson, Portfolio Holder for Children and Young People’s
Services informed Cabinet that the UK Shared Prosperity Fund was a key
component of the Government’s policy to level up. The Joint Administration
was keen to ensure that County Durham benefitted fully from this,
maximising the impacts for the residents of County Durham.
Councillor Wilkes, Portfolio Holder for Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
informed Cabinet that the Council would ensure the investment was directed
into improving areas such as job prospects and employment, helping to lead
the green revolution and building the County’s economy.
Resolved:
That the recommendations in the report be approved.

Page 6

Agenda Item 4

Cabinet
14 September 2022
Providing a sustainable solution for
Durham Community Business College,
part of the former Durham Federation

Report of John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young
People’s Services
Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources
Councillor Ted Henderson, Portfolio Holder for Children and Young
People’s Services
Councillor Richard Bell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for
Finance

Electoral division(s) affected:
Sacriston, Deerness Valley, Esh and Witton Gilbert, Brandon, Framwellgate
Moor and Elvet; Neville’s Cross

Purpose of the Report
1

To outline a course of action that can be taken by the council to ensure
the provision of a sustainable education offer for pupils attending
Durham Community Business College (DCBC), avoiding closure of the
school and the significant pressure this would place upon the Durham
Central planning area.

2

To recommend that Cabinet write off the deficit budget of Durham
Community Business College (DCBC), in order that the school joins a
strong and established Multi-Academy Trust. This solution is needed to
secure the school’s sustainability, improve educational outcomes and
ensure the sufficiency of pupil places within the Durham Central
planning area.

Executive summary
3

DCBC were part of a federation of two schools from 2009. Both DCBC
and its federated partner, Fyndoune Community College, which has
since closed, were both inspected by Ofsted and deemed to be

Page 7

‘Inadequate’ in September 2014 and subsequently were issued with an
Academy Order.
4

Bright Tribe was the DfE initial sponsorship choice and started to run
the school from 2015 until the Trust was investigated for fraudulently
using public funds in running its 10 allocated schools. In 2016, Bright
Tribe was removed from sponsorship of the Durham Federation.

5

Pupil numbers had already been significantly reduced by the school’s
Inadequate inspection report in 2014 but later suffered further
reputational damage through a range of school leadership issues.

6

On Bright Tribe’s removal, the DfE failed, for a number of years, to
secure another sponsor and Durham Federation reverted to Local
Authority control in 2018. This culminated in the amalgamation of both
DCBC and Fyndoune Community College into one school with a single
URN from 12 April 2021.

7

The school has operated with a licenced deficit now for 3 years but has
made significant reductions in its spending to limit the extent of this
accumulated deficit. These cost reductions are not sustainable and will
inevitably compromise the quality of curriculum offered to all pupils.

8

A Durham-based multi academy trust, the Advance Learning
Partnership (ALP) provisionally expressed interest in taking DCBC into
their MAT on condition the financial risk is nullified through the removal
of any budget deficit prior to transfer. The Council has a strong and
effective working relationship with this Trust and has worked
successfully with ALP on other academisation projects in the past.

9

DfE support this move, identify the need to preserve pupil places within
the central Durham pupil place planning area and have committed to
financial support around some of the capital projects identified by the
Trust.

10

Academisation will take place from 1 January 2023 providing all due
diligence activities are successful and that the current deficit situation is
addressed. This is supported by the DfE and accepted by the RSC
Headteacher board in June 2022.

Recommendation(s)
11

Cabinet is recommended to:
(a)

Page 8

agree to write off the accumulated deficit budget of Durham
Community Business College (DCBC) at the point of conversion,
in order that the school joins a strong and established MultiAcademy Trust. This will deliver a financially viable solution for
the school’s future and improve the quality of education for the
communities affected;

(b)

agree to the cost of writing off the deficit to be met from the
School’s earmarked reserves;

(c)

that the Corporate Director of Resources will have the delegated
authority to determine the final amount of deficit to be written off.
This will continue to be closely monitored through quarterly
budgetary control reports.

Page 9

Background
12

Durham Community Business College (DCBC) is a much smaller than
average secondary school with pupil numbers in receipt of free school
meals (FSM) and with special educational needs significantly higher
than the national and regional average. Pupil mobility is much higher
than average, and pupils enter school with lower-than-average
attainment, low literacy rates. The school is supported by the local
authority in running an ‘Enhanced Learning Provision’ to support
children with SEND being fully integrated in a mainstream school
environment.

13

Both DCBC and Fyndoune were inspected by Ofsted in September
2014 and placed into special measures with Leadership being
described as “being in a state of turmoil”.

14

Bright Tribe was the DfE initial sponsorship choice and started to run
the school from 2015 until the Trust was investigated for fraudulently
using public funds in running its 10 allocated schools. In 2016, Bright
Tribe withdrew from sponsorship of the Durham Federation. This case
was highlighted nationally in a Panorama documentary in October 2018,
‘Profits before Pupils’.

15

Pupil numbers had already been significantly reduced by the school’s
Inadequate inspection report in 2014 but later suffered further
reputational damage on the failed trust sponsorship in addition to the
arrest, and later conviction of its high profile Headteacher in June 2015.

16

Throughout this time (i.e. from 2014 to 2019) an Interim Executive
Board, appointed by the local authority, persevered, under the most
challenging circumstances, with the governance of the school, staffing
restructures, and regular monitoring visits from Ofsted, in line with a
school deemed to be inadequate.

17

The school’s unique circumstances have made it very difficult to recruit
and retain staff, although committed governance and leadership of the
school has allowed it to move into and sustain successive ‘Requires
Improvement’ overall judgements over the last 4 years. Seven
inspections and monitoring visits at DCBC alone, have recognised this
work.

18

In 2018, after two years in which no alternative sponsor could be found,
the DfE agreed that the schools would therefore revert to Local
Authority maintained control, dependant on the Council taking steps to
amalgamate the schools and remove one unique reference number
(URN) through this process. This step, in effect, closed Fyndoune
Community College in April 2021.

19

During the prolonged period of instability resulting from the DfE’s
inaction, pupil numbers fell steeply, staffing restructures were necessary

Page 10

due to reducing budgets, and a reliance on short-term supply
appointments, particularly in core subjects, impacted negatively on
outcomes at all levels.
20

The demand for future school places in this part of the County is at an
unprecedented high, driven by large-scale housing developments
across the city of Durham and its outlying communities. 4 of the 5
secondary schools within this planning area, are oversubscribed in all
year groups. This makes the closure of DCBC, not a viable option.

21

The school has worked effectively with the DfE as part of the One
Vision education improvement initiative, and this has helped sustain
improvement alongside developing the DfE’s confidence in the future of
the school provided there is interest shown by an appropriate sponsor.

22

DCBC benefitted from a substantial building programme in 2018-19,
funded by the government’s Education and Skills Funding Agency
(ESFA), to a total of c£3 million.

23

The only certain way to improve educational standards and secure
future growth in pupil numbers was for the Council to broker
sponsorship of the school with a multi academy trust (MAT). A Durhambased multi academy trust, the Advanced Learning Partnership (ALP),
provisionally expressed interest in taking DCBC into their MAT on
condition the financial risk is nullified through the removal of any budget
deficit prior to transfer. The Trust have carried out further due diligence
since October 2021.

24

This Trust has worked effectively with Durham County Council over
previous conversions at Wolsingham School and Bishop Barrington
School, where pupil numbers were a major concern. Many children
pass DCBC to travel to other ALP schools which are over-subscribed,
and the Trust believes that these communities, with confidence in the
future management of the school, will return to a preference for their
local school.

25

The DfE agree with the need for the school in its pupil place planning
area and have worked with ALP to consider capital solutions to the
school site and future security around funding pupil numbers.

26

DCC has committed to a number of capital projects that were necessary
for the school to operate safely and – for the transfer to ALP to be
achieved – would need to commit to pay off the school’s deficit at the
point of conversion in January 2023.

27

Parts of DCBC are in very good condition having benefitted from a
recent substantial building programme, as mentioned above. The
buildings and playing fields, plus the well-equipped Bobby Robson
Sports Complex on site, would potentially be assets to a MAT. A MAT

Page 11

would also have access to the Condition Improvement Fund which
could secure and accelerate additional funding for capital projects.

Financial Position of DCBC
28

The table below shows details of the budget and deficit position for the
school for the period 2019-20 to 2022-23:

Revenue budget £
Total Expenditure
Total Funding / Income
In Year Surplus / (Deficit)
Surplus /(Deficit) Brought
Forward
Surplus /(Deficit) Carried
Forward
Pupil Numbers
Year 7
Year 8
Year 9
Year 10
Year 11
Total Pupils

2019-20
Outturn
4,568,000
4,266,000
-302,000

2020-21
Outturn
3,962,000
3,872,000
-90,000

2021-22
Outturn
3,750,000
3,585,000
-165,000

2022-23
Budget
3,219,000
3,312,000
93,000

-113,000

-415,000

-505,000

-670,000

-415,000

-505,000

-670,000

-577,000

84
103
96
135
126
544

55
87
98
92
129
461

41
55
87
98
92
373

48
41
55
87
98
329

29

The cumulative deficit position of DCBC is mainly driven by loss of ageweighted pupil unit (AWPU) funding, which is the basic funding that all
pupils attract. The AWPU funding is £4,536 for each Key Stage 3 pupil,
so falling numbers and a total roll so far below the capacity of the school
mean the current and future budget will remain under pressure.

30

The school has been in a deficit position since 2016-17, with the
cumulative deficit growing year on year since then. Staffing restructures
and other cost saving measures have been introduced at the school,
meaning part of the cumulative deficit is forecast to be recovered this
financial year, however such restructures have now reached such a
point that, while further staff cuts may marginally reduce the in-year
deficit position, they come with a consequential risk of translating to
poor educational outcomes.

31

The Corporate Director of Resources has approved a licensed deficit of
£0.577 million for DCBC in 2022-23, which includes an in-year budget
surplus of £93,000.

32

The deficit at the potential point of conversion (January 2023) is
estimated to be between £0.650 million and £0.577 million.

Page 12

33

Where schools choose to convert to academies, the default position is
that the accumulated balance, whether a surplus or deficit transfers to
the academy trust. However, DfE guidance is that local authorities may
choose to write-off all or part of a deficit where the deficit is a hindrance
to the school converting.

34

The position is different for schools that become sponsored academies,
because of an adverse Ofsted rating. Where schools that are becoming
sponsored academies have a deficit, the deficit is required to be writtenoff as a charge to the local authority’s general fund.

35

If the Council chooses to write-off the deficit, this would be met from the
School Reserve, set up for this purpose. The balance on the fund as at
1 April 2022 is £3.282 million.

36

Schools in similar situations have made economies by being part of a
Multi Academy Trust and have also benefited from access to additional
funding through the DfE. Currently, for example, Trusts within Durham
which is designated by the DfE as an ‘Education Improvement Area’ are
provided with additional funding to support expansion and support for
vulnerable schools. This is the case for DCBC working with ALP
currently.

37

Should a school close, the additional cost of providing home to school
transport to pupils nearest schools will be significant. Potentially there
would also need to be capital investment to expand other secondary
schools to accommodate additional pupils should this be necessary in
the event that an existing school becomes unviable. Conversely,
successful development of the school through an effective Multi
Academy Trust would reduce pressures around home to school
transport budget, as more local children would be able to walk to their
local secondary school.

38

A decision to close a school can only be taken after consultation, but
this action may prevent or inhibit choices of families to send their
children to a local school.

Conclusion
39

Since 2014 when Ofsted judged DCBC to be inadequate there have
been a range of issues impacting on the school’s sustainability. These
have all had a significant detrimental impact upon the popularity of the
school. The inevitable significant financial challenges that are a direct
consequence of this, make the need for a new start and identity for this
school, essential.

40

The decision of the Council to write off the deficit of the school, would
replicate previous deficit write-offs for schools that incurred financial
Page 13

difficulties, whilst being maintained schools. In meeting its statutory
pupil place-planning duties, the Council has supported similar schools in
this way, as part of the conversation process.
41

In getting this potential academisation to this stage, there has been
significant work across a wide range of related stakeholders who have
all worked effectively, making significant compromises and
commitments, in the best interests of children and the community.

Background papers
•

None

Other useful documents
•

None

Author(s)
Jim Murray

Tel: 03000 265808

David Watchman

Tel: 03000 268573

Page 14

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The actions described in this report are intended to comply with the Council’s
duty to exercise its education functions with a view to promoting high
standards and the fulfilment of each pupil’s learning potential in accordance
with S 13 A of the Education Act 1996.
The Corporate Director Resources is responsible by virtue of Section 151 of
the Local Government Act 1972 for the administration of the authority’s
financial affairs. The Corporate Director Resources also has a duty to report
certain matters to the authority by virtue of Section 114 of the Local
Government Finance Act 1988.
Schools have delegated budgets, but if a school fails to recruit sufficient pupils
to maintain a viable budget or incurs staffing or other costs in excess of
income, then the decision to allow a school to set a deficit budget falls to the
Section 151 officer, Corporate Director Resources.
The funding framework governing schools finance, which replaced Local
Management of Schools, is based on the legislative provisions in sections 4553 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998. Under this legislation
the Council is required to publish a Scheme of Financing for Schools. The
scheme sets out the financial relationship between the authority and the
maintained schools which it funds, including the respective roles and
responsibilities of the authority and the schools. The scheme does not limit
unreasonably the flexibility of schools to control and deploy their budgets,
recognising the need for public monies are involved to be properly accounted
for and recorded. The scheme includes provisions which are binding on both
parties. Under the scheme, any deficits of expenditure against budget share
(formula funding and other income due to the school) in any financial year will
be charged against the school and will be deducted from the following year’s
budget share to establish the funding available to the school for the coming
year.
Schools cannot set a deficit budget without the prior agreement in writing of
the authority. For clarity, a deficit budget is one where the gross expenditure
in the budget plan exceeds the total of funding, income and the balance
(surplus or deficit) brought forward from the previous year.

Finance
Schools are funded through the Dedicated Schools Grant and operate to
delegated budgets, which are the responsibility of individual school governing
bodies. Where a school wishes to set a deficit budget (where its spending
exceeds it resources in year) it can only do so in accordance with EFA
Page 15

guidance and the Scheme of Financing for Schools and with the permission of
the Council’s S151 Officer. In accordance with legal obligations, the S151
Officer may not continue to allow a school to set a deficit budget without a
robust business plan that indicates the removal of any deficit over time.
The report outlines the significant financial difficulties experienced by Durham
Community Business College and the options that will need to be explored in
terms of a solution to these problems.
The National Funding Formula puts more funding into pupil-led factors than
school-led factors, which creates longer-term challenges for smaller schools
or schools with very low and/or reduced rolls, because the increase in pupilled funding will be of less benefit to schools with smaller numbers of pupils.
Should a school close, the additional cost of providing home to school
transport to pupils’ nearest schools can be significant. There would also need
to be significant capital investment to expand other secondary schools to
accommodate additional pupils should a secondary school close for financial
reasons. Where this expansion involves an academy, the share of the costs
between the local authority (with its statutory function to provide places) and
the ESFA, which is responsible for the funding of academies, will need to be
negotiated.

Consultation
Consultation on closure of schools follows a statutory process with set
sequence and timelines. This will be followed in the event that closure is
agreed as an outcome of the recommendations of this report.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
A decision to close a school can only be taken after consultation, but this
action may prevent or inhibit choices of families to send their children to a
local school.
Any review or change to educational provision in an area has the potential to
adversely impact on protected characteristics, both in terms of pupils, their
families, local communities, and employees working in the schools. The
options described in this, and previous reports could involve pupils being
required to attend different schools or not being able to access a local school
and being required to travel further.
Initial analysis of the potential equality impacts of the review options are as
follows:
The impact on pupils who have learning difficulties, SEN or who are already
disadvantaged in their educational attainment will need to be put under
particularly acute scrutiny. For vulnerable pupils there is maybe a need for a
personal educational plan or a revised Education and Health Plan. Changes

Page 16

to transport arrangements and to support staff continuity may be required as
part of equalities mitigation.
Recognition will need to be given to any variation in staff contracts, changed
travel times and potential for some impact on hours worked. It will be
important to negotiate mitigation in these areas.

Climate Change
The taking on of DCBC by the ALP Trust will not directly lead to a negative
impact on climate change, but increased transportation of pupils to and from
other schools, that may be an indirect outcome of some recommendations
contained in the report, must be acknowledged. It is most likely that if the
school is successful, local communities surrounding the school are less likely
to transport their children further afield and past the school to Willington, as
currently happens.

Human Rights
Human rights are not affected by the recommendations in this report.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
There is potential impact on school staff through re-structuring to address
deficit balances, or through closure of schools, as indicated in this report.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
A key risk is that, as a consequence of actions taken by the County Council
(including the failure to make timely interventions), pupils and students do not
receive an adequate education. There is an additional risk of reputational
damage if the Council does not appear to be able resolve the problem of
schools operating with significant and sometimes increasing budgetary
difficulties and allows some schools to continue to set deficit budgets whilst
requiring other schools to balance their budgets.
The S151 officer must sign-off the budget for schools with a deficit budget
plan and needs to be able to justify doing so in terms of each school having a
robust plan to recover from its deficit. The scheme of delegation allows for
deficit budgets, but only for three years, and no more than 20% of the school’s
budget share, up to a maximum of £750,000. There is a risk of legal
challenge from the Department for Education if this statutory function is
neglected. There is a risk of external auditors calling into question the actions

Page 17

of the S151 officer if no credible plans are agreed to resolve the issues
described in this report.

Procurement
None.

Page 18

Agenda Item 5

Cabinet
14 September 2022
Quarter One, 2022/23
Performance Management Report
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources
Councillor Amanda Hopgood, Leader of the Council
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide.

Purpose of the Report
1

To present an overview of progress towards achieving the key outcomes of
the council’s corporate performance framework and highlight key
messages to inform strategic priorities and work programmes.

2

The report covers performance in and to the end of quarter one 2022/23,
April to June 2022.

Executive Summary
3

A new Council Plan for 2022-2026 was approved by Council on 22 June.
This sets out a new performance framework for the Council. Corporate
Management Team has agreed to the development of a new quarterly
performance report format which provides greater focus on these issues.
This is the first report for the new reporting period to follow this format.

4

The performance report is structured around the two main components.

5

(a)

State of the County indicators to highlight areas of strategic
importance and reflected in both the County Durham Vision 2035
and the Council Plan.

(b)

Performance of council services and progress against major
initiatives as set out in the Council Plan.

Performance is reported against the five thematic areas within the Council
Plan 2022-2026: our economy, our environment, our people, our
communities, and our council.

Page 19

6

Performance is reported on an exception basis with key messages under
each thematic Council Plan areas being broken down into national, regional
and local picture, things that are going well, areas which require attention
and other areas to note.

7

We are now transitioning into a post-pandemic world, but the impacts of
COVID-19 can still be seen in our performance reporting. The last two
financial years are not representative for many areas of performance and
will be an unfair comparison due to pandemic impacts.

8

We have therefore, wherever possible, tried to make the comparison of
current performance against pre-pandemic data. Whilst COVID-19
continues to impact on certain performance metrics, for instance staff
sickness absence, waste tonnages collected and leisure centre usage,
there is evidence of some areas returning to pre-pandemic levels, e.g., flytipping incidents.

9

The report highlights that performance is positive in several areas for the
county including higher employment levels and high demand for business
space and a recovering tourism sector. Air Quality is improving in Durham
City and the second phase of our Climate Emergency Response Plan has
been adopted.

10

Some health indicators are showing a more positive trend with smoking
during pregnancy reducing and the figure for people discharged from
hospital into reablement or rehabilitation services who remained at home
91 days later is the highest figure for four years.

11

The council is responding to the Ukrainian Refugee Crisis through a multiagency group to ensure a holistic package of support and latest data shows
384 refugees had been accommodated in the county.

12

However, the largest challenge for our residents, local businesses and the
council is the current cost of living crisis. Inflation is currently running at
10.1%1 with the Bank of England forecasting it to peak at 13.3% at the end
of March 2023. Ofgem are expected to increase the energy cap again in
October and further again in January 2023. The inflationary increase is
largely driven by the rise in the cost of fuel and energy bills, which is being
impacted significantly by the war in Ukraine.

13

The cost of living crisis has a triple impact on the council.
(a) It impacts on our residents. High inflation is outstripping wage and
benefit increases resulting in a fall in income in real terms. This has
been further exacerbated by the tax increases implemented in April.
This will result in increased demand for services to help support
people facing financial hardship or who are in crisis.

1

UK Consumer Price Index for 12 months to July 2022

Page 20

(b) Increased costs for the council. Our premises and transport costs
have increased because of the rise in energy costs and fuel prices,
and, also the cost of other supplies and services where prices have
increased as suppliers face similar issues themselves. It is also
anticipated that employee costs will increase by more than in previous
years when the settlement is negotiated to accommodate inflation.
(c)

14

Reduced income for the council. Users of council services may seek
to save money resulting in a fall in income from discretionary services
such as leisure centres and theatres.

Other areas which require attention relate to the amount of waste going to
landfill and the evidence of worsening mental health in the county. Social
work caseloads remain higher than optimum and the extreme pressure on
child placements in the looked after service remains. Staff turnover in the
Council is higher than in recent years and sickness has broadly returned to
pre-pandemic levels now.

Recommendation
15

That Cabinet notes the overall position and direction of travel in relation to
quarter one performance, the continuing impact of COVID-19 and the
increased cost of living on the council’s performance, and the actions being
taken to address areas of underperformance including the significant
economic and well-being challenges because of the pandemic.

Page 21

Analysis of the Performance Report
Going well
Our economy
16

The number of people claiming unemployment benefits have been reducing
since May 2021 and is currently 3.4% of the working age population (June
2022), which is lower than the pre-pandemic position (4%). 30 to 34 years
is the most frequent age group for claimants. The official (labour force
survey) unemployment rate at 4.4% is statistically similar to the rate for
previous quarter and the regional and national rates. The county has been
experiencing falling unemployment since December 2020.

17

Gross Value Added (GVA) per filled job was £46,245 in 2020 (latest data),
up 0.5% from 2019. GVA is 78% of the national value and the gap is
widening.

18

Business Durham’s property rental portfolio has an occupancy rate of 97%.

19

Inward investment, businesses intensively assisted, and businesses
engaged with Business Durham all exceeded target. The County Durham
Growth Fund awarded £660,000 to five SMEs and Finance Durham
awarded almost £1.3 million to a further five companies.

20

A healthy labour market has resulted in fewer people registering on
employability programmes but more participants progressing into
employment.

21

There are signs our tourism and cultural sector is recovering from the
pandemic. In 2022, visitors increased by 38% and money generated by the
visitor economy increased by 61%.

22

94% of three and four year olds in the county are receiving their free
education entitlement.
Our environment

23

96% of sites within the Durham City Air Quality Management Area are
better than the government threshold for nitrogen dioxide, an improvement
from 54% in 2019. COVID restrictions had an impact by reducing traffic
within the city centre.

24

Cleanliness surveys show improvements across all areas for litter, detritus
and dog fouling, and are meeting targets.

25

The second phase of the Climate Emergency Response Plan has been
adopted and we are working with partners and communities to make the
county net zero by 2045.

Page 22

Our people
26

Just over 30% of women are breastfeeding 6-8 weeks after birth, an
increase compared to just under 28% for the same period last year.

27

89% of people discharged from hospital into reablement or rehabilitation
services remained at home 91 days later, the highest figure for four years.

28

The average age of people entering permanent care has shown little
change over the last ten years (varying between 83 and 85 years). Over
the same period, the number of people entering permanent care has also
remained stable, except for the last two years.

29

Gym and swim memberships are 16% higher than last year and above
budgeted income profiles. However, cancellations remain a concern. We
have reinstated exit surveys to enhance our understanding and the impact
of the cost of living pressures.

30

581 families have been turned around via the Stronger Families
programme, 545 by attaining significant and sustained outcomes and 36 by
maintaining continuous employment.
Our communities

31

536 affordable housing units were completed in 2021/22, compared to 478
the previous year. In addition, during quarter one, 433 net new homes were
delivered, and 55 empty properties were brought back into use following
local authority intervention, more than the target of 50.

32

The latest data shows that 384 of the 560 people who had established
contact with residents through the ‘Homes for Ukraine’ scheme had arrived
in the county.

33

All councils are now expected to take asylum seekers under a new system
of ‘full dispersal’. A multi-agency group is ensuring we have the
infrastructure for community cohesion and integration.

34

Fly-tipping incidents responded to by the council continues to reduce and is
significantly below both the previous 12 months and pre-pandemic. Our
enforcement rate for fly-tipping is 49%.
Our council

35

The council has started a major project to implement an enterprise
analytics platform which will enable us to provide new insights and citizen
indexed data such as a single view of the child, single view of the adult and
single view of the family. It will also lay the foundations for a more
diagnostic and predictive approach to data analytics in future making us
more data driven as an organisation and help deliver better outcomes for
our residents.
Page 23

36

Our Performance Development Review (PDR) cycle is continuing, and the
latest performance data shows that the process was complete for 117
leaders (100%), 882 managers (88%) and 3,601 core employees (60%).

37

459 employees are currently enrolled on our apprenticeship programme,
which equates to around 2.8% of our workforce. During quarter one, 61
new apprentices were recruited and given start dates throughout August
and September 2022.

Areas which require attention
Our economy
38

We remain concerned about the impact of the cost of living crisis on our
residents, especially those in low income households and/or in rural areas.
The council is still consulting on its revised Poverty Action Strategy and
Plan, which sets out a comprehensive response to the impacts of the wideranging poverty issues within the county.

39

More households are requesting assistance with fuel debt issues. During
quarter one, we helped 189 households achieve an average saving of £177
(via the Managing Money Better initiative).
Our environment

40

The quantity of waste collected and disposed of remains 8% higher than
pre-pandemic. Both the landfill diversion rate (89.4%) and the kerbside
recycling rate (38.1%) have reduced. This is due to a combination of
fluctuations in the recycling markets, changes to recycling legislation,
issues within the waste disposal system and behavioural change stemming
from the pandemic.

41

Contamination of household kerbside recycling has reduced over the last
12 months. However, it remains an issue with around one third of waste in
blue bins being either recyclables such as WEEE2 that should be taken to
the HWRC for processing or is residual waste. In the north of the county,
we have placed stickers on bins to highlight what can and cannot be
recycled at the kerbside.
Our people

42

Admissions under the Mental Health Act are 19% higher (+37 admissions)
than at the start of the pandemic, and 3% higher than last year (+6
admissions).

43

Just under 41% of carers (adult social care) are satisfied with the support
and services they receive. Whilst this is the lowest result since the survey
started 9 years ago (there have been four previous biennial surveys), it is
still in line with national trends.

2

Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment

Page 24

44

Despite encouraging performance in terms of the impacts of reablement,
the percentage of people receiving reablement following discharge from
hospital has decreased from 3.8% to 2.7% and is below both the regional
(2.9%) and national (3.1%) rates.

45

Caseloads remain high across our social workers. Newly qualified social
workers recruited will take up their posts over the summer. We remain
focused on retention as well as recruitment.

46

More children in care have resulted in significant placement pressures,
which are reflected both regionally and nationally, and are focusing on
increasing capacity within our in-house children’s homes, recruiting more
foster carers, and working with children and their families to prevent them
entering the care system. The CLA placement budgets are forecast to
overspend by £5.39 million this year.

47

High demand for Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCPs) continues.
More than 500 requests were received in the year ending June 2022 higher than in the same period in any of the last three years.
Our communities

48

Reports of anti-social behaviour (ASB) have decreased by 16% compared
to the same period last year. This reduction was mainly due to a significant
fall in environmental ASB, which is masking increases across the nuisance
(29% higher than pre-pandemic) and personal categories (68% higher than
pre-pandemic). Reports from the frontline staff suggest this reflects less
tolerance across our communities and a deterioration in mental health from
the pandemic which is driving behaviour. Deliberate fires have also
increased, predominantly in the east of the county.
Our council

49

Councils are warning the triple impact of spiralling inflation, high energy
costs and wage increases will increase budget pressures. We also expect
increased demand for support services due to the cost of living crisis, and a
reduction in our income generating services, such as gym memberships,
and theatre and cinema attendance.

50

Across our workforce, almost one third of staff are aged over 50 years, and
staff retirements are partly driving the increase in staff turnover which
currently stands at 9.1%, higher than the pre-pandemic figure of 7.2% but
lower than the national average of around 10%. We are modernising our
approach to recruitment to make us a more appealing in a hugely
competitive market, where attracting skilled workers remains a challenge,
and local and national skills shortages are driving competition in the jobs
market.

51

Although COVID-19 caused additional sickness absence throughout the
pandemic, measures to limit its spread helped reduce other causes of
Page 25

absence, and our sickness rate steadily reduced to its lowest level for ten
years at year-end 2020/21. However, our rate has since increased.
52

If we adjust our sickness rate to remove sickness due to COVID-19, then
our rate reduces from 12.2 days per full time equivalent (FTE) to 10.7 days
which essentially returns us to our rate pre-pandemic.

53

Sick days have increased across all sickness types except for neurological
reasons. Days lost to ‘mental health and fatigue’ is 10% higher than prepandemic, driven by increases in stress (both work and non-work related),
anxiety disorders, fatigue and exhaustion. On 10 March 2022, long-COVID
was added as a reason for employee absence and during the 81 days
between 10 March and 30 June 2022, 532 working days were lost to this
absence type.

54

During the last 12 months, 74% of employees recorded less than five days
sickness and 57% recorded no sickness at all.

55

During quarter one, significantly higher numbers of new council tax claims
(up 33%), housing benefit claims (up 28%) and change of circumstances
for council tax reduction (up 5%) resulted in longer processing times. As
staff have now returned from working on test and trace support payments,
we expect to be back on track by the end of quarter two.

Other areas of note
Our economy
56

As runner-up to the UK City of Culture 2025 title, the county was awarded
£125,000. In October, we will provide details of how elements of our bid will
be progressed.

57

To help fund the engineering works at The Story at Mount Oswald project,
we have received £70,000 of additional European Regional Development
Fund funding and have submitted a bid for a further £200,000.

58

Following the Big Econ-versation events, survey responses and workshops
held earlier this year, a draft Inclusive Economic Strategy has been
prepared and will be shared with partners, stakeholders and community
representatives in September. Once consultation is complete, the strategy
will go to Cabinet in November 2022.
Our environment

59

Page 26

Our Scaling on Street Charging Infrastructure project won the award for
Best Electric Vehicle Charging Project at the 2022 Municipal Journal
Awards. Our e-learning course to tackle littering was also highly
commended in the Digital Transformation category.

Our people
60

The National Child Measurement Programme 2020/21 shows a reduction in
the percentage of children, across all age ranges, who are of a healthy
weight in the national and regional data. This survey used a sampling
methodology, and local authority level data is not available, however, this
suggests that County Durham will likely see a reduction in children who are
of a healthy weight.

61

Tobacco treatment is now a routine part of maternity care, and whilst a
greater percentage of women are smoking at time of delivery, there is a
narrowing gap with the North East and a longer-term trend of fewer
pregnant women smoking.
Our communities

62

The council’s selective licensing scheme, which aims to improve
management standards of privately rented properties and reduce antisocial behaviour, is now live. During the first operational quarter, 2,208
properties were fully licenced, approximately 8% of properties covered by
the scheme.
Our council

63

Significant financial uncertainty requires the council to be flexible and
adaptable in its financial planning. Required savings could change
significantly depending on whether the government provides much needed
additional resource in 2023/24 and whether the council experiences further
additional financial pressures due to demand, loss of income or due to the
impact of inflation.

64

Achieving the required £55 million of savings over the next four years will
be extremely challenging and it is becoming more difficult to protect our
frontline services as savings in managerial and back-office efficiencies are
becoming exhausted due to delivering £250 million of savings up to 31
March 2023.

65

Contacts through our reported channels continue to increase. This is due to
transferring lines to the automatic call distribution telephony system,
reinstating lines closed due to the pandemic, such as the coroner and
leisure centres, and more recently, queries relating to the £150 energy
rebate.

66

Digital contact is increasing. More residents are requesting services
through our Customer Relationship Management (CRM) system using
online accounts and accessing council tax and housing benefit information
through accounts in the Revenues and Benefits Portal.

67

Service requests received through our CRM system are 25% higher than
the pre-pandemic level (an additional 87,000). Almost 60% of these service
Page 27

requests have a performance standard (which was met in 61% of cases)
and of the 22,000 respondents to our satisfaction survey 82% stated they
were satisfied with service delivery.

Performance Indicators – Summary
68

We are now transitioning into a post-pandemic world, but the impacts of
COVID-19 can still be seen in our performance reporting. The last two
financial years are not representative for many areas of performance and
will be an unfair comparison due to pandemic impacts.

69

We have therefore, wherever possible, tried to make the comparison of
current performance against pre-pandemic data.

70

A summary table of the performance indicators in the report is included
here:

Improving

Static

Deteriorating

Not available

Improving

Static

Deteriorating

No target set tracker
Meeting or
exceeding target
Within 2% of
target
More than 2%
behind target

Direction of Travel
(pre-COVID)

Not available
Performance to
Target

Direction of Travel
(12 months previous)

32

39

6

30

49

21

13

24

2

17

3

4

5

13

4

4

1
6

1
2

9

2

2

2

11

Risk Management
71

Effective risk management is a vital component of the council’s agenda.
The council’s risk management process sits alongside our change
programme and is incorporated into all significant change and improvement
projects. The latest report can be found here.

Background papers
•

County Durham Vision (County Council, 23 October 2019)
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s115064/Draft%20Durham%
20Vision%20v10.0.pdf

Other useful documents
•

Page 28

Council Plan 2022 to 2026 (current plan)
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/mgAi.aspx?ID=56529

•

•

•

•

Quarter Four, 2021/22 Performance Management Report
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s157533/Year%20End%20pe
rformance%20report%202021-22.pdf
Quarter Three, 2021/22 Performance Management Report
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s152742/Performance%20Re
port%202021-22%20003.pdf
Quarter Two, 2021/22 Performance Management Report
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s149087/Q2%20Performance
%20Report%202021-22%20-%20Cabinet.pdf
Quarter One, 2021/22 Performance Management Report
https://democracy.durham.gov.uk/documents/s144872/Q1%20Performance
%20Report%202021-22.pdf

Author
Andy Palmer

Tel: 03000 268551

Page 29

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Not applicable.

Finance
Latest performance information is being used to inform corporate, service and
financial planning.

Consultation
Not applicable.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Equality measures are monitored as part of the performance monitoring process.

Climate Change
We have declared a climate change emergency and consider the implications of
climate change in our reports and decision-making.

Human Rights
Not applicable.

Crime and Disorder
A number of performance indicators and key actions relating to crime and
disorder are continually monitored in partnership with Durham Constabulary.

Staffing
Performance against a number of relevant corporate health indicators has been
included to monitor staffing issues.

Accommodation
Not applicable.

Risk
Reporting of significant risks and their interaction with performance is integrated
into the quarterly performance management report.

Procurement
Not applicable.

Page 30

Appendix 2

Durham County Council
Performance Management
Report
Quarter One, 2022/23

Page 31

1.0

Our Economy: National, Regional & Local Picture

Employment levels
1

Latest data (March 2022) shows no significant change to the employment rate at
70.1%. This is comparable with the rate for the North East region but statistically well
below the national rate of 75.4%.

2

The employment rate in County Durham for those with a disability is 46.7%, much
lower than the rate for those without a disability (78.9%). For those with no disability
the employment rate in County Durham is lower than the national average of 81.3%,
however, the employment rate for disabled residents in the county is 10.2
percentage points lower than in England (56.9).

3

The unemployment rate at 4.4% is statistically similar to the rate for previous quarter
and the regional and national rates. The county has been experiencing falling
unemployment since December 2020.

4

More people have become ‘economically inactive’ – mainly becoming students or
looking after family / home. This suggests people are moving out of the labour
market rather than into employment.

5

Significantly more people claimed employment benefits between March and May
2020. The number remained relatively static throughout 2020 and 2021 before
dropping notably in May 2021. The number has continued to fall and is now 3.4%
(June 2022), lower than the 4% recorded pre-pandemic.

6

The highest proportion of claimants are aged 30-34 years, and the 40-44 years
cohort shows the biggest change since March 2020 (by 0.2pp).

Labour productivity
7

In 2020, our GVA per filled job was £46,245. This is 95.4% of the North East value
and 78.4% of the national value. Longer-term growth has been slower than both
regionally and nationally, so the GVA gap has widened.

Employment land
8

Since 2015/16, 79 hectares of employment land have been delivered. The latest
year is less than the previous year but 2020/21 included significant developments at
Integra 61 and Jade Business Park. 2021/22 reflects several smaller proposals,
mainly general industry or storage and distribution floorspace, at various locations
across the county.

Page 32

Tourism Economy
9

16 million people visited the county in 2021. Around 8 million people to the Vale of
Durham, 3 million to Durham City, 2 million to the Durham Coast and 2.5 million to
the Durham Dales.

10

£827 million was added to the local economy with a day visitor contributing on
average £31 and each staying visitor £276.

11

More than 70% of visitors were satisfied with the quality of attractions, eating
establishments, variety of things to do and cleanliness of the area. However, the
availability of public toilets, visitor information points and public transport were
flagged as areas for improvement.

Education
12

1.1

Our exclusion rate has reduced by around 0.05% since the 18/19 academic year.
Although 50 pupils were permanently excluded in 2020/21, the pandemic and
sustained period of school closures will have played some part. Suspensions remain
around 5%, higher than nationally but lower than the North East (7%).

Council Activity: Going Well

Occupancy
13

97% of Business Durham floor space is occupied. Remedial works are required at
Sacriston but there is a waiting list of 16 companies. The Dales Centre achieved
100% occupancy and is seeing increased visitor numbers. £1.2 million of income
was generated, £200,000 higher than the same quarter last year.

Investments
14

During quarter one, there were two inward investments, five SMEs were awarded a
combined grant of £660,000 through the County Durham Growth Fund, and a further
five companies received a combined investment of almost £1.3 million through the
Finance Durham Fund.

15

In addition, more than £1.6 million was secured for companies.

Businesses Assisted
16

During quarter one, Business Durham engaged with 263 and intensively assisted
107. This is lower than the same period last year when businesses were taking up
pandemic support through Business Durham's various programmes.

Page 33

Jobs Created/Safeguarded
17

During quarter one, 603 jobs were created and 309 safeguarded. This is significantly
lower than the same quarter last year when 2,576 jobs were safeguarded through
the Durham Business Recovery Grant (in addition to 73 jobs created and 119
safeguarded through Business Durham's other activities).

Better Health At Work Award
18

The council continues to encourage organisations to work towards the Better Health
at Work Award to improve the health and wellbeing of employees. At the end of
2021/22, 87 organisations were involved in the BHAWA, the highest number to date,
41 of which had attained the higher levels of the Award.

Employability programmes
19

891 people registered onto our programmes and 537 progressed into employment
(60%). This was more than both the previous year (321 of 712, 45%) and prepandemic.

20

Although registrations onto the L!NKCD programme increased, the healthy labour
market means people are gaining employment before being registered onto our
programmes. Some people are also unwilling to engage with other services and
many clients have been mandated to restart the programme which has led to a
reduction in referrals.

21

43 participants moved into education or training during 2021/22. Although higher
than last year (34) and pre-pandemic levels, it is below the target of 132 because
many clients have limited digital skills which prevents them from completing online
courses. We expect figures will increase as more training is delivered face-to-face.

Theatres (Gala / Empire)
22

Ticket sales remain lower than normal due to working slightly reduced programmes
during the COVID recovery period. However, both venues have sold out shows and
we expect sales to reach pre-pandemic levels by the end of the financial year.

Visitors to our libraries and museums
23

There were 50,182 visitors to council owned museums (Killhope and Town Halls)
during quarter one, including:
▪

1,270 to Durham Town Hall despite the offer being reduced from six days to one
(excludes private functions and special events).

▪

4,843 to Killhope Lead Mining Museum. The café and gift shop remains popular,
and a busy summer programme expected to bring increased footfall.

Page 34

▪

24

1.2

34,023 to Bishop Auckland Town Hall, including 18,800 to the new exhibition
space. The café remains popular, and weddings and funerals have returned.

Visits to libraries to attend events such as toddler time, reading groups, get creative
and discover digital, continues to increase. During quarter one, visits were up 300%
compared to last year and 2,622 tickets to 106 events sold.

Council Activity: Areas which require attention

Energy efficiency advice and support
25

During quarter one, we helped 189 households to save an average of £177 (via
Managing Money Better). The ability to make savings is being affected by the
reduced range of competitive tariffs due to companies going into liquidation.

26

514 properties benefitted from an energy efficiency measure. This is lower than
previous quarters due to fewer households being assisted through the Warm Homes
Scheme as changes in the Energy Company Obligation slowed down applications.

27

313 energy efficiency measures were installed through the Local Authority Delivery
Scheme.

Library members
28

Memberships further reduced during quarter one and are 6% lower than the same
period last year. However, library opening hours returned to normal in June and we
are working with our communications and marketing team to remind customers of
our library offer.

1.3 Council Activity: Other Areas to Note
UK City of Culture 2025
29

As a runner up, the county was awarded £125,000 which will contribute to a revised
programme based on the 15 original ideas and include Place Labs in our 12 main
settlements, and a creative education and skills programme led by Durham
University. We will provide further details in October.

30

Capital projects in the original bid are being progressed. These include re-opening
the former Durham Light Infantry Museum and Art Gallery and improvements to the
riverbank in Durham City (Levelling Up Fund bid).

Page 35

History Centre
31

£70,000 of funding for mechanical and electrical works has been received, and we
have submitted a bid for a further £200,000.

Inclusive Economic Strategy
32

More than 86 Big Econ-versation events (31 January to 22 April 2022) were held and
attended by over 1,500 people. Almost 1,500 surveys were completed by residents,
business and young people. Feedback was tested through a series of workshops
held in July.

33

Bringing together everything we have learnt from the comprehensive engagement,
the evidence base, best practice both in Durham and elsewhere, a draft Inclusive
Economic Strategy (IES) has been prepared and during September will be shared
with partners and stakeholders, including community representatives. Once
complete, the strategy will go to Cabinet for sign-off in November.

Wave 9 How’s Business Survey (9-16 May, based on 58 responses)
34

Although 9% of respondents said their income had increased, more than a third
reported a drop of more than 50%.

35

The average response to the short-term impact of the pandemic was 5 out of 10
(with 10 being severe) and this dropped to 4.1 out of 10 for the long-term impact.

36

Bookings between May and July were below average as are forward bookings for
September. The most popular booking period is within two months.

37

The main challenges reported were cost of living increases (72%), fuel prices (66%)
and lack of demand (40%). Recruitment and the supply chain continued to be a
concern to respondents, as well as COVID variants.

2.0 Our Environment: National, Regional & Local Picture
Air Quality
38

In 2020, 96% of sites within the Durham City Air Quality Management Area were
within the government’s threshold for nitrogen dioxide, compared to 54% in 2019.
COVID restrictions had an impact by reducing traffic within the city centre.

Page 36

2.1 Council Activity: Going Well
Carbon reduction
39

The second phase of the Climate Emergency Response Plan has been adopted and
we are working with partners and communities to make the county net zero by 2045.
Projects underway include installation of public electric vehicle charging points and
through the Business Energy Efficiency Programme 2 helping businesses reduce
their carbon emissions.

Environmental Cleanliness
40

The latest cleanliness surveys covering litter, detritus and dog fouling show
improvements in all areas and are meeting targets.

2.2 Council Activity: Areas which require attention
Waste
41

8% more waste tonnage was collected and disposed of during the latest 12 months
compared to pre-pandemic.

42

There was also a reduction in the kerbside recycling rate. This is due to fluctuation in
the recycling markets as the cost of raw materials increase, legislative changes
relating to the recycling of carpets, and changes in behaviours since the beginning of
the pandemic.

43

Contamination of household kerbside recycling has reduced over the last 12 months.
However, it remains an issue with around one third of waste in blue bins being either
recyclables such as WEEE3 that should be taken to the HWRC for processing or is
residual waste. In the north of the county, stickers have been placed on rubbish and
recycling bins with information on which materials can and cannot be accepted on
the kerbside recycling scheme.

44

In addition, waste which cannot be recycled is mostly sent to the energy from waste
plant, which is experiencing capacity issues. We anticipated these pressures will
ease as behaviours begin to normalise and waste tonnages reduce.

3

Waste Electrical and Electronic Equipment

Page 37

2.3 Council Activity: Other Areas to Note
Award recognition for carbon reduction and environmental initiatives
45

At the Municipal Journal Awards, Scaling on Street Charging Infrastructure won the
award for Best Electric Vehicle Charging Project. Through the scheme, 150 more
charging points have been installed, many in rural areas. Our e-learning course to
tackle littering was also highly commended in the Digital Transformation category.

Restoring Railways
46

Ferryhill is one of nine projects progressing to the next stage of the government’s
Restoring Your Railway programme. Development and a further detailed analysis will
be carried out by Network Rail to assess the reopening of the station.

3.0 Our People: National, Regional & Local Picture
Improving Healthy Life Expectancy
47

Healthy life expectancy at birth has shown no significant change and remains
statistically significantly lower than England.

48

Female healthy life expectancy at 65 shows significant improvement and has halved
the long-term gap with England. However, the figures relate to 2018-20 so do not
include excess deaths due to COVID-19.

Breastfeeding
49

Historically, the UK has one of the lowest breastfeeding rates in the world with
County Durham being in the worst quartile of performance compared to UK rates.

Homes for older people
50

245 units, mainly bungalows plus some low-level access flats, were delivered in
2021/22 by a range of private developers and registered providers.

Children in Care
51

Although more children are in care, the rate per 10,000 children aged 0-17 remains
the third lowest in the North East.

Pupils attending good or outstanding schools
52

A lower proportion of pupils in County Durham attend good or better schools in
comparison to national and regional averages.
Page 38

Special Educational Needs and Disability
53

An additional 200 children and young people were given an Educational Health Care
Plan during the last 12 months. This figure continues to rise year on year.

3.1 Council Activity: Going Well
Smoking
54

Tobacco treatment is now part of routine maternity care. This gives at least 12
weeks’ support and includes the provision of nicotine replacement therapy. New
ways of supporting women who have no desire to quit smoking are being developed.
More focused support in the postnatal period will be available from October 2022.

Breastfeeding
55

A greater proportion of mothers are continuing to breastfeed at 6-8 weeks after birth
and the gap with the national average is reducing.

56

We are revising the multi-agency communication and engagement plan with partners
to share key messages, targeting services such as dentists, businesses, event
organisers, mental health service providers, culture, leisure and education.

Suicide Prevention
57

The number of suicides has remained relatively consistent over the last five years.
Each year, between January and June, there was an average of 32 deaths.

58

CCTV and handrail lights will be installed at Newton Cap viaduct in Bishop Auckland.

Stronger Families Programme
59

The programme has turned around 581 families. 545 attained significant and
sustained outcomes and 36 families achieved continuous employment.

Hospital Discharges
60

The proportion of older people who were still at home 91 days after discharge from
hospital into reablement or rehabilitation services continues to increase and is
currently the highest four years.

Housing Solutions
61

1,092 households were helped to stay in their home during quarter one. Of these,
889 involved early advice / intervention work to remove the threat of homelessness.

62

Seven households were prevented from homelessness during quarter one,
compared to 86 in the same period last year. The reduction is due to the reasons for
Page 39

presentations which was domestic abuse, loss of assured shorthold tenancies
(landlord selling the property) and family/friends no longer able to accommodate.
Cases allocated for prevention work have also reduced due to resource issues.
63

190 households were helped to stay in their home through adaptations via a
Disabled Facilities Grant and a further six via the Financial Assistance Policy (owner
occupiers and loans).

Gym and Swim Memberships
64

Although gym and swim memberships continue to increase, cancellations are high.
We are reinstating exit surveys, stopped during the pandemic, to help understand
the reasons why.

3.2 Council Activity: Areas which require attention
Mental Health and Wellbeing
65

There has been an increasing trend in admissions under the Mental Health Act
(under Sections 2 and 3) since the start of the pandemic.

66

During quarter one, funding was provided for 40 communal spaces which support
older people experiencing poor mental health, or who are at risk of social isolation or
suicide.

Service user satisfaction
67

Just under 41% of carers (adult social care) are satisfied with the support and
services they receive. Whilst this is the lowest result since the survey started (four
previous biennial surveys), it is statistically comparable to the last two surveys and
the latest national result.

Children’s Social Care
68

Both children looked after and children in need4 continue to show an increasing
trend, and this, combined with more complex cases, has led to caseload pressures
for our social workers. Whilst we have recruited newly qualified social workers, who
will take up their posts over the summer, we are also focusing on staff retention.

69

More children in care have led to increased placement pressures, which are
reflected both regionally and nationally. We are focusing on increasing the capacity
in our own in-house children’s homes, recruiting more foster carers, and working with
children and their families to prevent them entering care.

4

Pageour
40 children in care as well as children in need, children on a child protection plan and care leavers
includes

Housing Solutions Contact
70

Although many teams are experiencing a fall in presentations, most notably
homeless presentations and the Welfare Reform Team, others such as the Rough
Sleeper Team and Ukrainian Support Team have seen an increase in demand.

Households helped to move to alternative accommodation
71

Fewer households moving into alternative accommodation corresponds to a
reduction in homelessness preventions. Most cases now move straight into relief
upon assessment. Of the 149 households helped during quarter one, 41% moved to
supported housing, 31% secured tenancies with a registered provider and 25%
moved to a private sector property. Of the 50 households where there was an
acceptance of the main homeless duty, there were two main reasons for presenting domestic abuse and the loss of assured shorthold tenancies, e.g., landlord selling
the property.

72

Resource issues meant that relief cases were prioritised over those threatened with
homelessness.

Leisure Centres
73

As our leisure centres continue to navigate through the COVID recovery phase,
visitor numbers remain 7% lower than expected and we believe the increased cost of
living is contributing to the overall decrease.

74

The swimming pool at Consett leisure centre has reopened following a lengthy
closure to rectify major defects.

Education, Health and Care (EHCP) Plans
75

High demand for EHCP plans continues. More than 500 requests were received over
the latest 12 months, higher than the same period over the last three years.

76

We are struggling to recruit education psychologists as there is a national shortage,
and this is impacting our ability to complete assessments within statutory timescales.

3.3 Council Activity: Other Areas to Note
Permanent Admission to Care
77

The average age of people entering permanent care has shown little change over
the last ten years (varying between 83 and 85 years). Over the same period, the
number of people entering permanent care has also remained stable, except for the
last two years.
Page 41

Healthy weight in children
78

Regional and National data from the National Child Measurement Programme
suggest that we are likely to see a reduction in the percentage of children, across all
age ranges, who are of a healthy weight.

Support to the economy
79

Our Public Health Team has developed a partnership approach for anchor
organisations to act as large local procurers, commissioners, and direct employers.
A working group is looking to increase employment opportunities within three of the
county’s most deprived areas.

Heatwave Plan
80

The County Durham Heatwave Plan is now aligned to the up-to-date heatwave plan
for England.

Rough Sleepers
81

Funding obtained through a regional initiative will provide two outreach workers,
‘Somewhere Safe To Stay’ provision, Jigsaw Complex Needs Project and an adult
social worker.

82

However, budgets for the rough sleeper accommodation programme have been
halved by the government so the council only received £150,000. Therefore, we only
received five properties via North Star in the south of the county.

4.0 Our Communities: National, Regional & Local Picture
Housing Delivery
83

Of the 536 affordable housing units completed in 2021/22, 505 were through Homes
England grants and 31 units through Section 106 agreements.

4.1 Council Activity: Going Well
Housing of Ukrainian Refugees
84

As at 2 August, 384 of the 560 people who had established contact with our
residents through the national ‘Homes for Ukraine’ scheme had arrived in the county.

85

157 of the 236 sponsors have had guests arrive. Although, we have received a
further 1,950 expressions of interest in housing Ukrainian families, no links have yet
been made.
Page 42

Empty Properties
86

During quarter one, 1,076 properties were improved, adapted or brought back into
use. This is lower than previous quarters due to fewer properties benefitting from an
energy efficiency measure or improved due to a regeneration measure.

87

Of the 55 empty properties brought back into use due to local authority intervention,
six involved County Durham Lettings Agency interventions and 49 other means,
including advice and assistance and financial support via empty homes loans.

Businesses supported and jobs created through town and village regeneration
schemes
88

During quarter one, nine businesses were supported, and 12 FTEs created. Four
businesses were supported by Targeted Business Improvement funding, three by
Towns & Villages Programme and two by the Property Refuse Scheme.

89

Over the same period, we also engaged with 61 new retail businesses.

Fly-tipping
90

There has been an improving trend in fly-tipping incidents responded to by the
council, and the number is now below that pre-pandemic. Enforcement action such
as further investigation, stop and search operations, fixed penalty notices and CCTV,
have increased, resulting in an enforcement rate of 49% over the last 12 months.

Public confidence that the Police and Local Authorities are dealing with antisocial behaviour and crime issues that matter to them1
91

A greater proportion of respondents have agreed that the police and local authority
are dealing with anti-social behaviour and crime issues that matter to them.
However, the rate is an estimate from a sample survey, so it is possible that the
increase is due to random sample variation, as it is within the estimated confidence
intervals (+/-4%).

92

The survey also asked residents, ‘What do you feel is the single, biggest issue,
negatively impacting on your local community at this time?’. The main themes within
our communities were anti-social behaviour, police visibility, noise from students, offroad motorcycles being driven dangerously or in inappropriate public spaces, vehicle
and parking issues, environmental cleanliness, burglary and theft, criminal damage,
rural crime, criminal justice issues.

Page 43

4.2 Council Activity: Areas which require attention
Housing Infrastructure Fund (HIF) Newton Aycliffe Housing Growth
programme
93

Financial completion of the programme has been delayed by four months to
September 2024 to consider the nutrient neutrality5 legislation and determine if
onsite mitigation measures are required.

94

Work on the Masterplan and planning application for Low Copelaw Infrastructure
project has also been delayed, to consider and determine possible onsite mitigation
measures of nutrient neutrality issues.

95

The Masterplan for the junction at Rushyford, Central Avenue and Ricknall Lane has
been delayed until October 2022 as delivery requires planning permission and
discussions with Homes England.

96

Congreve Terrace development and the disposal of Cobblers Hall and Woodham
sites are on hold due to the nutrient neutrality legislation.

County Durham Rental Standard
97

The Rental Standard, a free hybrid accreditation scheme for landlords, has been
delayed to August 2022 to obtain further clarification around communications, legal
and data sharing.

Durham City Heritage Infrastructure
98

The defect repairs to the Market Place, Silver Street and Saddler Street have been
delayed until the submission of the in-year Levelling Up Fund. The earliest start will
be quarter four 2022/23 and into financial year 2023/24.

Anti-Social Behaviour
99

During quarter one, we changed how we define and measure anti-social behaviour
(ASB)6 to provide a more detailed picture of ASB and enhance our understanding of
its extent across the county.

100

ASB continues to be defined through three strands: environmental7 ASB which
makes up 57% of the total, nuisance8 which makes up 37% and personal9 which

5

Developments achieve nutrient neutrality when the nutrient load created through additional wastewater (including surface water)
from the development is mitigated.
6 Additional incident types are included within the definition and data has been included from other partner organisations (police,
fire, council and Believe Housing. Durham City Parish Council and University data is included in the police date set. We are
expanding the data set to include other registered social landlords.
7 Criminal damage/vandalism/graffiti, environmental cleanliness (e.g., litter, dog-fouling, fly-tipping (both public and private land),
abandoned shopping trolleys, discarded drug paraphernalia), abandoned cars, pollution (smoke, light, smells)
8 Noise, rowdy behaviour, nuisance behaviour, drug/substance misuse/dealing, stray animals, deliberate fires, vehicle nuisance
9 Intimidation,
Page 44 harassment, abuse

makes up 7%. Although reports of ASB reduced by 16% during the 12 months
ending 30 June 2022, compared to the same period last year, this was mainly due to
a significant fall in environmental ASB, a fall which masked increases across the
strands of nuisance and personal.
101

The initial rise in environmental ASB during the pandemic was mainly due to
residents spending more time at home and/or in their local community, noticing
more, and having more time to report issues. As we exit the pandemic, levels are
returning, but remain 30% higher than pre-pandemic.

102

The increase in nuisance ASB during the pandemic was mainly due to a spike in
noise reports. The more recent increase reflects the end of COVID restrictions and
an increasing trend in deliberate fires, predominantly in the east of the county.
Nuisance ASB is 29% higher than the pre-pandemic level.

103

Reports of personal ASB is 68% higher than the pre-pandemic level. Frontline staff
have identified that these increases reflect less tolerance across our communities
and deterioration in mental health from the pandemic which is driving behaviour.

4.3 Council Activity: Other Areas to Note
Selective Licensing
104

2,208 private sector properties are now fully licenced, equating to an estimated 8%
of all properties covered by the scheme. A further 2,545 applications are in the
system, which equates to a further 9% of properties.

5.0 Our Council: National, Regional and Local Picture
Budget pressures relating to the cost of living crisis
105

Councils are warning the triple impact of spiralling inflation, high energy costs and
wage increases will add massive budget pressures. Record energy prices, rising fuel
costs, and increased demand for support services due to the cost of living crisis are
all driving up the costs of service provision. As the crisis deepens and residents cutback on their spending, we expect demand for non-essential services, such as gyms
and theatres, to fall impacting on our income.

Recruitment
106

Attracting employees remains an ongoing and increasing challenge for the council;
local and national skills shortages are impacting heavily and driving competition for
skilled workers amongst all neighbouring local authorities and other employers
including the private sector.
Page 45

5.1 Council Activity: Going Well
Data and Insight / Business Intelligence Project
107

The council has started on a major project to implement an enterprise analytics
platform to sit above all our line of business IT systems and replace current
management information, dashboards and data warehousing arrangements for
reporting operational, strategic, performance management and customer
intelligence.

108

This will enable us to join currently disparate datasets together to provide new
insights and citizen indexed data such as a single view of the child, single view of the
adult and single view of the family. It will also lay the foundation for a more
diagnostic and predictive approach to data analytics in future making us more data
driven as an organisation and help deliver better outcomes for our residents.

109

A number of metrics have been identified in terms of expected benefits from the
project around things like timeliness, data quality and manual effort freed up.

Audit Score (statement of accounts)
110

The council’s unaudited statement of accounts for 2021/22, authorised in
accordance with statutory deadlines and published on the council’s website, are
currently being reviewed by the external auditor. The accounts are scheduled to be
approved at September’s Audit Committee.

Apprenticeships (programme / levy started May 2017).
111

Over the last five years, we have invested £9.5 million into our apprenticeship
programme, which to date has supported almost 1,300 employees. Half the
participating employees were new to the council and half were existing staff
upskilling. Currently, 459 employees are enrolled on our programme, (2.8% of our
workforce.)

112

During quarter one, we interviewed for 97 apprenticeship opportunities across the
council. 61 people were appointed and given planned start dates in August and
September. Unfilled posts were readvertised with eight new posts that have been
identified. The retention rate for apprentices is 72%.

113

The council is developing a policy to support skills development across local
businesses through a levy transfer. It is expected to be approved in October 2022.

Collection Rates
114

Collection rates for both council tax and business rates improved following the
reinstatement of recovery action. We have also improved the collection processes,

Page 46

so each stage is completed more quickly. For those struggling to pay, we are offering
a range of special arrangement payment plans which include the option to spread
payments.
115

The £150 energy rebate was administrated through our Council Tax module during
quarter one. 82% of payments have been made. The remaining payments were not
made as we were unable to verify bank details (we are contacting those people for
more evidence) or had not received an application (reminder letters were issued
week commencing 25 July).

116

During quarter one, compared to the same period last year, we processed more
claims and changes in circumstances, and this increased the processing times. Staff
have returned from working on coronavirus test and trace support payments, and a
recovery plan is in place to be back on track on performance by the end of the next
quarter.

Staff Development
117

All staff are required to have completed a Performance Development Review (PDR).
As at 1 September, 117 leaders (100%), 882 managers (88%) and 3,601 core
employees (60%) had completed the process. The deadline for core employees has
been extended to 30 September 2022. An update on the number of completions for
core employees will be reported in the quarter two performance report.

118

staff should have completed a Performance Development Review (PDR) by 31 July
2022. As at 1 September, 117 leaders (100%), 882 managers (88%) and 3,601 core
employees (71%) had completed the process.

119

2,130 employees (22% of staff) responded to our recent survey to assess current
digital skills and confidence levels. Key points include:
▪

There is a high level of digital engagement in the non-working lives of our
employees. 85% of respondents stated they browse, shop, bank or use social
media online daily falling to 65% for employees that do not use technology in
their role.

▪

more than half of employees reported that their use of digital technology changed
during the pandemic falling to 24% amongst employees who do not use
technology in their role. Staff in most roles reported increased confidence using
digital technology during this time. 51% stated their general confidence improved,
40% stated they were already confident, with only 8% who remain not confident.

▪

appetite to access council information and systems from personal devices varied
across roles. 50% of core front line employees who don’t use technology
expressed an interest, falling to 24% for permanent homeworkers.

▪

data show that digital skills have been developed through less formal methods
(self-taught and demonstration by colleagues), as opposed to training courses.
Page 47

Managers preferred online learning through Teams, core front line workers who
use technology preferred classroom learning with an instructor, and homeworkers
preferred watching instructional or on demand videos.

5.2 Council Activity: Areas which require attention
Organisational Structure
120

43% of the council’s workforce are aged over 50 (4,137 employees). Extrapolating
this data assuming no changes will mean that for the first time, the majority (52%) of
the workforce will be aged over 50 by 2027.

Recruitment and Retention
121

During quarter one, 36 employees completed an exit interview. Excluding those
leaving due to retirement (11 people), because they were leaving the area (two
people) or because their fixed term contract had ended (two people), the most
frequently cited reasons10 for leaving were better job prospects or promotion (18
people) and/or the opportunity to work closer to home or from home (eight people).
In addition, 11 people cited personal reasons including ill-health or caring
responsibilities, and five due to a change in duties or responsibilities.

Attendance Management
122

Although COVID-19 caused additional sickness absence during the pandemic, the
measures implemented to slow its spread helped reduce other causes of absence
resulting in sickness rate steadily improving and reached its lowest level for ten
years in 2020/21. However, as COVID-19 restrictions were removed and employees
returned to the workplace, both health and safety incidents and days lost to sickness
increased. 95% of all reported workplace accidents are either no injury or near miss.

123

In line with previous reports, the most frequently reported sickness reasons were
mental health and fatigue (33%), musculo-skeletal injury (20%) and infections (17%.)
Almost three quarters of infections were COVID-19.

124

Sickness has increased across all types except neurological. Days lost to ‘mental
health and fatigue’ was 10% higher than pre-pandemic, driven by increases
in stress (both work and non-work related), anxiety disorders, fatigue and
exhaustion, and musculo-skeletal issues particularly related to hips and shoulders.

125

On 10 March 2022, long-COVID was added as a reason for absence. Between 10
March and 30 June 2022, 532 working days were lost to this absence category.

10

Page 48can cite more than one reason. Therefore, the number of reasons is higher than the number of interviews
Employees

126

12% of reported sickness was COVID-related. If we extract sickness due to COVID19 from our data set, then our sickness rate has returned to its pre-COVID position.

Customer contact
127

The sharp increase in contact was mainly due to transferring lines to the automated
call distribution system, reopening our Customer Access Points (CAPs) and
reinstating lines closed due to the pandemic. More recently, more than 26,000
contacts were received in relation to the new £150 energy rebate.

128

Contacts are almost 300,000 higher than pre-pandemic and the channels used have
changed (partly due to the closure of our CAPs). Digital channels have increased by
8% since the start of the pandemic, although the telephone still remains the most
frequently used method.

Service demand
129

Service requests received through the CRM have increased by 25% since prepandemic.

130

Most waste-related service requests increased during the pandemic but have since
decreased and are now on par with pre-pandemic levels. However, across some
areas demand remains higher than pre-pandemic.

131

132

▪

Missed bins: just under 25,000 reports - 49% higher (+8,200).

▪

Missed bulky waste collections: just over 520 requests - 96% higher (+256)

▪

Bulky waste collections: just over 30,100 - 18% higher (+4,500)

▪

Waste permit requests: almost 39,000- 12% higher (+4,250)

Changes in non-waste related service requests compared to pre-pandemic include:
▪

Account updates (change of personal details): 21,100 - 81% higher (+9,500)

▪

Birth, death and marriage certificates: just over 4,700 - 40% higher (+1,360).

The increase in service requests has had a knock-on effect to our customer
satisfaction survey, with more surveys e-mailed to and returned from our customers.

Performance Standards
133

At the end of quarter one, a reportable and accurate performance standard had been
applied to 76 service requests with improvement work continuing during 2022/23.
43% of service requests processed during the quarter, were assessed against a
performance standard with the standard met in 61% of cases.

Page 49

5.3 Council Activity: Other Areas to Note
Medium Term Financial Plan / Budget Pressures
134

Significant financial uncertainty requires the council to be flexible and adaptable in its
financial planning (further detail). Required savings could change significantly
depending on whether the government provides much needed additional resource in
2023/24 and whether the council experiences further additional financial pressures
due to demand, loss of income or due to the impact of inflation.

135

Achieving the required £55 million of savings over the next four years will be
extremely challenging and it is becoming more difficult to protect frontline services as
savings in management and back-office costs are becoming exhausted with £250
million of savings being delivered up to 31 March 2023.

Carbon Emissions
136

Current projects underway to meet the council net zero commitment by 2030 include
a solar farm with battery storage at Morrison Busty Depot, which is due for
completion in autumn 2022, and further works including heating, lighting and solar
PV installations which are underway at Newton Aycliffe, Peterlee, Wolsingham and
Abbey Leisure Centres, Comeleon House and Meadowfield Depot.

Customer Satisfaction11
137

138

11

Overall, 82% of respondents were satisfied with overall service delivery. In addition:
▪

97% felt their request was handled knowledgeably and effectively handled

▪

93% found it easy to contact the right service

▪

91% were kept informed of progress

▪

87% were satisfied with our handling of the initial contact

▪

87% felt they were treated with dignity and respect

▪

87% were provided with clear information

▪

83% were satisfied with the time to complete the task.

▪

79% were informed of how long it would take to complete the task.

Seven service request types attained an overall satisfaction rating of at least 90%.
These were requests relating to: birth, death and marriage certificates (98%); bulky
waste collections (97%); waste permits (97%); joining the garden waste scheme
(95%); applying for free school travel (94%); early help (92%); and changing the
payment method for council tax (90%)

We have linked a satisfaction survey to 127 service request types and our CRM automatically e-mails a survey to the customer
50 request is closed.
whenPage
the service

139

Six service request types attained a satisfaction rating of less than 70%. These were
requests relating to: complaints (51%); bins - new, replacement or repair (41%); dog
or litter bins (40%); draining and flooding (34%); pruning or removing a tree or hedge
(34%) and litter clearing (29%)

140

We have investigated the reasons for these low satisfaction levels and the timeliness
of both acknowledgement and response is the biggest driver for dissatisfaction.

Freedom of Information (FOI) and Environmental Information Regulations
(EIR)
141

286 requests were received during quarter one, 26% more than the same period last
year. We responded to 79% of requests within 20 working days, this is below the
target (95%).

Page 51

Page 52

6.0

Data Tables

Key to Symbols
Performance against target

Performance against comparable groups

Direction of Travel



meeting or exceeding target



same or better than comparable group



higher than comparable period



within 2% of target



worse than comparable group (within 2%)



static against comparable period



worse than comparable group (greater than 2%)

 lower than comparable period

 more than 2% behind target

NB: oldest data in left column

Types of indicators
There are two types of performance indicators throughout the report:
1. Key target indicators – targets are set as improvements can be measured regularly and can be actively influenced by the council and its
partners; and
2. Key tracker indicators – performance is tracked but no targets are set as they are long-term and / or can only be partially influenced by the
council and its partners.
National Benchmarking
We compare our performance to all English authorities. The number of authorities varies according to the performance indicator and functions of
councils, e.g., educational attainment is compared to county and unitary councils, however waste disposal is compared to district and unitary
councils.
North East Benchmarking
The North East figure is the average performance from the authorities within the North East region - County Durham, Darlington, Gateshead,
Hartlepool, Middlesbrough, Newcastle upon Tyne, North Tyneside, Northumberland, Redcar and Cleveland, Stockton-on-Tees, South Tyneside,
Sunderland.
More detail is available from the Strategy Team at performance@durham.gov.uk

Our Economy
Description
Increase employment land
approved and delivered by
300 hectares (Ha) by 2035

Performance compared to:

Period
target

12
months
earlier

PreCOVID

15.8Ha

36.69Ha

17.29Ha





Latest
data

Period
covered

5.51Ha

2021/22

273

2021

Tracker

2,651

2020

Tracker

£46,245

2020

Tracker

70.1%

2021/22

Tracker

32.4%

2021

Tracker

87

2021/22

Tracker

Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

updated
this
quarter

National

North
East

Nearest
neighbour



-

-

-





264

264

271





425

-



  

2,779

2,651

-



No

-



Yes

-



Yes



-



No

-

-



Yes





Yes

(against 2016 baseline)

Page 53

Narrow the gap between the
number of private sector
business per 10,000 head of
population within County
Durham and England and
aim to bring them in line with
the national average by 2035
Narrow the gap between the
number of private sector
employments per 10,000
head of population within
County Durham and England
and aim to bring them in line
with the national average by
2035
Increase the level of GVA per
filled job in line with national
levels by 2035
Increase the employment
rate for 16-64-year-olds in
line with national levels by
2035
Increase the proportion of
residents with higher level
skills in line with national
levels by 2035
Increase the number of
organisations involved in the
Better Health at Work Award
(to improve health and wellbeing
interventions at work)



£46,036


72.3%







3,946

3,114







£46,245

£58,995

£48,486







71.3%

75.4%

70.0%





31.6%

31.6%





43.1%

81

75






-


34.4%

No

Page 54

Description
Increase the proportion of
young people in education,
employment and training to
be consistently higher than
regional and national levels
Increase the % of 16-17year-olds in an
apprenticeship
Increase the overall disability
employment rate / close the
gap
Attract 11.96 million visitors
to the county in 2021 (5%

Latest
data

94.2%

Period
covered

Jun 2022

12
months
earlier

PreCOVID

National

North
East

higher
than
regional/
national

93.6%

94.3%

95.2%

93.9%







5.5%

6.8%

4.7%







7.6%

49.7%

47.5%

56.9%



Nearest
neighbour

Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

updated
this
quarter

-

 n/a

Yes

-

 n/a

Yes



-



Yes


8.5%

as at Jun
2022

Tracker

46.7

2021/22

Tracker

15.77m

2021

new PI








47.1

11.96m

11.39m

11.39m







-

-

-



Yes

new PI

new PI

new PI

new PI

-

-

-

new new new new
PI PI PI PI

No

93.7%

2022

Tracker

92.8%

96.1%

90%







96%

94.1%



Yes

7

2021

Tracker

8

8





-

-

-



No

65%

2018/19

Tracker

67%

65%

67%

61%



65%

[90% by
2030]





n/an/an/an/a

No

data
not yet
published

new PI

5 by
2030

new PI

-

-

new new new new
PI PI PI PI

No

increase on 2020)

Increase the proportion of
visitor attractions which are
served by public transport

Performance compared to:

Period
target

(against 2021 baseline)

% uptake of free early
education entitlement for 3-4year-olds
Reduce the number of
heritage assets ‘at risk’ that
are categorised as ‘Priority A’
and/or in ‘very bad condition’





(against 2021 baseline)

Improve the proportion of
children achieving expected
standards in maths and
reading at key stage 2 in line
with 2030 ambitions* (reported





new PI

-

by academic year)

Improve the average grade of
achievement of all our pupils
within GCSE English and
Maths to a Grade 5 (in line with
2030 ambitions)

Performance compared to:

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

12
months
earlier

PreCOVID

National

North
East

Nearest
neighbour

new PI

new PI

new PI

new PI

new PI

-

-

-

new new new new
PI PI PI PI

No

3

2021

Tracker

2

2





-

-

-



Yes

% of Business Durham floor
space that is occupied

97%

Apr-Jun
2022

85%

87.2%

86.4%







-

-

-



Yes

Gross jobs created /
safeguarded as a result of
Business Durham activity

912

Apr-Jun
2022

375

2,768

1,001





-

-

-



Yes

No. of inward investments
secured

2

Apr-Jun
2022

1

2





4



-

-

-



Yes

£1.61m

Apr-Jun
2022

£1.25m

£4.21m



-

-

-

-



Yes

No. of businesses supported
by Business Durham
(engagements)

263

Apr-Jun
2022

250

474

204

-

-

-



Yes

No. of new businesses
supported by CED Team

61

Apr-Jun
2022

30

-

-

-



Yes

No. jobs supported by the
visitor economy

10,063

2021

-

-

-



Yes

£826.6m

2021

236
12

Description
Improve the educational
attainment of our most
disadvantaged cohorts to
meet basic threshold
measures in English and
Maths
Number of Council
owned/managed heritage
assets classed as 'at risk'

Amount of investments
secured for companies

Amount (£ million) generated
by the visitor economy
No of tourism businesses
actively engaged with Visit
County Durham
Page 55

FTE jobs created through
regeneration schemes










57

41







8,153

6,794

6,794







£608.40m £506.75m £506.75m

Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

updated
this
quarter







-

-

-



Yes

2021

Tracker

new PI

new PI

-

-

-

new new new new
PI  PI  PI  PI 

No

Apr-Jun
2022

12

-

-

-

-

-

n/a n/a n/a n/a

Yes



Page 56

Description
No. of people attending
cultural events/programme
events
Average number of tickets
sold per cinema and theatre
screenings/performances
held during the quarter
No. of people attending
Council owned museums
(Killhope & town halls)
No. of library members
No. of registrations to
employability programmes
No. of participants on
employability programmes
progressed into employment
/ education or training
No. of households receiving
energy advice from
Managing Money Better
(MMB) Initiative

Performance compared to:

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

12
months
earlier

PreCOVID

National

North
East

Nearest
neighbour

185,312

2021

Tracker

new PI

new PI

-

-

-

new new new new
PI  PI  PI  PI 

No

69

Apr-Jun
2022

TBC

15



74



-

-

-



Yes

50,182

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

-

-

-

-

-

new new new new
PI  PI  PI  PI 

Yes

215,398

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

229,793

233,904





-

-

-



Yes

259

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

236

256

-

-

-



Yes

155

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

-

-

-



Yes

189

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

-

-

-



Yes





104

92





211

209





Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

updated
this
quarter

*Not reported for 2019/20 or 2020/21 academic years as no Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) or Key Stage 2 (KS2) assessments took place

Our Environment
Description
Increase the proportion of
waste diverted from landfill to
at least 95%
County Durham to become net
zero by 2045

Latest
data

Period
covered

89.4%

2021/22

54

2019

Performance compared to:

Period
target

12
months
earlier

PreCOVID

National

North
East

95%

91.8%

97.8%

92.2%

92.1%











-





-

-

-



  

Tracker

52



54



Nearest
neighbour

Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods





updated
this
quarter
Yes
No

Description
Raise cycling and walking
levels in County Durham in line
with national levels by 2035
Work towards Durham City Air
Quality Management Area NO2
levels being below the
government threshold of
40µg/m3
Plant a minimum of 140,000
trees by 2024
% of household waste that is
re-used, recycled or
composted

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

68%

2019/20

Tracker

96%

2020

40,414

100%

Performance compared to:

12
months
earlier

PreCOVID

National

North
East

72.8%

68%

69.3%

69.5%







-

n/a 

No



-

-

-



No

-

new new new new
PI  PI PI PI

No


54%

96%

Nearest
neighbour





2021/22

Tracker

new PI

new PI

-

-

38.1%

2021/22

Tracker

37.3%

41.1%

42.3%

33.5%







-

Contamination rate (%)

32.9%

2021/22

Tracker

-

-

No. of contamination notices
issued

7,601

Jul 21Jun 22

Tracker

-

-

Overall satisfaction with cycle
routes and facilities (%)

54%

2021

Tracker

50%

52%

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

71.8%

2018/19

Tracker

83.1%

as at 30
Jun 22

Tracker

99
[1,005]
369
[3,979]

as at 30
Jun 22
as at 30
Jun 22


34.6%



29.95%



8,478

17,017





50%



-





Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

-

-

updated
this
quarter



Yes

-



Yes

-



Yes

-



No

Our People
Description
Children in the Early Years
Foundation Stage achieving a
good level of development

12
months
earlier
72.8%

Performance compared to:
PreCOVID



-

n/a

-

(reported as academic year)

Page 57

% of County Durham pupils
attending an Ofsted judged
‘good or better’ school
No. of Children Looked After
per 10,000 population
No. of Children in Need per
10,000 Population

Tracker
Tracker

93
[2020/21]

361
[2020/21]

National

North
East

71.8%

71.8%





86.3%

83.9%



Nearest
neighbour

Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

-

n/a

n/a

n/a



-

n/a

n/a n/a n/a

updated
this
quarter

n/a

No

Yes

-

67

108

103



Yes

-

321

461

421



Yes

Latest
data

Period
covered

% of Children Looked After
placed within 20 miles of their
home address

85%

as at 31
Mar 22

% of mothers smoking at time
of delivery

14.8%

Page 58

Description

No. of families on our Stronger
Families Programme attaining
significant and sustained
outcomes
% of smoking prevalence in
adults (aged 18+) **
Reduce the % point gap in
breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks
between County Durham and
the national average
Increase the % of children
aged 4-5 who are of a healthy
weight ***
Increase the % of children
aged 10-11 who are of a
healthy weight ***
10,000 more adults undertake
150 minute of at least
moderate intensity physical
activity per week (against 2015

Period
target

12
months
earlier

Tracker

87%
[2020/21]

Jan-Mar
2022

0%

581

Apr-Jun
2022

[2022/23]

14.3%

2020

17.4pp

2020/21

74.6%

2019/20

61.5%

2019/20

260,500


760


5.0%


Tracker
90%


79%

Performance compared to:
PreCOVID

National

North
East

Nearest
neighbour

89%

74%

87%

89%





Yes

-

-



Yes

12.1%

13.6%

13.5%







   

No

12.2pp

13.3pp







Yes

74.5%

74.4%









No

63.4%

61.3%

61.3%









No

-

-

-



No

-

-

-



No

-

-

-



Yes

63.9
years

59.7
years

60.2
years



No

15%

18.1%





372

311







9.4%

12.8%

12.1%







-

17.0%

17.0%





20.2pp

20.2pp






61.1%

-





-

Nov 20 Nov 21

266,500

265,800

261,400





136,300

Nov 20 Nov 21

105,800

132,100

122,100







4,038

Jun
2022

3,855

3,496







Yes



75.6%

updated
this
quarter







Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

76.1%

baseline)

15,000 less adults are inactive
(undertake less than 30
minutes of physical activity per
week) (against 2015 baseline)
No. of children and young
people with an Education,
Health and Care Plan
Healthy life expectancy at birth
– female

59.9
years

2018-20

Tracker

Tracker

58.3
years



-







Description

Latest
data

Reduce the gap between
County Durham and England
for healthy life expectancy at
birth – female

4.0
years

Healthy life expectancy at birth
– male

58.8
years

Reduce the gap between
County Durham and England
for healthy life expectancy at
birth – male

4.3
years

Healthy life expectancy at 65 –
female

10.2
years

Reduce the gap between
County Durham and England
for healthy life expectancy at
65 – female

1.1
years

Healthy life expectancy at 65 –
male

7.7
years

Page 59

Reduce the gap between
County Durham and England
for healthy life expectancy at
65 – male
Increase self-reported
wellbeing (by reducing the
proportion of people reporting a
low happiness score)
Reduce the overall suicide rate
(per 100,000 population)
No. of admissions under the
Mental Health Act
Increase the satisfaction of
people who use services with
their care and support

Period
covered

Period
target

12
months
earlier

Tracker

5.2
years

2018-20

Tracker

59.6
years

2018-20

Tracker

3.6
years

Tracker

9.0
years

Tracker

2.1
years

2018-20

Tracker

8.3
years

2.8
years

2018-20

Tracker

2.3
years

8.8%

2020/21

Tracker

14.3%

2018-20

Tracker

219

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

69.6%

2019/20

Tracker

2018-20

2018-20

2018-20





Performance compared to:
PreCOVID
-

-

North
East
4.2
years

-

63.1
years

59.1
years

59.9
years





-

-

4.0
years

3.2
years





-

11.3
years

9.8 years

10.1
years

National



Nearest
neighbour





3.7
years

Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

updated
this
quarter



Yes

   
   

No



Yes



Yes



Yes



Yes



Yes





-

-

1.5
years

1.2
years





-

10.5
years

9.2
years

9.3
years







-

-

1.3
years

1.2
years





10.9%

10.9%

9.2%

10.1%

10.3%













No

10.4%

12.4%

12.6%









No

-

-

-



Yes

64.2%

67.5%

66.2%









No






13.4%



-

213

182

67.8%



n/a



Page 60

Description
Increase the satisfaction of
carers with the support and
services they receive
Increase % of older people
who were still at home 91 days
after discharge from hospital
into reablement / rehabilitation
services
Increase % of hospital
discharges receiving
reablement
Deliver at least 600 homes
suitable for older persons by
2035
Increase the number of homes
approved which meet
accessible and adaptable
standards (Building
Regulations requirement
M4(2)) by 5,613 by 2035

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

40.8%

2021/22

Tracker

89.2%

Jan-Mar
2022

Tracker

2.7%

2020/21

Tracker

245

2021/22

available
in Q2

2021/22

Performance compared to:

12
months
earlier

PreCOVID

National

North
East

Nearest
neighbour

51.2%

51.2%

36.3%

39.1%







42.0%

86.7%

87.2%



Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

updated
this
quarter

n/a  Yes





79.1%

72.1%

80.0%











Yes

3.8%

3.8%

3.1%

2.9%

2.8%













Yes



new PI

new PI

-

-

-

new new new new
Yes
PI PI PI PI

400

new PI

new PI

-

-

-

new new new new
PI PI PI PI

No

83.6
years

84.2
years





-

-

-





Yes

-

-

-

new new new new
PI PI PI PI

No

-

-

-



Yes



-

-

-



Yes

new PI

-

-

-

new new new new
PI PI PI PI

No

43

Increase the average age
whereby people are able to
remain living independently in
their own home

84.4
years

2021/22

Tracker

Increase the % of people aged
65+ with aids and assistive
technologies in their homes

to be
developed

new PI

new PI

new PI

new PI

No. of gym & swim members

19,618

June 22

19,642

16,906

18,013







No. of people attending Leisure
Centres

752,183

Apr-Jun
2022

911,795

364,992





814,219

No. of Chapter Homes houses
built which are for Older
Persons

new PI

new PI

6

new PI





Performance compared to:

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

12
months
earlier

PreCOVID

National

North
East

Nearest
neighbour

new PI

new PI

6

new PI

new PI

-

-

-

new PI

new PI

TBC

new PI

new PI

-

-

-

new PI

new PI

TBC

new PI

new PI

-

-

-

No. of Care Connect
customers

11,234

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

11,189

12,015

-

-

-



Yes

No. of households accessing
the Housing Solutions Service

3,441

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

Yes

1,092

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

218

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

Description
No. of Chapter Homes houses
built which meet M4(2)
standard
No. of Council houses built
which are for Older Persons
No. of Council houses built
which meet M4(2) standard

No. of households helped to
stay in their home
No. of households helped to
move to alternative
accommodation





Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

updated
this
quarter

new new new new
PI PI PI PI
new new new new
PI PI PI PI
new new new new
PI PI PI PI

No
No
No

3,082

3,361





-

-

-



new PI

new PI

-

-

-

new new new new
Yes
PI PI PI PI

236

243





-

-

-



Yes

*Not reported for 2019/20 or 2020/21 academic years as no Early Years Foundation Stage (EYFS) or Key Stage 2 (KS2) assessments took place
**Smoking prevalence: prior to COVID-19 this was collected via face-to-face interviews. In 2020, this moved to telephone interviews. Data for 2019 and 2020 is therefore not comparable.
***National Child Measurement Programme ceased March 2020 when schools closed due to the pandemic, so north east and nearest neighbour comparators should be treated with caution due to
missing data from some LAs. Whilst the data for the academic year 2020/21 has been published, local authority data is not available as only a 10% sample of data was recorded.

Our Communities
Description

Page 61

% of Harbour clients feeling
more confident in themselves
on case closure
% of Harbour clients feeling
their quality of life has
improved on case closure
% of children and young
people completing an
intervention with Harbour and
reporting feeling safer

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

89%

Oct-Dec
2021

Tracker

76%

Oct-Dec
2021

Tracker

84%

Oct-Dec
2021

Tracker

12
months
earlier
95%


66%


85%



Performance compared to:

Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

updated
this
quarter

PreCOVID

National

North
East

Nearest
neighbour

-

-

-

-





-

-

-

-



  

-

-

-

-







No

No

No

Page 62

Description
Bring 200 empty homes back
into use per year as a result of
local authority intervention
Increase occupancy rate of all
town centres to above national
levels by 2035
Return the number of flytipping incidents to at least preCOVID levels by 2035
Maintain the % of land which
falls below unacceptable levels
of cleanliness in relation to
detritus at below 12%
Maintain the % of land which
falls below unacceptable levels
of cleanliness in relation to litter
at below 6%
Maintain the % of land which
falls below unacceptable levels
of cleanliness in relation to dog
fouling at below 1%
Increase the % of households
(within a 5 mile or 15 mile
radius) which can access key
service locations using public
transport (against 2021 baseline)
Increase the % of County
Durham residents who can
access employment sites by
public transport (against 2021

Performance compared to:

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

12
months
earlier

55

Apr-Jun
2022

50

24

PreCOVID
48







42%

2021/22

Tracker

50%

58%





5,502

Jul 21 Jun 22

6,548

7,863

6,548







7.9%

Apr-Jun
2022

12%

12.1%

13.36%







4.3%

Apr-Jun
2022

6%

6%

6.6%







0.6%

Apr-Jun
2022

1%

0.8%

1.6%





new PI

new PI

new PI

new PI

new PI

92%

2019

£171.2m

2020

Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

updated
this
quarter

National

North
East

Nearest
neighbour

-

-

-



Yes

-

-

-



No

-

-

-



Yes

-

-

-



Yes

-

-

-

   

Yes



-

-

-



Yes

new PI

new PI

-

-

-

new new new new
PI PI PI PI

No

new PI

new PI

new PI

-

-

-

new new new new
PI PI PI PI

No

92%

91%





-

-

-

   

No

-

-

-

   

No

baseline)

Maintain levels of satisfaction
with bus operators at a
minimum of 92%
Maintain a downward trend in
the amount of Highways
Maintenance Backlog

Tracker

£172.6m



92%



£171.2m



Description
Aim to increase levels of public
satisfaction with highways
maintenance above the
national average.
Respondents who agree that
police and local authorities are
dealing with anti-social
behaviour and crime issues
that matter to them (confidence

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

44%

2021

Tracker

30.7%

2021/22

433

Apr-Jun
2022

536

2021/22

8%

Performance compared to:

12
months
earlier

PreCOVID

National

North
East

51%

50%

42%

42%









-



No

-

-

-

 n/an/a 

No

-

-

-



Yes



-

-

-



Yes

30.4%

30.4%





-

327

471

431

Nearest
neighbour

Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

updated
this
quarter

intervals +/-4pp)

Increase net delivery of new
housing by 19,620 units by
2035
Increase net delivery of
affordable homes to contribute
to meeting identified need of
12,540 by 2035
Achieve 100% licensing of
private rented sector properties
covered by the Selective
Licensing Scheme by 2027
Reduce ASB rates within the
Selective Licensing Scheme
areas by 10% (against the 2021


836


478


628





Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

new PI

new PI

-

-

-

new new new new
PI  PI  PI  PI 

Yes

data
from Q2

new PI

new PI

new PI

new PI

-

-

-

new new new new
PI  PI  PI  PI 

No

% of A roads where
maintenance is recommended

3.1%

2020

Tracker

3.0%

3.0%

4.0%







3.0%

-



No

% of B roads where
maintenance is recommended

3.0%

2020

Tracker

3.3%

3.3%

6.0%

4.0%









-



No

% of C roads where
maintenance is recommended

2.6%

2020

Tracker

2.3%

2.3%

6.0%

4.0%









-



No

% of unclassified roads where
maintenance is recommended

22.5%

2020

Tracker

21.3

21.3%

17.0

17.0









-



No

82.0

2020

Tracker

81.1

81.1





-

-

-



No

baseline)

Page 63

Bridge Stock Condition –
Principal Roads



Performance compared to:

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

12
months
earlier

PreCOVID

% of recorded Category 1
highway defects repaired within
24 hours

97%

Apr-Jun
2022

90%

95%





98%

No. of ASB enforcement action
taken

4787

Jul 2021
- 2022

Tracker

2,208

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

4

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

44

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

0

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

4

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

9

Apr-Jun
2022



Public satisfaction with ease of
access (%)

77

2021

Tracker

No. of Council houses built

0

TBC

No. of Chapter Homes
properties sold

3

Reports of anti-social
behaviour

47,520

Jul 21 Jun 22

Tracker

Reports of environmental antisocial behaviour

26,633

Jul 21 Jun 22

Tracker

Page 64

Description

No. of fully licensed private
rented sector properties in the
selective licensed areas
No. of people killed or seriously
injured in road traffic accidents
- No. of fatalities
No. of people killed or seriously
injured in road traffic accidents
- No. of seriously injured
No. of children killed or
seriously injured in road traffic
accidents - No. of fatalities
No. of children killed or
seriously injured in road traffic
accidents - No. of seriously
injured
No. of business supported
through regeneration projects

Apr-Jun
2022
Apr-Jun
2022

8

Tracker



Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

updated
this
quarter

National

North
East

Nearest
neighbour

-

-

-



Yes
Yes

3626

2636





-

-

-



new PI

new PI

-

-

-

new new new new
Yes
PI PI PI PI

2

5

-

-

-



Yes

-

-

-



Yes

-

-

-



Yes

Yes





46

41





0

0





6

4





-

-

-



-

-

-

-

-

n/an/an/an/a Yes

78

75



-



-

-



No

-

-

-

-

-

   

Yes



-

-

-

-



Yes

56,720

36,127

-

-

-



Yes

-

-

-



Yes

14


37,710




20,606



Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

Reports of nuisance anti-social
behaviour

17,644

Jul 21 Jun 22

Tracker

Reports of personal anti-social
behaviour

3,243

Jul 21 Jun 22

Tracker

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

12.25
days

Jul 21 Jun 22

10.66
days

Jul 21 Jun 22

% Freedom of Information and
Environmental Information
Regulations requests
responded to within 20 working
days

79%

Reduce the council’s carbon
emissions to net zero by 2030

Description

12
months
earlier

Performance compared to:

16,481

PreCOVID
13,612





2,529

1,909





Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

updated
this
quarter

National

North
East

Nearest
neighbour

-

-

-



Yes

-

-

-



Yes

Our Council
Description

12
months
earlier

Performance compared to:

Tracker

9.24
days

PreCOVID
10.87
days





Tracker

8.59
days

10.87
days





Apr-Jun
2022

95%

83%

86%







58%

2020/21

Tracker

51%

51%





27.8%

Apr-Jun
2022

27.7%

27.7%





28.5%

% of business rates collected

32.9

Apr-Jun
2022

27.6%

27.6%





No. of new housing benefit
claims processed

730

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

572

Days / shifts lost to sickness
absence per Full Time
Equivalent (excluding schools)
Days / shifts lost to sickness
absence per Full Time
Equivalent - excluding that
which is COVID-19 related

Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

updated
this
quarter

National

North
East

Nearest
neighbour

-

-

-





-

-

-



  

-

-

-



Yes

-

-

-

   
   

No

-

 n/an/an/a

Yes



-

 n/an/an/a

Yes

-

-



Yes





Yes

Yes

(excluding schools)

% of council tax collected


34.4%

-

Page 65



-

704

-

28.5%


26.5%

Performance compared to:

Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

12
months
earlier

PreCOVID

% of new housing benefit
claims processed within 14
days of all information being
received

55.1%

Apr-Jun
2022

67.5%

85%

84.2%







Time to process new housing
benefit claims (days)

37.9
days

Apr-Jun
2022

24.1
days

21 days

15.8
days

10,107

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

12,546

4,398

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

65.1%

Apr-Jun
2022

40.8
days

Apr-Jun
2022

12.8
days

Apr-Jun
2022

54,850

Apr-Jun
2022

Tracker

52,032

new PI

new PI

new PI

UQ

31 Mar
2021

UQ

Page 66

Description

No. of change of
circumstances for housing
benefit claims
No. of new council tax
reduction claims processed
% of new council tax reduction
claims processed within 14
days of all information being
received
Time to process new council
tax reduction claims (days)
Time to process change of
circumstances for council tax
reduction (days)
No. of change of
circumstances for council tax
reduction claims processed
MTFP targets achieved
Audit opinion
Q – qualified / UQ - unqualified

No. of employees enrolled on
the apprenticeship programme
- new posts
No. of employees enrolled on
the apprenticeship programme
- existing staff upskilling

(draft)

Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

updated
this
quarter

National

North
East

Nearest
neighbour

-

-

-



Yes

-

-

-



Yes

19,635

-

-

-



Yes

3,324

3,700

-

-

-



Yes

77.5%

85%

88.5%







-

-

-



Yes

23.9
days

21 days

17.7
days

-

-

-



Yes

-

-

-



Yes

47,072

-

-

-



Yes

new PI

new PI

-

-

-

new new new new
PI PI PI PI

No

UQ

UQ





-

-

-

 n/an/an/a

Yes

284

258

-

-

-



Yes

-

-

-



Yes




14.3
days





267

30 Jun
2022

Tracker

192

30 Jun
2022

Tracker




9 days






7.91
days







289

196





Latest
data

Period
covered

Period
target

% of employees enrolled on
the apprenticeship programme

2.8%

30 Jun
2022

Tracker

% of employees aged over 50
years

43.0%

Employee turnover

9.10%

Description

% of CRM service requests
received which were self-serve
% of respondents satisfied with
overall service delivery with
services requested through the
CRM
% of the Corporate Business
Intelligence Review completed

30 Jun
2022
Jul 21 Jun 22

12
months
earlier

Performance compared to:

2.5%





-

-

-



Yes

Tracker

43.1%

42.1%

-

-

-



Yes

Tracker

6.74%

7.15%

-

-

-



Yes

65%

49%





-

-

-



Yes

79%

81%





-

-

-



Yes

new PI

new PI

-

-

-

new new new new
PI PI PI PI

No

Jul 21Jun 22

Tracker

82%

Jul 21 Jun 22

Tracker

new PI

new PI

new PI

North
East

Nearest
neighbour

updated
this
quarter

PreCOVID
1.4%

72%

National

Direction of Travel last four reporting
periods

Page 67

Appendix 3: Direction of Travel Comparisons

Improving

Static

Deteriorating

Not available

Improving

Static

Deteriorating

No target set tracker
Meeting or
exceeding target
Within 2% of
target
More than 2%
behind target

Direction of Travel
(pre-COVID)

Not available
Performance to
Target

Direction of Travel
(12 months previous)

32

39

6

30

49

21

13

24

2

17

3

4

5

13

4

4

1
6

1
2

9

2

2

No target set – tracker (improving)
Narrow the gap between the number of private sector business per 10,000 head of
population within County Durham and England
Increase the level of GVA per filled job in line with national levels by 2035

2

11

Compared to
Pre-COVID
improving
static

Increase the proportion of residents with higher level skills in line with national levels by
2035

improving

Increase the number of organisations involved in the Better Health at Work Award

improving

Increase the % of 16-17-year-olds in an apprenticeship

improving

% uptake of free early education entitlement for 3-4-year-olds

improving

Reduce the number of heritage assets ‘at risk’ that are categorised as ‘Priority A’ and/or
in ‘very bad condition’
Average number of tickets sold per cinema and theatre screenings/performances held
during the quarter
No. of registrations to employability programmes

improving
deteriorating
static

No. of participants on employability programmes progressed into employment / education
or training

improving

No. of households receiving energy advice from Managing Money Better (MMB) Initiative

deteriorating

County Durham to become net zero by 2045

static

% of household waste that is re-used, recycled or composted

deteriorating

Contamination rate (%)

deteriorating

Overall satisfaction with cycle routes and facilities (%)

not available

Page 68

Reduce the % point gap in breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks between County Durham and the
national average

improving

Healthy life expectancy at birth – female

not available

Reduce the gap between County Durham and England for HLE at birth – female

not available

Healthy life expectancy at 65 – female

not available

Reduce the gap between County Durham and England for HLE at 65 – female

not available

Increase self-reported wellbeing (by reducing the proportion of people reporting a low
happiness score)
Increase the satisfaction of people who use services with their care and support
Increase % of older people who were still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital
into reablement / rehabilitation services
Increase the average age whereby people are able to remain living independently in their
own home
No. of Care Connect customers
No. of households accessing the Housing Solutions Service

improving
not available
improving
improving
deteriorating
improving

% of Harbour clients feeling their quality of life has improved on case closure

not available

Maintain a downward trend in the amount of Highways Maintenance Backlog

static

% of B roads where maintenance is recommended

improving

No. of ASB enforcement action taken

improving

No. of people killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents - No. of seriously injured
No. of children killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents - No. of fatalities
No. of children killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents - No. of seriously injured

deteriorating
improving
static

Reports of anti-social behaviour

deteriorating

Reports of environmental anti-social behaviour

deteriorating

Reduce the council’s carbon emissions by 80% by 2030

improving

% of employees enrolled on the apprenticeship programme

improving

% of CRM service requests received which were self-serve

improving

% of respondents satisfied with overall service delivery with services requested through
the CRM

improving

No target set – tracker (static)

Compared to
Pre-COVID

Children in Early Years foundation stage achieving a good level of development

not available

% of Children Looked After placed within 20 miles of their home address

deteriorating
Page 69

Healthy life expectancy at birth – male

not available

% of children and young people completing a Harbour intervention and feeling safer

not available

% of A roads where maintenance is recommended

static

Bridge stock condition – principal roads

static

No target set – tracker (deteriorating)

Compared to
Pre-COVID

Narrow the gap between no. of private sector employments per 10,000 head of
population within County Durham and England

static

Increase the employment rate for 16-64-year-olds in line with national levels by 2035

static

Increase the overall disability employment rate / close the gap

static

Improve proportion of children achieving expected standards in maths and reading (KS2)

static

Number of Council owned/managed heritage assets classed as 'at risk'

deteriorating

No. of library members

deteriorating

Raise cycling and walking levels in County Durham in line with national levels by 2035

static

No. of contamination notices issued

deteriorating

No. of children and young people with an Education, Health and Care Plan

deteriorating

Reduce gap between County Durham and England for HLE at birth – male

not available

Healthy life expectancy at 65 – male

not available

Reduce the gap between County Durham and England for HLE at 65 – male

not available

Reduce the overall suicide rate (per 100,000 population)

not available

Increase the satisfaction of carers with the support and services they receive

deteriorating

Increase % of hospital discharges receiving reablement

deteriorating

No. of households helped to move to alternative accommodation

deteriorating

% of Harbour clients feeling more confident in themselves on case closure

not available

Increase occupancy rate of all town centres to above national levels by 2035

deteriorating

Aim to increase public satisfaction with highways maintenance above national average.

deteriorating

% of C roads where maintenance is recommended

deteriorating

% of unclassified roads where maintenance is recommended

deteriorating

No. of people killed or seriously injured in road traffic accidents - No. of fatalities
Page 70

improving

Public satisfaction with ease of access (%)

not available

No. of Chapter Homes properties sold

not available

Reports of nuisance anti-social behaviour

deteriorating

Reports of personal anti-social behaviour

deteriorating

Days / shifts lost to sickness absence per FTE (excluding schools)

deteriorating

Days / shifts lost to sickness absence per FTE - excluding COVID-19 (excluding schools)

deteriorating

No. of employees enrolled on the apprenticeship programme - new posts
No. of employees enrolled on the apprenticeship programme - existing staff upskilling

Meeting target (not available)

improving
static

Compared to
Pre-COVID

FTE jobs created through regeneration schemes

not available

Deliver at least 600 homes suitable for older persons by 2035

not available

Meeting target (improving)

Compared to
Pre-COVID

Attract 11.96 million visitors to the county in 2021

improving

% of Business Durham floor space that is occupied

improving

No. of inward investments secured

deteriorating

No. jobs supported by the visitor economy

improving

Amount (£ million) generated by the visitor economy

improving

No. of families on our Stronger Families Programme attaining significant and sustained
outcomes

improving

No. of gym & swim members

improving

Bring 200 empty homes back into use per year as a result of local authority intervention

improving

Return the number of fly-tipping incidents to at least pre-COVID levels by 2035

improving

Maintain the % of land which falls below unacceptable levels of cleanliness in relation to
detritus at below 12%
Maintain the % of land which falls below unacceptable levels of cleanliness in relation to
litter at below 6%
Maintain the % of land which falls below unacceptable levels of cleanliness in relation to
dog fouling at below 1%
Maintain levels of satisfaction with bus operators at a minimum of 92%
Respondents who agree that police and local authorities are dealing with anti-social
behaviour and crime issues that matter to them

improving
improving
improving
static
not available
Page 71

% of recorded Category 1 highway defects repaired within 24 hours

static

% of council tax collected

deteriorating

% of business rates collected

deteriorating

Meeting target (static)
No. of new businesses supported by CED Team
No. of business supported through regeneration projects
Audit opinion

Compared to
Pre-COVID
improving
not available
static

Meeting target (deteriorating)

Compared to
Pre-COVID

Gross jobs created / safeguarded as a result of Business Durham activity

deteriorating

Amount of investments secured for companies

not available

No. of businesses supported by Business Durham (engagements)
Increase net delivery of new housing by 19,620 units by 2035

Within 2% of target (improving)
Increase the proportion of young people in education, employment and training to be
consistently higher than regional and national levels

More than 2% behind target (improving)
Work towards Durham City Air Quality Management Area NO2 levels being below the
government threshold of 40µg/m3

improving
static

Compared to
Pre-COVID
static

Compared to
Pre-COVID
static

% of mothers smoking at time of delivery

improving

% of smoking prevalence in adults (aged 18+)

improving

Increase the % of children aged 10-11 who are of a healthy weight

not available

No. of people attending Leisure Centres

deteriorating

Increase net delivery of affordable homes to contribute to meeting identified need of
12,540 by 2035

deteriorating

Page 72

More than 2% behind target (static)
Increase the % of children aged 4-5 who are of a healthy weight
10,000 more adults per week undertake 150 mins of moderate intensity physical activity

More than 2% behind target (deteriorating)

Compared to
Pre-COVID
not available
static

Compared to
Pre-COVID

Increase employment land approved and delivered by 300 hectares (Ha) by 2035

deteriorating

Increase the proportion of waste diverted from landfill to at least 95%

deteriorating

15,000 less adults are inactive (undertake less than 30 min of physical activity per week)

deteriorating

% FOI and EIR requests responded to within 20 working days

deteriorating

% of new housing benefit claims processed within 14 days of receiving information

deteriorating

Time to process new housing benefit claims (days)

deteriorating

% of new council tax reduction claims processed within 14 days of receiving information

deteriorating

Time to process new council tax reduction claims (days)

deteriorating

Time to process change of circumstances for council tax reduction (days)

deteriorating

Page 73

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 6

Cabinet
14 September 2022
Forecast of Revenue and Capital
Outturn 2022/23 – Period to 30 June
2022 and Update on Progress towards
achieving MTFP(12) savings
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources
Councillor Richard Bell, Portfolio Holder for Finance
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To provide Cabinet with:
(a)

the initial forecast revenue and capital outturn for 2022/23,
based on the position to June 2022;

(b)

the forecast for the council tax and business rates collection fund
position at 31 March 2023, based on the position to 30 June
2022; and

(c)

details of the forecast use of and contributions to earmarked,
cash limit and general reserves in 2022/23 and the estimated
balances that will held at 31 March 2023.

2

To seek approval of the revised capital programme 2022/23, other
budget adjustments and proposed sums treated as outside of the cash
limit in year.

3

To provide Cabinet with an update on progress towards achieving
MTFP(12) savings in 2022/23.

Page 75

Executive summary
4

During the last two financial years the council has faced unprecedented
budget pressures as a consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. Across
that period the government provided significant additional funding to
local authorities to ensure they were able to respond and manage the
financial challenges faced.

5

In County Durham, the funding received more than offset the costs
incurred, net of Covid-19 related underspending, over the last two
years, but no further funding is available to the Council to offset any
legacy impacts arising from the pandemic.

6

In 2022/23 the council is facing a new financial challenge, mainly
resulting from the impact of the Ukraine conflict. Consumer Price
Inflation (CPI) in the UK economy is presently 9.4% but is forecast to
peak early in 2023 at circa 13% and this is driving significant upward
pressure across a range of expenditure budgets. Specific areas of
council spend are well in excess of the current CPI level of 9.4%,
especially in relation to energy, fuel and external contracts where
energy and fuel are a major factor, such as waste disposal and in home
to school transport.

7

The risk arising from escalating inflation, which is also impacting
household incomes and placing a squeeze on household incomes, was
recognised during the 2021/22 final outturn. On 13 July 2022 Cabinet
agreed to the creation of a Budget Support Reserve of £10 million to
assist with cost inflationary pressures in 2022/23.

8

The current levels of inflation have resulted in the Local Government
Employers making a revised pay offer for ‘Green Book’ employees
(covering the vast majority of council employees) of a flat rate increase
of £1,925 per annum. This offer equates to a 6.6% increase in the
council’s pay bill, whereas the 2022/23 budget has provision for up to
3.25%. If settled at this level, this will add a forecast circa £6.5 million
per annum to council costs.

9

At this stage it is not expected that local authorities will receive any
additional financial support from the government in 2022/23 and will
need to rely upon available reserves to finance any 2022/23
overspends. Of more concern at this stage is what the financial
settlement may be for local government in 2023/24. A consultation
document on a two year local government finance settlement for
2023/24 and 2024/25 was expected to be published in July 2022. This
has however been delayed however due to the resignation of the Prime
Minister and subsequent leadership process and it is not clear at this

Page 76

stage when or if the consultation will be published and whether a two
year settlement is now likely.
10

The impact of inflation is resulting in significant overspends in 2022/23
and is also resulting in additional forecast costs across the MTFP(13)
planning period. The impact of inflation upon the MTFP(13) forecasts
will be reported to Cabinet in October 2022.

11

Based on the position to 30 June 2022 service grouping cash limit
budgets are forecasting an overspend of £27.478 million. A sum of
£8.294 million is available in general contingencies to part finance the
pay award, resulting in a net cash limit overspend of £19.184 million.

12

Within these forecast that are a range of unavoidable other budget
pressures being experienced by service groupings in 2022/23 as a
result of high levels of inflation. Budget pressures such as energy,
waste disposal and transport will be covered corporately. Sums covered
corporately are forecast to be £14.124 million resulting in a residual net
cash limit overspend of £5.060 million.

13

At quarter one, Children and Young People’s Services are forecasting a
cash limit overspend of £4.865 million. The service does not have a
cash limit reserve to offset this overspend so, as in previous years, this
overspend will need to be financed from the General Reserve.

14

Overall, it is estimated that the council’s 2022/23 budget will be
overspent by £14.643 million, representing 2.84% of the net expenditure
budget of £516.496 million. A sum of £0.195 million is within the cash
limit budgets with £14.448 million to be covered corporately. The £10
million Budget Support Reserve created to finance inflation related
pressures in 2022/23 will be fully utilised leaving £4.448 million to be
financed from the General Reserve resulting in a forecast end of year
balance of £21.450 million.

15

There are a wide range of assumptions that have been made in relation
to expenditure and income over the remainder of the financial year.
Cabinet will be receiving quarterly reports on outturn forecasts
throughout the year.

16

Total earmarked and cash limit reserves (excluding school reserves) are
forecast to reduce by £42.288 million in 2022/23, from £235.529 million
to £193.241 million.

17

The forecast cash limit and general reserves position is still considered
to be prudent given the financial uncertainties facing local government
beyond 2022/23. The MTFP(13) report to Cabinet on 13 July 2022
highlighted ongoing budget concerns for the council with a forecast
savings shortfall of £54.845 million over the 2023/24 to 2026/27 period.
Page 77

Those forecasts were prepared before the quarter one forecasts were
completed and in reality, it is likely this sum will be higher than the latest
reported forecast due to the ongoing inflationary increases, with the
delivery of further savings becoming ever more challenging to achieve.
18

The projected capital outturn this year is £255.538 million, with the
capital budget having been augmented with reprofiled budget from
underspending against the 2021/22 capital programme.

19

The forecast outturn for the Council Tax Collection Fund shows an inyear surplus of £0.499 million, but a cumulative deficit of £2.589 million
to 31 March 2023 after accounting for the deficit brought forward from
2021/22 and the third and final instalment of the phasing of the 2020/21
deficit (£1.907 million). Durham County Council’s share of this net deficit
would be £1.758 million.

20

The forecast outturn for the Business Rates Collection Fund is an inyear deficit of £3.702 million, but a cumulative deficit of £2.871 million
after taking into account the 2021/22 undeclared surplus. Durham
County Council’s share (49%) of this is £1.407 million.

21

The in year business rates deficit, is offset in the General Fund by the
receipt of additional Section 31 grants of £4.005 million.

22

The in year collection rates for both Council Tax and Business Rates
has increased from 2020/21 and 2021/22 following the re-instating of full
formal recovery action from June 2021, though are not yet back to prepandemic levels.

23

As at 30 June 2022 the council has delivered savings totalling £1.917
million, which is 79% of the £2.427 million savings target for the year.

Recommendations
24

Page 78

It is recommended that Cabinet:
(a)

note the council’s overall forecast financial position for 2022/23
and the continuing uncertainty associated with the outturn
forecast resulting from the significant inflationary cost pressures
and ongoing covid-19 impacts on income as set out in the report;

(b)

agree the proposed ‘sums outside the cash limit’ for approval as
set out in the report;

(c)

agree the revenue and capital budget adjustments outlined in the
report;

(d)

note the forecast use of earmarked reserves in year;

(e)

note the forecast end of year position for the cash limit and
general reserves;

(f)

note the inflationary pressures which are forecast to be managed
from the Budget Support Reserve and from the General Reserve;

(g)

note the position on the capital programme and the Collection
Funds in respect of Council Tax and Business Rates; and

(h)

note the amount of savings delivered to 30 June 2022 against the
2022/23 targets and the total savings that will have been
delivered since 2011.

Page 79

Background
25

Council agreed Medium Term Financial Plan 12 (MTFP12), which
incorporates the revenue and capital budgets for 2022/23, on 23
February 2022. MTFP(12) covers the period 2022/23 to 2025/26.

26

The MTFP(12) report highlighted ongoing budget concerns for the
council with a forecast savings shortfall of £29.987 million over the
2023/24 to 2025/26 period.

27

On 13 July 2022 Cabinet considered the initial Medium Term Financial
Plan 13 (MTFP13) forecasts, which highlighted further ongoing budget
concerns for the council and an updated forecast savings shortfall of
£54.845 million over the 2023/24 to 2026/27 period. The delivery of
further savings to this magnitude is becoming ever more challenging to
achieve and, based on the quarter one forecasts contained in this
report, is highly likely that the position has worsened.

28

During the last two financial years the council has faced unprecedented
budget pressures as a consequence of the Covid-19 pandemic. Across
that period the government provided significant additional funding to
local authorities to ensure they were able to respond and manage the
financial challenges faced.

29

In County Durham, the funding received more than offset the costs
incurred, net of Covid-19 related underspending, over the last two
years, but no further funding is available to the Council to offset any
legacy impacts arising from the pandemic.

30

In 2022/23 the council is facing a new financial challenge, mainly
resulting from the impact of the Ukraine conflict. Consumer Price
Inflation (CPI) in the UK economy is presently 9.4% but is forecast to
peak early in 2023 at circa 13% and this is driving significant upward
pressure across a range of expenditure budgets.

31

The constitution requires that the Chief Finance Officer must report to
Cabinet on the overall council budget monitoring position on a quarterly
basis.

32

This report satisfies that requirement and provides a forecast of the
revenue and capital outturn for 2022/23, based upon expenditure and
income up to 30 June 2022. It includes details relating to the General
Fund revenue and capital budgets 2022/23, the Collection Funds for
Council Tax and Business Rates and contains details relating to the
Dedicated Schools Grant funding blocks, including the financial
performance of our maintained schools. This is the first set of forecasts
of financial performance against the 2022/23 budgets this financial year.

Page 80

33

The report also provides an update on the delivery of MTFP(12) savings
for 2022/23. The planned 2022/23 savings were agreed by Council in
February 2022 with a savings target of £2.427 million for the current
year. This brings the overall savings target for the period from 2011/12
to 2022/23 to circa £250 million. Significant progress has been made
towards achieving these savings.

Costs outside the Cash limit - Inflationary Pressures
34

The current exceptionally high levels of inflation, especially for energy,
waste, transport and for pay awards exceed the budget provision.
These cost increases are very much a result of the Ukraine conflict and
at this point it is not clear when this impact will dissipate.

35

Energy costs started to escalate in late 2021 and have continued to do
so ever since. Whilst the 2022/23 in year cost increases have been
partially offset by forward purchasing of energy and increased power
generation income from the Joint Stocks Landfill site, the forecast
additional net budget requirement for energy inflation is £4.923 million
(£6.033 million less power income generation of £1.110 million) during
2022/23. This is despite the 2022/23 budget making provision for £3.1
million of growth in the gas and electricity budgets this year. In 2022/23
the forecasts are that the Council will spend £18.900 million on gas and
electric, compared to the £7.500 million it spent in 2019/20 (pre-covid).

36

A number of the council’s major contracts have annual inflationary uplift
calculations built into them linked to CPI or RPI uplifts and sometimes
linked to key materials inflation. e.g., diesel prices. The main contracts
affected by these uplifts relate to waste and refuse collection, home to
school transport and local bus subsidy contracts and ICT contracts. The
additional forecasted budget requirement for these contracts total
£2.687 million during 2022/23.

37

The price fluctuation in these markets continues to be significant and
complex which makes forecasting the council’s outturn position even
more challenging than usual.

38

The National Employers for Local Government Services pay offer
issued on 25 July 2022 of a flat rate increase of £1,925 per annum
results in a £14.808 million increased employee budget requirement
(equating to an average 6.6% increase) during 2022/23. General
contingencies provide for funding of £8.294 million (provision for up to a
3.25% increase) therefore there is a shortfall of £6.514 million.

39

Overall, it is forecast that unavoidable and unbudgeted inflationary
pressures that will need to be picked up corporately amount to £14.124
million. These costs will be financed in the first instance from the £10

Page 81

million Budget Support Reserve approved for this purpose by Cabinet
on 13 July 2022, with the residual £4.124 million to be financed from the
General Reserve.

Revenue Outturn Forecast – Based on Position to 30 June 2022
40

41

A number of adjustments have been made to the original budget agreed
by Council on 23 February 2022:
(a)

agreed budget transfers between service groupings;

(b)

additions to budget for items outside the cash limit (for Cabinet
consideration and recommended approval);

(c)

planned use of or contribution to earmarked reserves (Appendix
4).

The following table compares the forecast of outturn with the revised
budget. Further detail is provided in Appendices 2 and 3.

Forecast of Revenue Outturn 2022/23
Original
Budget
2022/23

£'000

Budget incorporating
adjustments

£'000

Service
Groupings
Forecast of
Outturn

Forecasted
Variance

£'000

£'000

Adjustment for inflationary-related sums outside the cash
limit included in Forecast of Outturn
Energy

Waste

£'000

£'000

Transport
Fuel

Home to
School
Transport

Pay Inflation
22/23

Forecasted
Variance
excluding
Inflationary
sums

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Adult and Health Services
Children and Young People's Services
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
Regeneration, Economy and Growth
Resources

136,741
141,886
112,985
54,934
25,249

138,193
162,788
116,123
57,588
25,832

138,058
170,497
119,506
63,908
27,739

-135
7,709
3,383
6,320
1,907

-28
-352
-885
-3,713
55

0
0
61
0
0

0
0
-865
-600
0

0
-1,283
0
0
0

-900
-1,209
-1,383
-1,199
-1,823

-1,063
4,865
311
808
139

Cash Limit Position

471,795

500,524

519,708

19,184

-4,923

61

-1,465

-1,283

-6,514

5,060

17,078
3,816

11,817
4,188

11,817
4,085

0
-103

0

0

0

0

0

0
-103

NET COST OF SERVICES

492,689

516,529

535,610

19,081

-4,923

61

-1,465

-1,283

-6,514

4,957

Capital charges
DSG deficit reserve adjustment
Interest and Investment income
Interest payable and similar charges
Levies

-61,873
0
-2,900
48,780
16,176

-61,873
205
-2,900
48,350
16,185

-61,873
205
-4,838
45,850
16,185

0
0
-1,938
-2,500
0

Net Expenditure

Contingencies
Corporate Costs

492,872

516,496

531,139

14,643

Funded By:
Council tax
Use of earmarked reserves
Estimated net surplus (-) / deficit on Collection Fund
Business Rates
Top up grant
Revenue Support Grant
New Homes Bonus
Section 31 Grant
Adult/Childrens Pressures Grant
Lower Tier Services Grant
Services Grant
Forecast contribution to/from (-) Cash Limit Reserve
Forecast contribution to/from (-) General Reserves

-252,142
-25,072
9,788
-52,873
-72,780
-29,100
-4,082
-25,026
-30,955
-786
-8,776
-1,068
0

-252,142
-46,647
9,788
-52,873
-72,780
-29,100
-4,082
-25,026
-30,955
-786
-8,776
-3,117
0

-252,142
-56,647
9,788
-52,873
-72,780
-29,100
-4,082
-25,026
-30,955
-786
-8,776
-3,312
-4,448

0
-10,000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
-195
-4,448

Total Funding
TOTAL

-492,872
0

-516,496
0

-531,139
0

-14,643
0

42

Page 82

0
0
-1,938
-2,500
0
-4,923

61

-1,465

-1,283

-6,514

4,923

-61

1,465

1,283

2,390

4,923
0

-61
0

1,465
0

1,283
0

2,390
-4,124

The above table identifies a forecast net overspend of £4.643 million
(following the application of the £10 million Budget Support Reserve
established on 31 March 2022) representing 0.90% of the net
expenditure budget of £516.496 million. Included within this net
overspend, the in year cash limit overspend (following general reserve

519
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
-195
-4,448
-4,643
-4,124

funding of the CYPS Cash limit overspend) is forecasted at £0.195
million. An in year corporate overspend of £4.448 million is also forecast
to be financed from the General Reserve.
43

Approval is being sought for the following sums to be funded from /
transferred to general contingencies. The following sums are deemed to
be outside of service grouping cash limits and will be funded from
general contingencies.
Service
Grouping

Proposal

Amount
£ million

Resources

Pensions

-0.067

Resources

Storm Emergency Costs

-0.036

Resources

Legal Assistants re COVID-19

0.067

Resources

LCTS Admin Subsidy

0.026

ALL

2021/22 Pay Award

3.643

REG

Security Costs

0.092

NCC

Refuse Collection bank holidays

0.060

REG

Leisure Centre Income reduction

1.180

REG

Catering Income reduction

0.296

TOTAL
ALL
TOTAL

5.261
2022/23 Pay Award (part)

8.294
13.555

44

The leisure income shortfall set out above results from a slower than
hoped recovery in income levels after the pandemic. This position will
be closely monitored over the coming months.

45

The catering income reduction is as a consequence of current hybrid
ways of working with lower numbers of employees attending workplaces
reducing catering income whilst costs increase.

46

After adjusting the budgets and reserves as detailed above, the forecast
outturn for cash limit reserves and the general reserve are summarised
in the following table.

Page 83

Type of Reserve

Opening
Budgeted use
Balance as at
at
1 April 2022
1 April 2022

£ million

£ million

Movement
during
2022/23

2022/23
Forecast of
Outturn

£ million

£ million

Service Grouping Cash Limit
Adult and Health Services
Children and Young People's Services
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
Regeneration, Economy and Growth
Resources

-6.149
0.000
-1.457
-2.868
-1.090

0.131
0.000
0.705
0.000
0.232

0.373
0.000
0.386
0.908
0.431

-5.645
0.000
-0.366
-1.960
-0.427

Total Cash Limit Reserve

-11.564

1.068

2.098

-8.398

General Reserve

-25.898

0.000

4.448

-21.450

47

The forecast cash limit and general reserves position is considered to
be a prudent one given the significant ongoing financial uncertainties
facing local government beyond 2021/22.

48

The MTFP(13) forecasts reported to Cabinet in July were prepared
before the quarter one forecasts were completed and in reality, it is
likely this sum will be higher than the latest reported forecast due to the
ongoing inflationary increases, with the delivery of further savings
becoming ever more challenging to achieve

Cash Limit Position
49

The reasons for the major variances against the revised budgets are
detailed below. It is important to note that the cash limit positions
exclude the inflationary related issues which are outside the control of
budget managers.

Adult and Health Services (AHS)
50

The 2022/23 projected outturn for AHS, based upon the position to 30
June 2022 is a cash limit underspend of £1.063 million to the year end,
representing circa 0.77% of the total revised budget for AHS.

51

The projected outturn takes into account adjustments for sums outside
the cash limit including redundancy costs which are met from the
corporate reserve, capital accounting entries and use of / contributions
to earmarked reserves. The 2022/23 pay award costs of £2.047 million
(£1.147 million following the allocation of general contingencies
provision) have also been excluded from the cash limit outturn position.

52

The outturn is a managed position, reflecting the proactive management
of activity by Heads of Service across AHS to remain within the cash
limit. The outturn position is accounted for as follows:

Page 84

53

54

(a)

careful management and control of vacant posts and supplies
and services budgets across the service together with
uncommitted budgets, results in an estimated net under budget
position for the year of £0.779 million;

(b)

net spend on adult care packages is £0.284 million under budget.
This area of spend is being closely monitored to assess the
impact of COVID-19 as well as ongoing demographic and
procedural/operational changes, where significant MTFP savings
have been taken over recent years;

(c)

net expenditure on Public Health-related activity is in line with
grant allocations.

In addition, a net £1.775 million relating to contributions to and from
reserves has been excluded from the cash limit outturn forecasts as
follows:
(a)

£0.159 million drawdown from the AHS Cash Limit reserve to
fund temporary staffing arrangements;

(b)

£0.089 million drawdown from Public Health reserves for Public
Health projects;

(c)

£1.399 million drawdown from the AHS cash limit reserve to fund
short term projects;

(d)

£0.128 million drawdown from the Corporate Recovery Reserve
in respect of ongoing COVID-19 related projects.

The following base budget transfers have also been actioned in the first
quarter as follows:
(a)

£0.840 million budget transfer to CYPS relating to the Learning
Disabilities Navigation service;

(b)

£0.517 million from contingencies into AHS base budget for the
2021/22 pay award costs.

55

A further £0.900 million from general contingencies is forecast within the
report to fund the 2022/23 pay award costs

56

Taking the projected outturn position into account, including the
transfers to/from reserves in year, the estimated cash limit reserve
balance for AHS is forecast to be £5.645 million at 31 March 2023.

Page 85

Children and Young People’s Services (CYPS)
57

The 2022/23 projected outturn for CYPS, based upon the position to 30
June 2022 is a cash limit overspend of £4.865 million, representing a
3.3% overspend against the total revised budget for CYPS.

58

The cash limit outturn projections exclude forecast use of / contributions
to earmarked reserves and items outside the cash limit such as
redundancy costs which are met from corporate reserves. Inflationary
pressures on energy (£0.352 million) and transport contract prices
(£1.283 million) have also been excluded from the cash limit outturn. In
addition, the 2022/23 pay award costs of £2.746 million (£1.537 million
following general contingencies provision) have also been excluded
from the cash limit outturn.

59

The forecast outturn position factors in forecast overspends within
Education and Operational Support of £0.957 million and Children’s
Services of £3.907 million, with further details provided below:
(a)

Education and Operational Support is forecasting an overspend
of £0.957 million against budget after adjusting for inflationary
pressures to be funded corporately;
The main reasons for the overspend position are an income
shortfall of £1.586 million and an overspend of £0.350 million on
Home to School transport (after adjusting for inflation costs
funded corporately). Of the total income shortfall, £0.894 million
relates to courses fees, charges and lettings, and £0.692 million
is a direct result of lost SLA income following schools converting
to academy status;
This overspend is partially offset by an underspend of £1.092
million against employee budgets, which largely results from a
planned restructure to address budget pressures and comes into
place from September;

(b)

Children’s Services is forecast to be a net £3.907 million over
budget for the year. The Service is forecasting an overspend of
£5.39 million relating to the cost of placements for children looked
after where demand continues to rise;
The pressure on the budget in children’s social care has been
evident for a number of years, as the number of children in the
care system has increased significantly and their needs have
continued to become more complex. The budget for this area for
2022/23 was increased by £4.230 million, consisting of £2.29
million base budget growth, £1.160 million inflationary budget
increase and £0.780 million internal budget transfers.

Page 86

As at 30 June 2022 there were 983 Children Looked After, which
continues a trend of growth in demand in this area as illustrated in
the table below:
Date
March 2021
June 2021
September 2021
December 2021
March 2022
June 2022

Number of CLA
946
943
912
924
982
983

The Transitions Navigation team transferred from AHS to CYPS
in Quarter 1 along with associated budget and expenditure. A
review of activity data is underway to align budget with
expenditure across CYPS Social Care prior to reporting at
Quarter 2 and, at this stage an underspend of £1.255 million is
reported. There is also an underspend of £0.311 million on
budgets relating to Adoption Services.
60

61

62

The forecast cash limit outturn shows the position after a net £1.230
million use of reserves. These are as follows:
(a)

£0.633 million budget transfer from the Recovery Support
Reserve to fund committed expenditure in 2022/23;

(b)

£0.490 million transfer from reserves in relation to the Holiday
Activities and Food Programme;

(c)

£0.107 million transfer from the Young Parents Programme
Reserve to fund the programme in 2022/23.

The following budget transfers have also been actioned in the first
quarter as follows:
(a)

£0.840 million transfer from Adults and Health Services relating to
the Learning Disabilities Navigation service;

(b)

£0.807 million transfer from contingencies into CYPS Base budget
to fund the 2021/22 Pay award.

Taking the forecast outturn position into account, there is a forecast
£4.865 million deficit cash limit reserve balance at 31 March 2023. This
has, as in previous years, been funded by general reserves.

Page 87

Neighbourhoods and Climate Change (NCC)
63

The forecast revenue outturn for 2022/23, based on the position to 30
June 2022, for NCC is a cash limit overspend of £0.311 million.

64

The cash limit outturn projections exclude forecast use of / contributions
to earmarked reserves and items outside the cash limit such as
redundancy costs which are met from corporate reserves, and
inflationary pressures on energy (net £0.885 million) and transport
prices (£0.865 million). The 2022/23 pay award of £3.145 million
(£1.762 million following general contingencies provision) have also
been excluded from the cash limit outturn position.

65

The outturn is a managed position, reflecting the proactive management
of activity by Heads of Service across NCC to try and remain within the
cash limit. The main reasons accounting for the cash limit outturn
position are as follows:
(a) Environmental Services is forecast to be £0.374 million overspent.
This includes £0.342 million additional agency cover required in
Refuse and Recycling due to high sickness levels and additional
annual leave carried forward from last year due to COVID 19. In
addition, there is a £100,000 overspend on bin purchases where
costs have recently increased by 22%, and £0.144 million of
underachieved income on soil imports, however these overspends
have been offset by £100,000 increased income relating to trade
waste collections and £0.204 million overachieved income for
garden waste income;
(b) Highways is forecast to be overspent by £0.324 million. Within this
area there is an overspend of £0.721 million on Highways Revenue
maintenance work, including cyclic works, drainage, bridges and
emergency action works offset by additional income within
Strategic Highways relating to enforcement and inspections, road
closures, and fixed penalty notices;
(c) Community Protection is forecast to underspend by £87,000. This
relates to underspending against employee staffing budgets, and is
the net effect of having a number of vacant posts in some areas of
the service, while having to be over establishment in other areas to
facilitate succession planning
(d) The central contingencies budget within NCC is underspent by
£0.288 million. This budget has been created to fund any cross
cutting service pressures within NCC that may arise during the
financial year. This budget will be kept under review as the year

Page 88

progresses and transfers may also be made to Heads of Service
areas if the need arises;
66

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, the service is estimating
outside the cash limit inflation related pressures of £1.689 million which
are in the main associated with; Energy (£1.995 million), and Fuel
(£0.865 million), with these pressures offset by the benefits of increased
power generation income of £1.110 million from the Joint Stocks landfill
site.

67

£2.365 million relating to use of reserves and cash limits has also been
excluded from the outturn. The major items being:

68

(a)

£1.056 million drawdown from reserves relating to Find and Fix,
Climate Change, and Environmental issues;

(b)

£0.252 million drawdown from Community Protection reserves
relating to Property Sector Enforcement, and Horden Making
Every Adult Matter;

(c)

£0.798 million drawdown from PACE reserves in relation to Social
Isolation and AAPs;

(d)

£0.259 million drawdown from NCC Cash Limit Reserve relating
to Capital Schemes for workshops and Office Accommodation at
Morrison Busty Depot;

The following budget transfer has also been actioned in the first quarter:
(a)

£0.690 million transfer from contingencies into NCC base budget
relating to the 2021/22 pay award.

69

A further £1.383 million from general contingencies is forecast within the
report to fund the 2022/23 pay award costs

70

Taking the projected outturn position into account, the forecasted cash
limit reserve balance for NCC will be £0.366 million at 31 March 2023.

Regeneration, Economy and Growth (REG)
71

The forecast revenue outturn for 2022/23, based on the position to 30
June 2022, is a cash limit overspend of £0.808 million for REG, after
taking account of the forecast use of reserves and items outside the
cash limit, including redundancy costs which are met from the corporate
reserve, capital accounting entries and use of / contributions to
earmarked reserves.

Page 89

72

Inflationary pressures on energy (£3.713 million) and Transport prices
(£0.600 million) have been excluded from the cash limit position. The
2022/23 pay award of £2.726 million, (£1.527 million following general
contingencies provision) has also been excluded from the cash limit
forecast outturn position. In addition, underachieved income of £1.180
million in leisure has been excluded from the cash limit outturn.

73

The outturn is a managed position, reflecting the proactive management
of activity by Heads of Service across REG to try and remain within the
cash limit and work is underway to try and recover the forecast
overspend position. The main reasons accounting for the outturn
position are as follows:
(a) Culture, Sport and Tourism is forecast to overspend by £0.193
million against budget. The main reasons are a reduction in fine
and reservation income in libraries (£83,000) and an unrealised
MTFP saving of £0.190 million pending the full year effect of the
service restructure that has been implemented;
(b) Transport and Contract Services is forecast to overspend by
£0.965 million against budget. In Strategic Traffic there is an
overspend on Parking Services (£83,000), Traffic Signals (£70,000)
and traffic control measures for events (£75,000). In Care Connect
there are overspends of £0.372 million in relation to the impact of a
staff regrade (£0.300 million) and underachieved SLAs and
subsidised client income (£0.100 million) offset by minor
underspends across the service. In Integrated Passenger
Transport there is a reduction of £0.160 million in departure
charges arising from the new Durham Bus Station capital scheme
and increased costs of local bus services of £0.129 million;
(c) Development and Housing is forecast to overspend by £0.379
million against budget. This is largely due to anticipated additional
expenditure of £0.940 million in Housing Solutions with regard to
temporary accommodation to tackle homelessness. This continues
to be an issue as a legacy of the government initiative to protect
and vaccinate all rough sleepers during the pandemic which
required additional accommodation (in the form of B&B’s and
holiday lets). A number of people housed under this initiative
remain in temporary accommodation, due to being difficult to house
(including victims of domestic abuse fleeing homes as a result of
lockdown measures). The position is partially offset by additional
net income of £0.559 million within Planning Development
(planning & building control fees less anticipated additional appeals
costs). Forecast overspends relating to Physical Development
(£27,000) and Strategy and Project Development (£36,000) are

Page 90

offset by anticipated underspends in Spatial Policy (£51,000) and
elsewhere across the service;
(d) Any over or underspends in relation to the activity of Business
Durham is managed through an earmarked reserve and therefore
there is no impact on the cash limit position. A contribution to
reserves in 2022/23 is anticipated based largely upon current
occupancy rates across a range of Business Space sites;
(e) Corporate Property and Land is forecast to underspend by
£80,000. Within Buildings & Facilities Management, there is a
forecast overspend of £12,000, mainly due to reduced income from
public catering facilities following reduced footfall in cultural
venues. There are also several small overspends expected in
relation to enhanced cleaning requirements that remain in place at
this time as a result of Covid-19 (£26,000 in total). Strategy and
Property Management is forecast to underspend by £52,000 due
primarily to additional unbudgeted commercial properties income,
largely offset by an overspend on consultant fees. There are also
minor underspends elsewhere within the service, including
additional unbudgeted income of £11,000 in Health and Safety;
(f)

Communications Management is forecast to underspend by £0.134
million against budget. This is due to underspends on employeerelated costs, partially offset by minor overspends relating to
professional fees and advertising;

(g) Central costs are forecast to underspend by £0.515 million against
budget pending a re-allocation of budget to services.
74

In arriving at the forecast outturn position, a net £91,000 relating to
contributions to / use of reserves, cash limits and contingencies has
been excluded from the outturn. The major items being:
(a)

£1.476 million from contingencies to support budget shortfalls as
a result of post covid pressures. This includes £1.180 million in
respect of Leisure Centre income and £0.296 million in respect of
Catering income as a result of hybrid working;

(b)

£0.798 million use of the Recovery Support Reserve to support
payment of business recovery grants;

(c)

£1.134 million contribution to the Bus Services Reserve from the
projected underspend in Concessionary Fares to support the
provision of bus services and routes in 2022/23;

(d)

£0.649 million contribution to the Cultural Programme Reserve in
respect of the removal and relocation of the historical archives;

Page 91

(e)
75

£0.400 million contribution to the Planning Reserve in respect of
income to support the work of the planning function;

The following budget transfer has also been actioned in the first quarter:
(a)

£0.652 million transfer from contingencies into REG base budget
relating to the 2021/22 pay award.

76

A further £1.199 million from general contingencies is forecast within the
report to fund the 2022/23 pay award costs.

77

Taking the projected outturn position into account, the forecasted cash
limit reserve balance for Regeneration, Economy and Growth is £1.960
million at 31 March 2023.

Resources
78

The 2022/23 forecast revenue outturn for Resources, based upon the
position to 30 June 2022, is a cash limit overspend of £0.139 million.

79

The forecasts take into account adjustments for sums outside the cash
limit such as redundancy costs which are met from corporate reserves
and use of / contributions to earmarked reserves. The 2022/23 Pay
award inflation of £4.144 million (£2.321 million following general
contingencies provision) has also been excluded from the cash limit
forecast outturn.

80

The Heads of Service across Resources continue to proactively
manage activity to remain within the cash limit. The projected under
budget position is the net effect of the following items:

Page 92

(a)

Corporate Finance and Commercial Services is forecast to be
under budget by £86,000, with managed underspending on
employee costs of £24,000, an underspend on supplies and
services of £6,000 and additional income of £56,000 in Financial
Management;

(b)

Transactional and Customer Services is forecast to be under
budget by £0.175 million, primarily due to underspends on
employee costs of £86,000 and a forecast underspend on
supplies and services costs of £19,000 in Revenues and Benefits.
Customer Services is forecasting to be under budget on
employee costs by £49,000 due to vacancies. Service
Management is forecasting to be under budget by £21,000 due to
a managed underspend on employee costs;

(c)

Digital Services is forecast to be over budget by £0.488 million.
Within this area underachievement of income is forecast to be

£1.093 million. This has been partially offset by forecast
underspends on supplies and services of £0.568 million, premises
costs of £34,000 and transport costs of £58,000. There is a
managed overspend of £45,000 on employee costs and a number
of other minor variances in this service area;

81

(d)

Internal Audit, Risk and Corporate Fraud is forecast to be under
budget by £42,000, comprising of a managed underspend of
£24,000 on employee related expenditure. The service is also
forecasting £18,000 of additional income;

(e)

Legal and Democratic Services is forecast to be under budget by
£0.136 million. This includes a £0.293 million managed
underspend on employee related expenditure, overachieved
income amounting to £35,000 and savings on premises costs of
£16,000. These underspends have been offset by a forecast
overspend of £0.182 million on supplies and services costs (which
includes a forecast overspend on barrister costs of £0.177
million);

(f)

HR and Employee Services is forecast to be over budget by
£0.141 million, which includes a £57,000 managed overspend on
employee related expenditure, £12,000 on supplies and services
costs and £76,000 due to unachievable income. There are also a
number of other minor variances in this service area;

(g)

Corporate Policy, Planning and Performance is forecast to be
under budget by £48,000, primarily due to a managed
underspend on employee related costs;

(h)

Procurement, Sales and Business Services is forecast to be
under budget by £3,000, due to a forecast of overachieved
income.

The forecast cash limit outturn shows the position after a net £0.760
million contributions to/from reserves, cash limit and contingencies have
been applied. The major items being:
(a)

£90,000 to the transformation programme reserve. The
contribution reflects the forecast underspend on employee costs
in 2022/23 associated with the transformation team;

(b)

£0.193 million from the Revenues and Benefits Reserve to fund
temporary posts to support the workload of the team;

(c)

£95,000 from the HR Reserve in respect of the Workforce
Development Programme;

Page 93

(d)

82

£0.292 million from the resources Cash limit reserve to fund a
number of temporary posts within the service grouping (£0.246
million), and a review of ICT services (£0.046 million).

The following budget transfer has also been actioned in the first quarter:
(a)

£0.977 million transfer from contingencies into Resources base
budget relating to the 2021/22 pay award.

83

A further £1.823 million from general contingencies is forecast within the
report to fund the 2022/23 pay award cost.

84

Taking the forecast outturn position into account, including items outside
the cash limit and transfers to and from earmarked reserves, the cash
limit reserve balance for Resources is forecast to be £0.427 million at 31
March 2023.

Corporate Costs
85

The forecast revenue outturn for 2022/23 for Resources – Centrally
Administered Costs is a cash limit underspend of £0.103 million. This
takes into account adjustments for sums outside the cash limit such as
the use of / contribution to earmarked reserves.

86

The forecast outturn position is mainly due to reduced expenditure on
bank charges and payment card fees (£13,000) expenses associated
with raising loans (£23,500), corporate subscriptions (£30,500) and
income from de-minimis capital receipts (£20,000) arising from the sale
of assets.

Central Budgets
Interest Payable and Similar Charges - Capital Financing
87

The forecast outturn position shows that £45.850 million of expenditure
will be incurred, which is £2.500 million lower than the £48.350 million
budget and reflects the delay in taking new borrowing. The forecasts
include the impact of £50 million of new loans taken out in April at
interest rates lower than forecast and reflect the ability to continue to
delay actual borrowing due to the higher than forecast cash balances at
this time.

Interest and Investment Income
88

Page 94

The forecast outturn positions indicates that income of £4.838 million
will be generated from interest on investments, which is £1.938 million
more than the £2.900 million budget. The forecast surplus reflects the
high level of cash balances at this time and increased investment
returns, as interest rates achievable on short term investments have

improved significantly with recent increases in the bank rate. Bank rate
has risen from 0.10% in November 2021 to its current level of 1.75%.
Market indications predict further rises in coming months as the Bank of
England seeks to suppress inflation.
89

The table below highlights the change in borrowing and investments
during the first quarter:

Borrowing
Investments
Net Debt

Actual
31.03.22
£ Million
418
328
90

Average
Interest
Rate
3.25%
0.48%

Actual
30.06.22
£ Million
468
379
89

Average
Interest
Rate
3.17%
1.02%

Council Earmarked Reserves Forecast
90

Earmarked reserves are funds set aside for specific, known or predicted
future expenditure. Appendix 4 details the council and school
earmarked reserves showing the opening balance at 1 April 2022, the
forecast movement on reserves during the year and the forecast closing
balance as at 31 March 2023.

91

A summary of the forecast of council reserves (excluding school
reserves) is shown below. The summary highlights that the total
earmarked and cash limit reserves are forecast to reduce by £42.288
million in 2022/23, from £235.529 million to £193.241 million. The
movement in earmarked reserves is explained in the service grouping
commentaries.
Earmarked Cash Limit
£ million
£ million

Opening Earmarked Balances as at 1 April 2022
Adjusted for increase (-) / use of Earmarked Reserves
Transfers Between Earmarked and Cash Limit Reserves
Earmarked Reserve Balances as at 31 March 2023

92

Total
£ million

-223.964

-11.565

-235.529

38.975
0.146

3.313
-0.146

42.288
0.000

-184.843

-8.398

-193.241

Earmarked reserves can be categorised as sums held for corporate
purposes, sums held on behalf of partner organisations / external grants
and other sums earmarked for specific purposes. A summary of the
expected movement in these reserves for each category is set out in the
table below:

Page 95

Actual
Forecast
Balance at
Balance at
1 April 2022 31 March 2023
£ million
£ million

Type

93

Change in
Year
£ million

Earmarked –
Corporate Reserves

-73.697

-53.214

20.483

Earmarked –
Partner/External Grant

-42.183

-31.643

10.540

Earmarked - Other

-108.084

-99.986

8.098

Sub-Total

-223.964

-184.843

39.121

Earmarked - Cash Limit

-11.565

-8.398

3.167

Total Earmarked Reserves

-235.529

-193.241

42.288

Based on the quarter one position, cash limit reserves of £8.398 million
is forecast at the year end.

Dedicated Schools Grant and Schools
94

The council currently maintains 164 schools, including nursery, primary,
secondary, special schools and a single Alternative Provision (AP)
school. The AP school is for pupils who have been permanently
excluded from other schools, or who are at risk of permanent exclusion.

95

The original budget for 2022/23 for these 164 maintained schools was
£255 million, funded by income of £62 million, formula funding budget
shares of £186 million (from central government funding) and a
budgeted circa £7 million use of accumulated schools’ reserves. The
table below summarises the schools’ initial budgets.

Subjective Budget
Heading
Employees
Premises
Transport
Supplies and services
Gross expenditure
Income
Net expenditure
Budget share
Reserves
Balance at 31 Mar 2022
Balance at 31 Mar 2023

Page 96

Nursery
£million

Primary
£million

Secondary
£million

Special /
AP
£million

4.523
0.311
0.001
0.391
5.226
-3.883
1.343
1.072
0.271
0.833
0.562

141.327
9.543
0.366
26.171
177.407
-43.804
133.603
128.305
5.298
21.260
15.962

25.354
1.881
0.445
4.629
32.309
-6.290
26.019
25.390
0.629
3.842
3.194

32.723
1.750
1.189
4.757
40.419
-8.037
32.382
31.259
1.123
2.717
1.597

Original
Annual
Budget
£million
203.927
13.485
2.001
35.948
255.361
-62.014
193.347
186.026
7.321
28.652
21.331

96

Seven maintained schools had deficit balances at 31 March 2022,
however, for five of these the budget plans for 2022/23 sought to fully
recover the position in year. Two schools (Durham Community
Business School and Wellfield) have been given approval to set deficit
budgets in 2022/23 – where planned expenditure during 2022/23 would
result in a deficit balance at 31 March 2023 (known as a licensed
deficit). Both schools have been required to set budgets with an in-year
surplus so that the accumulated deficit is reduced, as summarised in
the table below:

School
Name

Phase

Deficit at 31
March 2022

Planned
movement
of reserves

Planned
deficit at
31 March
2023

Licensed
deficit (i.e.,
balance) at
31 March
2023

£ million

£ million

£ million

£ million

DCBC

Secondary

-0.670

0.093

-0.577

-0.577

Wellfield

Secondary

-2.906

0.203

-2.703

-2.703

97

Like the Council, schools are facing a range of unfunded inflationary
pressures, for pay awards and energy costs in year which are forecast
to outstrip the initial budget planning assumptions. The forecast position
for all maintained schools for quarter 1 is shown in the following table:

Budget Heading

Employees
Premises
Transport
Supplies
Gross expenditure
Income
Net expenditure
Budget share
Use of reserves
Balance at 31 March 2022
Balance at 31 March 2023

98

Original
Budget

Quarter 1
Forecast

Forecast
Variance

£ million
203.927
13.485
2.001
35.948
255.361
-62.014
193.347
186.026
7.321
28.652
21.331

£ million
220.624
16.233
2.081
38.580
277.518
-73.819
203.699
186.026
17.673
28.652
10.979

£ million
16.697
2.748
0.080
2.632
22.156
-11.805
10.351
0
10.351
0
10.351

The forecasts are based on the following main assumptions:

Page 97

99

100

Page 98

(a)

pay award for teachers at 5% for Upper Pay Scales (UPS) grades
and higher levels for Main Pay Scales (MPS) – compared to the
budgeted assumptions of a 2% increase in year;

(b)

pay award of £1,925 per employee per annum for non-teaching
support staff – compared to a flat 2% pay award budget
assumption;

(c)

electricity costs are 63% higher than the 21/22 outturn figures –
around 10% higher than the 22/23 budgeted amounts;

(d)

gas costs 96% higher than the 21/22 outturn figures – around
40% higher than the 22/23 budgeted amounts;

(e)

impact of inflation on supplies and provisions (particularly food
products) has been considered with individual schools;

(f)

income forecasts have been reviewed and updated to include the
latest available information, particularly for SEND funding;

(g)

no additional grant income is included in the forecast to cover
costs associated with pay awards at this stage.

The forecast at quarter 1 indicates schools will be required to utilise
£17.673 million of reserves in comparison to £7.321 million included in
original budget plans. The change relates to the following:
(a)

employees – an increase of £16.697 million, the majority of which
relates to the forecast of staff pay awards of £7.8 million for nonteaching support staff and £3.5 million for teaching staff (7/12ths
impact in 22/23);

(b)

premises – an increase of £2.748 million due to updated energy
and repairs and maintenance forecasts;

(c)

supplies – an increase of £2.632 million due to updated forecasts
reflecting latest inflation figures;

(d)

income – increase in income of £11.8 million, mainly relating to
£9.75 million of grant funding plus SEN funding and increases in
fees and charges.

The forecast position at individual school level indicates that a small
number of schools may be in deficit at the end of the current financial
year (this is in addition to the two schools given permission to set a
licensed deficit) and a more significant number of schools may not have
sufficient reserves available to set a balanced budget in 2023/24.

101

The School Funding Team will work closely with schools over the
autumn term to support the financial planning process in the current and
future financial years.

Dedicated Schools Grant Centrally Retained blocks
102

The forecast outturn position for the centrally retained DSG budgets
shows a projected underspend of £0.205 million, relating to the High
Needs block, as detailed below:
Forecast
Outturn

High Needs

Budgeted
2022/23
Budget
£ million
76.267

£ million
76.062

Forecast
Over / (Under)
Spend
£ million
-0.205

Early Years

29.374

29.374

0

Central Schools
Services

2.860

2.860

0

TOTAL

108.501

108.296

-0.205

DSG Block

103

The forecast underspend position shown against the High Needs block
reflects the continuing effort to reduce the High Needs Block cumulative
deficit, however it should be noted that a fuller understanding of
pressures linked to top-up funding will only become clearer once the
new academic year begins. The council continues to work towards
reducing the high needs block deficit position.

104

All areas of HNB expenditure will be kept under close review in light of
continuing COVID-19 issues, with particular attention on the impact of
schools returning where it is possible, we will see an upward trend in the
volume of requests for additional support for high needs pupils.

105

The impact of the current forecast on the DSG reserves position is
shown in the following table:

Page 99

High
Needs
Block
(Unusable
Reserve)
£ million
-8.047

£ million
1.375

£ million
2.749

£ million
-3.923

Use / Contribution in 2021/22

-0.796

-0.719

-0.348

-1.863

Balance as at 1 April 2022

-8.843

0.656

2.401

-5.786

Use / Contribution in 2022/23

0.205

0.000

0.000

0.205

Forecast balance as at 1 April 2023

-8.638

0.656

2.401

-5.581

DSG Reserves

Balance as at 1 April 2021

Early
Years
Block

Schools
Block

Total
DSG

106

The overall DSG reserve was in a net deficit position of £5.786 million at
the start of the financial year – primarily due to the accumulated £8.843
million deficit position in relation to the high needs block. The overall
deficit position is forecast to decrease slightly to £5.581 million to the
year end.

107

An updated five-year plan for high needs block funding and expenditure,
including recovery of the accumulated deficit by the end of the five-year
period, was approved by Cabinet in April 2022.

108

The latest financial forecasts indicate significant increased expenditure
across top-up funding, Pupil Referral Unit and Educational Health
Needs areas compared to that include in the five-year plan in April. It is
however, anticipated that these pressures can be managed within the
funding available for the current financial year, although this will impact
on the timing of the recovery of the HNB deficit.

109

A review of the current programme of work is taking place in the autumn
and this will also include a workshop with Schools Forum. In addition,
Durham is identified as one of the 55 local authorities with HNB deficits
to work with the DfE on its Delivering Better Value programme.

Capital
110

Page 100

On 13 July 2022 Cabinet received a report which provided details of the
final outturn position for the 2021/22 capital programme. This included
a reprofiling exercise where £17.867 million of planned but undelivered
capital investments in 2021/22 was reprofiled over future years. The
2022/23 budget has also reprofiled, with £50.062 million of planned
capital expenditure being moved into future years and additions of
£59.234 million added to the 2022/23 budget. These changes give an
original budget of £267.920 million for 2022/23, which is shown in the
table below.

111

The council’s Capital Member Officer Working Group (MOWG) closely
monitors the capital programme and considers any proposed revisions
to the capital programme, taking into account any additional resources
secured and requests for reprofiling as Service Management Teams
monitor and review their capital schemes.

112

The following table summarises the latest capital budget for approval
alongside the original budget. The table also shows the actual capital
spend as at 30 June 2022.

Service Grouping

Original
Budget
2022/23

Amendments
recommended
by MOWG
Quarter 1

Revised
Budget
2022/23
Quarter 1

Actual
Spend to
30 June
2022

£ million

£ million

£ million

£ million

Adult and Health
Services

1.170

-0.735

0.435

0.008

Children and Young
People's Services

46.281

-0.905

45.375

2.369

Neighbourhoods and
Climate Change

79.173

-2.372

76.801

10.120

Regeneration,
Economy and Growth

129.318

-6.938

122.380

15.227

Resources

11.977

-1.431

10.547

0.631

TOTAL

267.920

-12.381

255.538

28.356

113

Variations of note are as follows:
(a)

AHS – The Horden Resource Centre Drug and Alcohol Recovery
Service refurbishment scheme is now complete and underspent
against the capital budget available, therefore a reduction of
£10,514 is noted for this scheme

(b)

CYPS – the service has the following additions and reductions to
their 2022/23 capital programme:
(i)

Planning & Service Strategy - a budget reduction of
£46,992 for the Review of Social Services Information
Database scheme as this was no longer needed for the
CYPS element of the project so was returned to capital
contingencies;

(ii)

School Devolved Capital – increases to the budgets for St
Anne’s CE Primary (£28,750 direct revenue funding),
Chester-le-Street Red Rose Primary (£18,237 DfE grant),

Page 101

Butterknowle Primary (£18,204 school loan) and Durham
Johnston Comprehensive (£4,000 DfE grant). The School
Devolved Capital unprogrammed budget was reduced by
£10,720 to reflect a reduction in the grant allocation from
DfE;
(iii) School Related – the budget for the Basic Need grant was
increased by £73,576 and the budget for the Schools Capital
Allocation grant was reduced by £50,274 to bring the
budgets into line with revised grant allocations from DfE;
(c)

NCC – the service has the following additions and reductions to
their 2022/23 capital programme:
(i)

Environmental Services - £0.223 million has been included
for schemes at various play parks, funded by S106
contributions of £0.218 million and a £5,000 contribution
from Bearpark Parish Council. The budget for Bin Storage
Solutions has been reduced by £0.159 million (funded from
reserves) as these purchases are now to be delivered via
the revenue budget, rather than the capital budget;

(ii)

Community Buildings - a budget increase of £0.112 million
for the West Rainton Community Centre Capital Grant
scheme;

(iii) AAP Capital Budgets – £67,282 budget increase for
various AAP Capital budgets funded from the AAP Revenue
Reserve.
(d)

REG – the service has the following additions and reductions to
their 2022/23 capital programme:
(i)

Development and Housing - increases of £0.830 million for
Disabled Facilities Grant schemes, funded by grant from the
Better Care Fund and £0.176 million for Financial Assistance
Policy budgets funded by the repayment of previous loans
and grants. The budget for Bishop Auckland HAZ –
Community Engagement was increased by £9,150, funded
by grant from Historic England;

(ii)

Culture and Sport - the budget for the University Millennium
Place Cultural Hub scheme was reduced by £18,651 due to
a reduction in the contribution from Durham University
towards the scheme;

(iii) Transport & Contracted Services – budget increases of
£21,594 for the Driver Information / UTMC scheme funded
by LTP grant and £830 for the Demand Management –

Page 102

unprogrammed scheme funded by a contribution from a
private individual. The budget for Walking & Cycling was
reduced by £50,000 to reflect a reduction in the Active Travel
Fund grant from NECA.
114

Budget managers continue to challenge and review the programming
and phasing of works, which has resulted in the re-profiling of the
following budgets in line with anticipated activity in 2022/23:
(a)

AHS - £0.724 million was re-profiled from 2022/23 to 2023/24 for
the Hawthorn House Development scheme in Adult Care;

(b)

CYPS - £0.945 million has been re-profiled from 2022/23 into
2023/24 to cover expected expenditure on a number of schemes.
This includes £0.312 million for a new arrivals area and £0.115
million for a vandal resistant lift, both at Aycliffe Secure Centre,
£0.183 million for a window replacement scheme at Copeland
Road Primary and £0.335 million BSF contingency budget;

(c)

NCC - £2.605 million was re-profiled from 2022/23 into 2023/24.
Significant amounts include £1.240 million for works at Hardwick
Park, £0.850 million for the Leachate Treatment at Coxhoe East
Landfill scheme and £0.269 million for the Bearpark Community
Centre scheme;

(d)

REG - £7.916 million (net) has been re-profiled from 2022/23 into
2023/24. Significant amounts include Levelling Up Fund schemes
in the Bishop Auckland area, where £1.344 million for the
Locomotion Car Park and £1 million for Locomotion Walking &
Cycling will be re-profiled from 2022/23 to 2023/24 to reflect the
revised expenditure profile, along with £0.800 million for the
Bishop Auckland Town’s Deal - Infrastructure – Heritage Sites
scheme. Budget of £0.440 million has been re-profiled from
2022/23 to 2023/24 for TCF Walking & Cycling schemes in the
Northern and Eastern Corridors following a delivery review of TCF
schemes. £1 million of the budget for the Bishop Auckland
Town’s Deal – Newgate – Market Place scheme has been reprofiled from 2022/23 to 2023/24 to allow more time for the
identification and sign off of projects for design and delivery. In
Culture & Sport £1.790 million was re-profiled from 2022/23 to
2023/24 for Leisure Centre Transformation schemes at
Spennymoor (£1.300 million), Teesdale (£0.300 million) and
Riverside (£0.190 million) Leisure Centres due to delays to
programme start dates and;

(e)

Resources - £1.431 million (net) was re-profiled from 2022/23
into 2023/24. This includes £1 million for the Digital Durham Top
Up Scheme and £0.657 million for other Digital Durham schemes

Page 103

which was re-profiled from 2022/23 into 2023/24. £0.250 million
was re-profiled from 2023/24 to 2022/23 as a result of the
acceleration of the Hosted Environment Computing & Storage
scheme.
115

The following table summarises the recommended financing of the
revised capital programme:
Financed By:

Original
Budget
2022/23

Amendments
recommended
by MOWG

Revised
Budget
2022/23
Quarter 1

£ million

£ million

£ million

Grants and Contributions

98.623

-4.893

93.730

Revenue and Reserves

9.741

-1.229

8.512

Capital Receipts

9.058

-0.000

9.058

Borrowing

150.498

-6.259

144.239

TOTAL

267.920

-12.381

255.538

Council Tax and Business Rates Collection Funds
Council Tax
116

Council Tax is charged for all residential dwellings in bandings agreed
by the Valuation Office Agency, which is part of Her Majesty’s
Revenues and Customs (HMRC). Exemptions, reliefs and discounts are
awarded dependent upon the state of the property, its use and
occupiers’ personal circumstances.

117

The in year collection rate at 30 June 2022 was 27.81%, an
improvement on the position as at 30 June 2020 and 30 June 2021
when in-year recovery for 2020/221 ad 2021/22 stood at 27.72%.

118

The council is continuing to provide support to those impacted by
COVID-19 through Hardship payments of up to £150 for those in receipt
of council tax support who are still left with a bill to pay, with £1.315
million having been awarded to 30 June 2022.

119

The in-year collection rates at the end of quarter one for the current and
last two financial years, are detailed below:

Page 104

Billing Year

Position at 30 June
each Year %

2022/23

27.81

2021/22

27.72

2020/21

27.72

*Updated collection rate for payments made in 2022/23 for 2021/22
and 2020/21 liability.
120

The income shown in the Council Tax Collection Fund is the amount
collectable from council taxpayers in the long run, rather than the actual
cash collected in the year the charges are raised. Likely bad debts are
accounted for by maintaining a bad debt provision. The amount
estimated to be collectable is calculated each year by reference to the
actual council tax base for all domestic properties in the county
(schedule of all properties, discounts and reliefs) with an allowance for
non-collection.

121

The in year collection rates for Council Tax has increased from 2020/21
and 2021/22 following the re-instating of full formal recovery action from
June 2021, though are not yet back to pre-pandemic levels. Actual cash
collected as at 30 June 2022 was £88.829 million compared with
£84.050 million as at 30 June 2021. When the council tax increases for
2022/23 are factored in this represents a year on year real terms
increase of £0.913 million in terms of council tax income received.

122

Due to changes in the number of properties (including new build and
demolitions), eligibility of discounts and reliefs during the year, the
actual amount collectable increases or decreases from the estimate on
a day to day basis. In addition, adjustments for previous billing years
take place during each accounting year. All of these adjustments mean
that the actual amounts collected will always differ from the original
budget.

123

Such differences at the end of each accounting year, after taking into
account the calculated change required in the bad debt provision,
determines whether a surplus or deficit has arisen, which is then shared
proportionately between the council and its major preceptors, being
Durham Police Crime and Victim’s Commissioner and County Durham
and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority.

124

In July 2020 the government however, announced that repayments to
meet any collection fund deficits accrued in 2020/21 would be phased

Page 105

over a three-year period (2021/22 to 2023/24) to ease immediate
pressures on budgets.
125

Two thirds of the estimated total council tax element of the Collection
Fund deficit (total £5.720 million) has been accounted for during the
2021/22 and 2022/23 budget setting processes (£3.814 million, with the
council’s share totalling £3.224 million)

126

The 2022/23 forecast Collection Fund position includes the final third of
this spread deficit. The council’s share will be reflected within the
2023/24 budget.

127

In terms of the in year position for the council tax element of the
Collection Fund at 30 June 2022, the estimated outturn is a surplus of
£0.499 million, with the council’s share of the surplus being £0.420
million.

128

After taking into account the deficit of £1.907 million, the undeclared
2021/22 deficit of £2.589 million and the forecast in year surplus of
£0.499 million, the overall forecast for the council tax element of the
Collection Fund is a £2.090 million deficit. The council’s share of this
deficit is £1.758 million.

Page 106

£ million
Net Bills issued during Accounting Year 2022/23

381.501

LCTRS and previous years CTB adjustments

-60.722

Calculated change in provision for bad debts required and
write offs
Net income receivable (a)

-3.658
317.121

Precepts and Demands
Durham County Council

252.142

Parish and Town Councils

14.197

Durham Police Crime and Victim’s Commissioner

34.521

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority

15.762

Total Precepts and Demands (b)
Net Surplus / (-) Deficit for year (a) – (b)

316.622
0.499

Undeclared Surplus / (-) Deficit brought forward from
2021/22

-2.589

Estimated year end deficit

-2.090

Business Rates
129

Business Rates Retention was implemented in 2013/14 and the council
now has a vested budget interest and stake in the level of business rate
yield, as income generated from Business Rates is shared between
Central Government (50%), Durham County Council (49%) and County
Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority (1%). Therefore, it is
not only the accuracy and timeliness of bills levied and collected that is
monitored and audited, but also the level of income anticipated for the
year is important.

130

On 25 March 2021, the Government announced the introduction of the
COVID-19 Additional Relief Fund (CARF), to support businesses in
England affected by COVID-19, but not eligible for existing support
linked to business rates. This relief is compensated in full by Section 31
grant. The estimated value of this relief is £8.340 million.

131

The collection rate at 30 June 2022 was 32.88%, which is 5.28% points
above the same position last year. The in-year collection rates at the
Page 107

end of quarter one for the current and last two financial years, are as
follows:
Billing year

Position at 30 June
each Year %

2022/23

32.88

2021/22

27.63

2020/21

33.80

*Updated collection rate for payments made in 2022/23 for 2021/22
and 2020/21 liability.
132

In line with the position for council tax the repayments to meet any
collection fund deficits accrued in 2020/21 can be phased over a threeyear period (2021/22 to 2023/24) to ease immediate pressure upon the
2021/22 budget.

133

Two thirds of the total estimated business rates element of the
Collection Fund deficit (total £1.138 million) has been accounted for
during the 2021/22 and 2022/23 budget setting processes (£0.758
million, with the council’s share totalling £0.372 million)

134

In terms of the in year position for the business rate element of the
Collection Fund as at 30 June 2022, the estimated outturn for the year
is an in year deficit of £3.702 million of which the council’s 49% share is
£1.814 million.

135

After taking into account, the undeclared improvement in the 2021/22
position of £0.831 million and the forecast in year deficit of £3.702
million the overall forecast for the business rate element of the
Collection Fund is a £2.871 million deficit, of which the council’s share is
£1.407 million.

136

The total position for the business rate element of the Collection Fund
for 2022/23 is detailed in the following table.

Page 108

£ million
Net rate yield for 2022/23 including previous year adjustments
Estimate of changes due to appeals lodged and future appeals
Estimated losses in Collection – Provision for Bad Debts and
Write-offs
Net income receivable (a)

107.514
-1.784
-1.119
104.611

Agreed allocated shares:
Central Government (50%)

53.758

Durham County Council (49%)

52.683

County Durham and Darlington Fire and Rescue Authority (1%)

1.075

Cost of Collection Allowance and Renewable Energy (paid to
Durham County Council)

0.797

Total fixed payments (b)

108.313

Net deficit for year (a) – (b)

-3.702

Undeclared Surplus / (-) Deficit brought forward from
2021/22
Estimated year end deficit

137

0.831
-2.871

Taking into account the forecast positions at the end of quarter one for
council tax and business rates, alongside the receipt of Section 31 grant
for Covid additional Relief Fund (CARF), the overarching position for the
council in terms of the 2022/23 Collection Fund are as set out below,
which is an overall £0.840 million surplus.
£ million
Council Tax Deficit

-1.758

Business Rates Deficit

-1.407

Section 31 Grant (CARF)

4.005

NET SURPLUS

0.840

Page 109

Section 31 Grant - Small Business Rate Relief
138

Small business (ratepayers occupying with properties with rateable
values under £15,000) benefit from relief on their rates payable. The
government has awarded local authorities a Section 31 grant to cover
their share of the shortfall in business rates that these small business
ratepayers would have paid had the relief scheme not been in place.

139

Small business ratepayers with properties with rateable values up to
£12,000 are now being granted full relief, and properties with rateable
values between £12,000 and £15,000 have a tapered relief applied to
them ranging from 100% down to 0%.

140

The government has agreed to pay Section 31 grant for any additional
small business rate relief in respect of business rates bills and
adjustments thereof relating to the period commencing 1 April 2013.
Any adjustments that relate to bills for years prior to this will be dealt
with as part of the normal rate retention shares.

141

At 30 June 2022, the gross small business relief awarded against the
2022/23 business rates bills and adjustments to 2013/14 to 2021/22 bills
is £18.345 million, and the council will receive £6.401 million in Section
31 grant, including the capping adjustment and threshold change
adjustments, in this regard.

Other Section 31 Grants
142

In the Autumn Statement 2016, Spring Budget 2017 and Autumn
Statement 2018 additional business rate relief schemes were
announced on which Section 31 grants would be payable. These relief
schemes include Rural Rate Relief and Local Newspaper Reliefs,
Supporting Small Business, Local Discretionary Relief Scheme, Pub
Relief and Retail Relief Schemes. In 2021 the Non-Domestic Rating
(Public Lavatories) Bill came into force which gives public lavatories
100% relief from business rates, this applies retrospectively from 1 April
2020. Funding for these schemes is provided through Section 31 grants.

143

When assessing estimated outturn income from business rates, due
regard must also be given on the effect that changes in estimated reliefs
will have on the Section 31 grants.

Update on Progress towards achieving MTFP(12) savings
144

Page 110

The delivery of the MTFP(12) agreed savings considers:
(a)

the duties under the Equality Act;

(b)

appropriate consultation;

(c)

the HR implications of the change including consultation with
employees and trade unions;

(d)

communication of the change and the consultation results;

(e)

sound risk management.

145

MTFP(12) savings proposals for 2022/23, agreed by County Council on
23 February 2022 total £2.427 million.

146

At 30 June 2022, savings totalling £1.917 million, representing 79% of
the £2.427 million total savings target have been delivered.

Consultation
147

There has not been any public consultation on any of the MTFP(12)
proposals in the last quarter.

HR implications
148

The numbers of employees leaving through voluntary redundancy, early
retirement and ER/VR during quarter one of MTFP(12) are too low (one)
to effectively analyse. Similarly in terms of race and disability, numbers
are too low to effectively analyse.

149

There have been no employees leaving through compulsory
redundancy.

150

Since 2011, equality data relating to staff leaving through voluntary
redundancy, showed that 65.6% were female and 34.4% were male.
The higher proportion of female leavers is likely due to the exercises
which took place in previous years which focused on traditionally female
occupied professions, (these included the closure of care homes,
reduction in service in the Pathways and Youth service and a
restructure and change of working pattern for Care Connect). This is
also reflective of the council’s overall gender balance in terms of
employees.

151

In terms of race, since 2011, 45.62% of leavers had not disclosed their
ethnicity, with 53.97% stating that they were white British or white
English. Regarding disability status 2.96% said they had a disability,
13.31% had no disability and 83.73% did not disclose their disability
status.

Equality Impact Assessments (EIA)
152

Services have completed EIA screenings and assessments where
necessary as part of the decision-making process for 2022/23
MTFP(12) proposals.

Page 111

153

Projects to deliver growth proposals will be supported to ensure robust
planning and that EIA screening are also completed.

Other useful documents


County Council – 23 February 2022 – Medium Term Financial
Plan 2022/23 to 20254/26 and Revenue and Capital Budget
2021/22



Cabinet – 13 July 2022 - 2021/22 Final Outturn for the General
Fund and Collection Fund



Cabinet – 13 July 2022 – MTFP(13) 2023/24 -2026/27 and review
of the Local Council Tax Reduction Scheme

Author
Jeff Garfoot

Page 112

Tel: 03000 261946

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The consideration of regular budgetary control reports is a key component of
the council’s Corporate and Financial Governance arrangements. This report
shows the forecast spend against budgets agreed by Council in February
2022 in relation to the 2022/23 financial year. The forecasts contained within
this report have been prepared in accordance with standard accounting
policies and procedures.

Finance
The report details the 2022/23 forecast of outturn position for Revenue and
Capital and details the forecast movement on reserves.

Consultation
None.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Climate Change
None.

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
None.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
The figures contained within this report have been extracted from the General
Ledger, and have been scrutinised and supplemented with information
supplied by the Service Management Teams and budget holders. The
projected outturn has been produced taking into consideration spend to date,

Page 113

trend data and market intelligence, and includes an element of prudence.
This, together with the information supplied by Service Management Teams
and budget holders, helps to mitigate the risks associated with achievement of
the forecast outturn position.

Procurement
None.

Page 114

Appendix 2: Revenue Summary 2022/23
Original
Budget
2022/23

£'000
Adult and Health Services
Children and Young People's Services
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
Regeneration, Economy and Growth
Resources

136,741
141,886
112,985
54,934
25,249

Cash Limit Position

Proposed
Contribution Contribution
Budget Budget
to / Use of
to / Use of incorporating
Revisions,
Cash Limit
Earmarked adjustments
including
Reserve
Reserves
sums outside
the cash limit
£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Service
Groupings
Forecast of
Outturn

Forecasted
Variance

£'000

£'000

Adjustment for inflationary-related sums outside the cash
limit included in Forecast of Outturn
Energy

Waste

Transport
Fuel

Home to
School
Transport

Pay Inflation
22/23

Forecasted
Variance
excluding
Inflationary
sums

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

-323
1,800
773
3,448
-185

1,398
0
259
100
292

377
19,102
2,106
-894
476

138,193
162,788
116,123
57,588
25,832

138,058
170,497
119,506
63,908
27,739

-135
7,709
3,383
6,320
1,907

-28
-352
-885
-3,713
55

0
0
61
0
0

0
0
-865
-600
0

0
-1,283
0
0
0

-900
-1,209
-1,383
-1,199
-1,823

-1,063
4,865
311
808
139

471,795

5,513

2,049

21,167

500,524

519,708

19,184

-4,923

61

-1,465

-1,283

-6,514

5,060

17,078
3,816

-5,261
-36

0

408

11,817
4,188

11,817
4,085

0
-103

0

0

0

0

0

0
-103

NET COST OF SERVICES

492,689

216

2,049

21,575

516,529

535,610

19,081

-4,923

61

-1,465

-1,283

-6,514

4,957

Capital charges
DSG deficit reserve adjustment
Interest and Investment income
Interest payable and similar charges
Levies

-61,873
0
-2,900
48,780
16,176

-430
9

-61,873
205
-2,900
48,350
16,185

-61,873
205
-4,838
45,850
16,185

0
0
-1,938
-2,500
0

Net Expenditure

492,872

0

516,496

531,139

14,643

-252,142
-46,647
9,788
-52,873
-72,780
-29,100
-4,082
-25,026
-30,955
-786
-8,776
-3,117
0

-252,142
-56,647
9,788
-52,873
-72,780
-29,100
-4,082
-25,026
-30,955
-786
-8,776
-3,312
-4,448

0
-10,000
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
-195
-4,448

-516,496
0

-531,139
0

-14,643
0

Contingencies
Corporate Costs

Funded By:
Council tax
Use of earmarked reserves
Estimated net surplus (-) / deficit on Collection Fund
Business Rates
Top up grant
Revenue Support Grant
New Homes Bonus
Section 31 Grant
Adult/Childrens Pressures Grant
Lower Tier Services Grant
Services Grant
Forecast contribution to/from (-) Cash Limit Reserve
Forecast contribution to/from (-) General Reserves

-252,142
-25,072
9,788
-52,873
-72,780
-29,100
-4,082
-25,026
-30,955
-786
-8,776
-1,068
0

Total Funding
TOTAL

-492,872
0

205

2,049

21,575

-21,575

-2,049
0
0

-2,049
0

-21,575
0

0
0
-1,938
-2,500
0
-4,923

61

-1,465

-1,283

-6,514

4,923

-61

1,465

1,283

2,390

4,923
0

-61
0

1,465
0

1,283
0

2,390
-4,124

519
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
-195
-4,448
-4,643
-4,124

Page 115

Page 116

Appendix 3: Revenue Summary by Expenditure / Income 2022/23
Original
Budget
2022/23

£'000
Employees
Premises
Transport
Supplies & Services
Agency & Contracted
Transfer Payments
Central Costs
DRF
Other
Capital Charges
GROSS EXPENDITURE
Income
Government Grants
Other Grants and Contributions
Sales
Fees and Charges
Rents
Recharges To Other Services
Other
Total Income
NET EXPENDITURE

Proposed
Contribution Contribution
Budget Service
Budget
to / Use of
to / Use of incorporating Groupings
Earmarked adjustments Forecast of
Revisions,
Cash Limit
Reserve
Reserves
including
Outturn
sums outside
the cash limit

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Corporate
Costs
Forecast of
Outturn

Forecast of
Outturn
(including
Corporate
Costs)

Forecasted
Variance
(including
Corporate
Costs)

Forecasted
Variance Corporate
Costs

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Adjustment for inflationary-related sums outside the cash limit included
in Forecast of Outturn
Energy

Waste

Transport
Fuel

Home to
School
Transport

Pay Inflation
22/23

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

Forecasted
Variance
excluding
Inflationary
sums

£'000

538,082
50,177
51,360
115,120
497,612
149,152
132,392
734
4
61,873

2,240
2,318
111
-533
10,266
37
-14,475
1,261
0
0

662
0
0
1,003
125
0
0
259
0
0

2,584
0
0
623
-319
65
18,081
0
0
0

543,568
52,495
51,471
116,213
507,684
149,254
135,998
2,254
4
61,873

544,082
58,616
55,509
120,712
506,246
148,899
136,860
2,277
-2
61,873

325
-35
0
1,121
2,320
456
268
0
0
0

544,407
58,581
55,509
121,833
508,566
149,355
137,128
2,277
-2
61,873

839
6,086
4,038
5,620
882
101
1,130
23
-6
0

-3
0
0
-119
263
284
-258
0
0
0

0
-6,033
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
61
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
-865
0
-600
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
-1,283
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

-6,514
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0
0

-5,675
53
1,890
5,620
343
101
1,130
23
-6
0

1,596,506

1,225

2,049

21,034

1,620,814

1,635,072

4,455

1,639,527

18,713

167

-6,033

61

-1,465

-1,283

-6,514

3,479

599,030
85,822
6,788
108,377
10,433
302,674
7,771

-15,538
3,149
-532
1,207
281
4,856
2,325

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

-625
-72
0
391
0
-235
0

582,867
88,899
6,256
109,975
10,714
307,295
10,096

588,664
90,443
5,595
109,063
12,635
298,166
10,798

284
0
120
-34
0
0
0

588,948
90,443
5,715
109,029
12,635
298,166
10,798

6,081
1,544
-541
-946
1,921
-9,129
702

-284
0
-20
34
0
0
0

0
0
0
-1,110
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

0
0
0
0
0
0
0

6,081
1,544
-541
-2,056
1,921
-9,129
702

1,120,895

-4,252

0

-541

1,116,102

1,115,364

370

1,115,734

-368

-270

-1,110

0

0

0

0

-1,478

475,611

5,477

2,049

21,575

504,712

519,708

4,085

523,793

19,081

-103

-4,923

61

-1,465

-1,283

-6,514

4,957

Appendix 4: Earmarked Reserves Position as at 30 June 2022

EARMARKED RESERVES AND
CASH LIMIT RESERVES

SERVICE
GROUPING

OPENING
BALANCE

USE OF
RESERVES

CONTRIBUTION
TO RESERVES

TRANSFERS
BETWEEN
RESERVES

TOTAL
MOVEMENT ON
RESERVES

CLOSING
BALANCE
AT 31/03/23

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

EARMARKED RESERVES AND CASH LIMIT RESERVES
Corporate Reserves
Budget Support Reserve
Corporate
Business Support Reserve
Corporate
Cabinet Priorities Reserve
Corporate
Commercialisation Support Reserve
Corporate
Equal Pay Reserve
Corporate
ER/VR Reserve
Corporate
Feasibility Study Reserve
Corporate
Inspire Programme Reserve
Corporate
Insurance Reserve
Corporate
Levelling Up Feasibility Reserve
Corporate
MTFP Reserve
Corporate
Recovery Support Reserve
Corporate
Resources DWP Grant Reserve
Corporate
Resources Elections Reserve
Corporate
Resources Housing Benefit Subsidy Reserve
Corporate
Total Corporate Reserves

-10,000
-1,623
-10,000
-5,634
-9,479
-6,044
-500
-121
-5,000
-850
-15,162
-1,654
-4,577
-1,091
-1,962
-73,697

Sums held for other organisations/grants
Collection Fund Deficit Reserve
Local Taxation Income Guarantee Reserve
North Pennines AONB Partnership Reserve
Public Health Reserves
Resources Council Tax Hardship Reserve
Resources COVID-19 Support Grants
Social Care Reserve - Community Discharge Grant
Social Care Reserve - CCG
Total Sums held for other organisations/grants

Corporate
Corporate
NCC
AHS
Resources
Resources
AHS
AHS

-9,166
-710
-1,623
-6,538
-3,411
-828
-428
-19,479
-42,183

Other Specific Reserves
Business Growth Fund Reserve
Children's Services Reserve
Community Protection Reserve
Corporate Property & Land Reserve
Culture and Sport Reserve
Economic Development Reserve
Education Reserve
Employability and Training Reserve
Environmental Services Reserve
Funding and Programmes Management Reserve
Grant Reserve
Housing Regeneration Reserve
Housing Solutions Reserve
Operational Reserve
Partnerships and Community Engagement Reserve
Planning Reserve
Regional Public Health Reserve
REG Match Fund Programme Reserve
Resources Corporate Reserve
Resources Customer Services Reserve
Resources Financial Services Reserve
Resources Grant Reserve
Resources Human Resources Reserves
Resources ICT Reserves
Resources Internal Audit & Corporate Fraud Reserve
Resources Legal Reserves
Resources Operational Reserve
Resources Operations and Data Reserve
Resources Registrars Trading Reserve
Resources Revenue and Benefits Reserve
Resources System Development Reserve
Resources Transformation Reserve
Social Care Reserve - Specific Purpose
Technical Services Reserve
Town and Villages Regeneration Reserve
Transport Reserve
Total Other Specific Reserves

REG
CYPS
NCC
REG
REG
REG
CYPS
REG
NCC
REG
REG
REG
REG
REG
NCC
REG
AHS
REG
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
Resources
AHS
NCC
REG
REG

TOTAL EARMARKED RESERVES

10,000
25
7,097
637

10,000
25
7,097
637

1,010

-253

1,559
888

-480

21,216

-480

1,559
408

-253

8,812
355

0

-454
-3,961
-3,562
-2,763
-19,228
-3,635
-16,697
-323
-4,886
-581
-86
-255
-4,746
-282
-10,812
-247
-5,336
-605
-558
-250
-244
-154
-397
-1,256
-197
-709
-97
-40
0
-857
-197
-586
-2,732
-1,410
-18,447
-1,494
-108,084

10,816

-1,134
-2,734

-223,964

42,189

-3,214

958
372
19
360
193
149

20,483

8,812
355

979

11
10,157

757

383

1,362

383

11
10,540

-52
16

183
2,005
184
3,375
-1,186
8,098

146

39,121

-184,843

-120
253

537
252
19
-377
193
149

1,056

1,056

226
50
798
49

226
50
798
-400
49

255

255

193
19
67
61

193
19
67
61

30

30

360

360

-400

273
1,953

-354
-355
-1,623
-5,176
-3,411
-828
-428
-19,468
-31,643

-454
-3,424
-3,310
-2,744
-19,605
-3,442
-16,548
-323
-3,830
-581
-86
-255
-4,520
-232
-10,014
-647
-5,287
-605
-303
-250
-244
-154
-204
-1,237
-130
-648
-97
-10
0
-497
-197
-403
-727
-1,226
-15,072
-2,680
-99,986

-421

-990

0
-1,598
-2,903
-4,997
-9,479
-6,044
-500
-121
-5,000
-93
-15,162
-95
-4,169
-1,091
-1,962
-53,214

-90
52
184

3,375

Page 117

EARMARKED RESERVES AND
CASH LIMIT RESERVES

SERVICE
GROUPING

Cash Limit Reserves
Adult and Health Services
Children and Young People's Services
Neighbourhoods and Climate Change
Regeneration, Economy and Growth
Resources
Total Cash Limit Reserves
Total Council Reserves
Schools' Balances
Schools' Revenue Balance
DSG Reserve
Total Schools and DSG Reserves

CYPS
CYPS

OPENING
BALANCE

USE OF
RESERVES

CONTRIBUTION
TO RESERVES

TRANSFERS
BETWEEN
RESERVES

TOTAL
MOVEMENT ON
RESERVES

CLOSING
BALANCE
AT 31/03/23

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

£'000

-6,149
0
-1,457
-2,868
-1,091
-11,565

1,529
-4,865
964
100
525
-1,747

-1,063
4,865
311
808
139
5,060

-235,529

40,442

1,846

-31,219
-3,056
-34,275

17,673
17,673

0

38

504

-184

-146

1,091
908
664
3,167

-5,645
0
-366
-1,960
-427
-8,398

0

42,288

-193,241

0

17,673
0
17,673

-13,546
-3,056
-16,602

*Schools Revenue opening balance of £31.219 million includes £2.567 million of balances relating to schools that converted to academy during
the year

Page 118

Agenda Item 7

Cabinet
14 September 2022
Corporate Parenting Panel Annual
Report 2021-22
Report of Corporate Management Team
Councillor Ted Henderson, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Children
and Young People’s Services
Councillor Mamie Simmons, Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

The purpose of this report is to present the Corporate Parenting Panel
Annual Report April 2021 – March 2022 (attached as Appendix 2), for
endorsement.

2

The Annual Report 2021-22 was agreed by the Corporate Parenting
Panel at its meeting on 19 July 2022.

Executive summary
3

Over previous years, a number of changes have been implemented to
strengthen political and management oversight of the Corporate
Parenting Panel and increase the voice of children and young people in
our work. This continues to ensure the best possible outcomes are
achieved for our young people.

4

The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference form part of
Durham County Council’s constitution and make specific reference that
the Corporate Parenting Panel will prepare and provide an annual
report that will be shared with Council, Cabinet and Scrutiny.

5

This is the fifth Annual Report of the Corporate Parenting Panel,
following the changes to political oversight.

Recommendations
6

Cabinet is requested to:
(a)

Note the content of the Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report

Page 119

(b)

Page 120

Endorse the Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report

Background
7

The terms of reference make specific reference that the Corporate
Parenting Panel will prepare and provide an annual report that will be
shared with Council, Cabinet and Scrutiny.

8

In September 2019, Durham County Council’s Children’s Services were
inspected by OFSTED. The inspection report stated that ‘The
Corporate Parenting Panel is effective and is maintaining good political
and strategic governance of children in care and care leavers.’

9

In July 2021, Durham County Council were subject to a remote focused
inspection led by Children’s Services and Skills on behalf of Ofsted’s
work into how England’s social care system delivered child-centred
practice and care within the context of the restrictions placed on society
during the coronavirus pandemic.

10

The inspection identified a range of strengths and recognised that the
service knows its children well, with Ofsted commenting that the selfassessment provided an accurate picture of children in care.

11

The processes in place to listen to the views of children and young
people and to ensure their views positively impact service delivery were
acknowledged. Inspectors were extremely complimentary about the
Children in Care Council, having had the opportunity to meet
representatives, to hear about their experiences and achievements.

12

This has also been echoed in the recent ILACS (Inspection of Local
Authority Children’s Services) inspection, which took place in May 2022.

Development of the Annual Report
13

To ensure the voice of the child is reflected in the work of the Corporate
Parenting Panel, it was agreed that young people from the Children in
Care Council, supported by officers from the Partnerships Team, would
develop the Corporate Parenting Panel’s Annual Reports.

14

The young people worked on the design, content and language of the
Annual Report to ensure it is easy to read and understand.

15

To ensure we continue to raise the profile of the Corporate Parenting
Panel, the Durham County Council Communications and Marketing
Team have been involved in the development of the Annual Report to
ensure it follows a more corporate format, whilst ensuring it uses
language and design which is also appealing to young people.

16

The Annual Report is hosted on the Durham County Council website,
Investing in Children website, and the Children in Care Council website.

Page 121

17

The Annual Report includes information on:
(a)

What a Corporate Parent is

(b)

The role of the Corporate Parenting Panel

(c)

The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference

(d)

Key performance data

(e)

Achievements during 2021/22

(f)

Priorities for 2022/23

Next Steps
18

19

Cabinet is requested to note the following key dates for the Corporate
Parenting Panel Annual Report:
(a)

Council: 21 September, for information

(b)

Children and Young People’s Overview and Scrutiny Committee:
23 September 2022, for information

The Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report has already been
presented to Children’s Social Care Management Team, Children and
Young People’s Services Management Team and Corporate
Management Team for comment.

Conclusion
20

Cabinet is recommended to endorse the Corporate Parenting Panel
Annual Report which provides oversight of the work undertaken during
2021-22, and the priorities for the year ahead.

Author:
Martyn Stenton

Tel: 03000 268067

Jayne Watson

Tel: 03000 268371

Page 122

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The Corporate Parenting Panel’s Terms of Reference form part of Durham
County Council’s Constitution.

Finance
There are cost implications for design and print services, however the
Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report will primarily be shared by email,
and will be hosted on the Children in Care Council, Investing in Children and
Durham County Council websites to minimise printing and distribution costs.

Consultation
Young people from the Children in Care Council have been involved in the
development of the Annual Report. The consultation has been done in the
main through virtual meetings coordinated by Investing in Children, due to the
Coronavirus pandemic and lockdown restrictions.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
Looked After Services are available to all children and young people in line
with legal duties.

Climate Change
There are no climate change implications

Human Rights
Children and young people have been central to the development of the
Annual Report to ensure that their voices are heard.

Crime and Disorder
There are no crime and disorder implications.

Staffing
There are no staffing implications.

Accommodation
There are no accommodation implications.

Risk
There are no risk implications.

Procurement
There are no procurement implications.

Page 123

Appendix 2: Corporate Parenting Panel Annual Report 2021-22

Attached as a separate document

Page 124

County Durham

Corporate Parenting Panel
Annual Report

April 2021 - March 2022
Page 125

Contents Contents
Message from the Children in Care Council (CICC) representatives....... 4
Message from the Chair!.......................................................................... 4
What is a corporate parent? .................................................................... 5
Why are children in care?......................................................................... 5
Where are children in care?..................................................................... 5
Role of the Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP).......................................... 6
C P P responsibilities................................................................................. 6
Updates against 2021/22 priorities .......................................................... 7
Priorities for 2022-23 ............................................................................. 10
Children in Care (CICC)......................................................................... 10
Ofsted inspections.................................................................................. 12
Celebrate Me event ............................................................................... 12
Care day 2022........................................................................................ 13
Children’s Social Care Teams................................................................ 13
Independent Visitors............................................................................... 14
Children with disabilities ........................................................................ 15
Supporting Solutions Service ............................................................... 16
Unaccompanied Asylum Seeking Children (UASC) .............................. 17
Fostering Friendly Award........................................................................ 17
Fostering Services ................................................................................. 18
Children’s homes.................................................................................... 20
Regulation 44 / elected members........................................................... 20
Adoption................................................................................................. 21

Page 126

DCC Adoption/Service............................................................................ 22
Care Leavers.......................................................................................... 23
Local Offer to Care Leavers................................................................... 23
Midwifery offer to care experienced young people ................................ 24
Supported lodgings ............................................................................... 24
Drive project........................................................................................... 24
Care Leavers hub .................................................................................. 24
Health..................................................................................................... 25
Virtual School........................................................................................ 27
Language............................................................................................... 27
Education/Employment & Training ........................................................ 28
Aycliffe Secure Centre............................................................................ 30
Proud moments...................................................................................... 32
Achievements......................................................................................... 34
Contact details........................................................................................ 35

Page 127

Message from
the Children in
Care Council
(CICC)
representatives
I have been a part of the
Corporate Parenting Panel
for just under a year and it’s
been one of the many
highlights I have achieved
with Durham’s CICC over
the years alongside
Investing in Children.
Having the opportunity to be
on the panel, has allowed
me to build up my
confidence by speaking to
elected members in County
Hall by sharing my own and
other care experienced
children and young people’s
thoughts and opinions about
what we think needs to be
done within the care system,
and in Durham.
Caitlyn
Co-opted member

Message from
the Chair!

Councillor Mamie Simmons
Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel

As Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel, I would like to thank
everyone for their continued commitment during what has been
another very challenging year.
The country was at the height of the pandemic as the financial
year commenced and the impact of the Coronavirus pandemic
continued to impact on the delivery of services, both in County
Durham and across the whole of England.
In Durham, staff, partners and volunteers have worked extremely
hard and have adapted so well ensuring we were able to respond
to the outbreak and to the changing rules and restrictions to
ensure that all children, young people and their carers received
the best possible help, advice and support.
The young people themselves have
demonstrated tremendous resilience and
have adapted, and often kept us right as we
got used to new ways of communicating.
I am pleased to introduce the Corporate
Parenting Panel’s fifth annual report, which
outlines the work undertaken across the
service to help us understand and respond
to need, ensuring our young people have
the best possible opportunities available to
them. March 2022

Councillor Michelle Walton
Vice Chair of the Corporate
Parenting Panel

Working with the Corporate Parenting Panel has been an honour, me
and Caitlyn being chosen as the young people to represent IIC and
giving us the opportunity to talk with all the managers that I aspire to,
has been great.
Personally it has helped me massively with building confidence in
presenting to others and is a unique and great experience to mention
in my CV.
Out of everything I have been able to do with IIC, the CPP has
definitely pushed me outside of my comfort zone the most and I’m
forever grateful to show my passion for the future of young children
to make sure their experience of foster care is the best it can be.
Luke
Co-opted member
Page 128

4

What is a corporate parent?
Local Authorities must provide the care, support, and security that
young people need if they can’t stay at home safely and become
the young people’s ‘corporate parent’.
Being a corporate parent isn’t just up to the Corporate Parenting
Panel, everyone should be looking out for our children and young
people, and every councillor and council employee has a role to
play as the eyes and ears of the community.
Being a corporate parent means doing whatever we can to
support young people in our care and our care leavers, to help
them achieve their full potential and have the best possible
outcomes. This sometimes means being a corporate grandparent
too.

Why are children in care?

Where are children in
care?

Young people are looked after for a variety of
reasons including neglect and abuse. They
could also be in care if their parents are
unable to look after them because of their
own complex health needs or behaviours.
Some young people have no parents to care
for them, or they could be unaccompanied
asylum seekers.

Children and young people can be in care in
a range of settings, including foster care,
children’s homes, supported lodgings, and
secure accommodation – the council is
corporate parent to all of them.

Page 129

5

Role of the Corporate Parenting Panel (CPP)
The CPP is a group that is part of the council, which is called a committee. It has 21 councillors as
well as council officers. There are also 10 other members, including school representatives and
young people’s representatives to make sure there’s a broad range of experience and knowledge and
that children and young people are heard, and actively responded to.
Corporate parents have responsibility to act for the children and young people in our care as a parent
would for their own child, and should ask three key questions:

1.
If this were
my child would
it be good
enough?

2.
If I were that
child would it
have been
good enough
for me?

3.
How could I
make it even
better?

C P P responsibilities
There are a number of things which the CPP must do:

✓ Make sure the Council acts as a good corporate parent to children and young people in care and
care leavers, including:

•
•
•

Young people in residential care, foster care and supported lodgings
Young people placed for adoption or placed at home under care planning, placement, and case
review regulations
Young people in secure homes or in custody

✓ Engage and listen to the views of children, young people and their carers.
✓ Work in partnership with other agencies to make improvements for our children and young people
in care.

✓ Oversee the virtual school for looked after children and young people. For more information visit

http://www.durham.gov.uk/durhamvirtualschool. A sub-group has been established to lead on this
work.

✓ Oversee Aycliffe Secure Services. Sub-groups have been established to lead on this work.
More information on the Corporate Parenting Panel can be found in the constitution of Durham
County Council
Page 130

6

Updates against 2021/22 priorities
What we said we
would focus on

Where we are now

What young
people think

Transport

Discussions have taken place with colleges about bus pass
deductions from care experienced young people’s bursaries.
New College Durham will no longer deduct these, and further
conversations are taking place with the remaining college.
Durham County Council have awarded all care experienced
young people in County Durham who are in years 12 and 13 an
‘all time top up bus pass’ to use anytime, not just when they’re
going to college. Additional money is also available to extend
this to young people who attend college outside of County
Durham.
Further discussions around access to public transport are
continuing into 2022/23.

Consistent use of
child friendly
language

Six monthly language updates have been incorporated into the
CPP work programme

Happy

Young people feel
that lots has been
done but that this is
an important area
and there’s more to
progress

Happy

Staff are using language that young people understand, which
is familiar to them for example, if a young person refers to their
grandmother as ‘nanny’ then that term is used in their Care
Plan.

The feedback from
Other changes include ‘family time’ as an alternative to ‘contact’ young people is that
these small
and ‘home’ instead of ‘placement
personalised
It was acknowledged that this is an ongoing exercise and
changes mean a
young people continue to challenge and encourage us to use
great deal to them
‘young-person friendly’ language, where it is appropriate, as an
alternative to professional terms.
Care Experienced Unfortunately, due to the impact of the Covid pandemic, and
Young Inspectors the pressures and developments in residential services, work
programme
against this action has not been progressed, however this will
be picked up for 2022-23.
Discussions have recently taken place about also establishing
a young people’s scrutiny panel where young people would ask
questions, review services and make recommendations for
improvements. The internal children’s homes and fostering
teams as well as commissioned providers would be part of this
process.
The young people’s scrutiny panel will be picked up as a
priority area for 2022-23

Unhappy

Young people were
disappointed that
this project hadn’t
progressed but look
forward to getting
involved in both the
Young Inspectors
programme and the
scrutiny panel and
suggesting areas of
focus for these.
Page 131

7

What we said we
would focus on

Where we are now

What young
people think

Sessional
employment -paid
opportunities with
DCC

We offer Care Leavers the opportunity of paid work experience
placements in Durham County Council.
To support this, a Sessional Employment Co-ordinator was
appointed in July 2021 and joint recruitment processes have
been developed.
Ten young people have placements agreed and further
placements are anticipated.
In addition, an agreement is also in place for a ‘Benefits
Calculator’ to be completed by Welfare Rights for each Care
Leaver.
More information is available in the Employment, Education &
Training (EET) section in the annual report.

Happy

Family time

In response to young people’s feedback we have reviewed
family time spaces, and all family time plans.
As a result we have updated some of the venues we use, and
have stopped using some of the venues. We have also made
requests for new family time venues.
We are also working with a group of young people who are
helping us to make some of our venues more ‘teenager
friendly’.
We explained Covid rules as best as we could so that young
people knew about and understood social distancing and the
rules around this when meeting their families.
Across the service we have implemented a renewed focus on
making sure that everyone understands their family time plan
after Covid implications.

Just ok y

Support for Care
Leavers post 16

In response to feedback we have reviewed our Local Offer in
comparison with national Care Leavers offers, and have made
sure that young people know that our Local Offer to Care
Leavers is easily available on the internet.
We have reminded young people that the DurhamWorks offer
is included in the information given to Care Leavers, including
the job interview offer. This has been shared at CICC meetings
and with the Corporate Parenting Panel.
Our transport offer for college students has improved with the
majority of colleges now offering bus passes. In addition, all
students in years 12 and 13 have been offered an all time top
up bus pass, to use for non-college travel.
Care leavers are eligible for Freedom Cards, which offers a
range of discounts and free activities, including swim and gym
use, and in addition our wider financial offer for care leavers is
being reviewed.

Happy

We have a dedicated Care Leavers team, and have recently
opened our first Care leavers hub, offering a safe place for
young people to gather, socialise, do laundry, bathe, and
access free meals.
Page 132

8

What we said we
would focus on

Where we are now

What young
people think

Challenging
stigma and
discrimination for
young people in
care

The Art Stops project has been hugely successful, and has helped
to increase positive images and reduce stigma of Care
Experience young people across the region. Opportunities to
expand this project are being considered.
At each CPP meeting we celebrate the success of our young
people and share ‘proud moments’
The use of language is a regular agenda item at social work team
meetings, and six monthly language updates come to CPP
meetings giving the young people an opportunity to share their
thoughts on how things are going and what could be improved, as
it is acknowledged that this is ever changing, and should be based
on young people’s personal preferences using language that is
familiar to them.
Films have been produced by young people, showcasing some of
the issues that are important to them. These have and will
continue to be shared appropriately to increase awareness.
Meetings have taken place with community midwives to discuss
how care experienced young people who are parents can be
supported, and awareness is being raised about the corporate
grandparenting role.
Police Community Support Officer (PCSO) training has been
undertaken by the CICC to raise awareness of care experienced
young people within the Police service, and in addition PCSO
‘buddies’ have been aligned to our children’s homes to build
positive relationships between the police and young people.
A range of foster care training is delivered by care experienced
young people to potential foster carers so that they understand
things from the young people’s perspective from the outset. We
also host the Fostering Stars Awards to showcase success.
Some young people met with Josh McAlister, chair of the
independent review of children’s social care to share their views,
and a young person’s ‘care experience story’ was shared with him
to feed into the review, as well as the story being shared as part of
care day 2022.
More information on the independent review can be found
HERE

Just ok

Page 133

9

Priorities for 2022-23
The following areas were identified by
young people for 2022-23:

Each year, young people choose key priority
areas that they would like the service and the
Corporate Parenting Panel to focus on. It was
agreed that the young people would identify key
areas and share these with the CPP members
at the six monthly joint CICC / CPP meetings.

•
•
•

It was felt that this would be a good balance, in
order to keep things achievable and to enable
us to focus on these areas and provide regular
updates to the young people.

Personalised Care
Staff in Children’s Homes and Foster carers
Family Time

As well as these continuing priorities:

•
•
•

Broaden and increase attendance at CICC
meetings
Establish a Young Inspectors programme
and a Young People’s scrutiny panel
Transport

In order to increase the representative voice of
the Children in Care Council all children in care
will be given the opportunity to identify from
these areas their order of priority and this will
direct the plan of work moving forwards.

Children in Care (CICC)
Co-opted positions for CICC
members

The CICC is a group for children and young
people who are looked after in County Durham
and is supported by Investing in Children. The
CICC members meet monthly to talk about
issues which are important to them, highlight
what works and share stories of the support
they have received. This forum is well
established, and has recently been split into
older and younger groups as there were so may
attendees, and the two age groups often had
different priorities.

Two young people from the CICC have coopted positions on the CPP providing panel
representation from the CICC. They attend
each meeting (supported by Investing in
Children) to share feedback from the CICC. In
addition, the CICC have a standing item on
each CPP agenda, where they provide
feedback from CICC meetings, ensuring
members of the CPP hear real views and
feedback directly from the young people. The
young people are involved in decision making
within the CPP, and this feedback is shared with
relevant leads to influence service decisions
and developments as necessary.

Senior managers from within Children and
Young People’s Services and elected members
who are on the Corporate Parenting Panel
(CPP) regularly attend CICC meetings.
More information on the CICC can be found at
https://www.durhamcicc.co.uk/

Page 134

10

Joint CICC/CPP meetings

CICC catch ups

In addition to the formal CPP meetings,
children and young people from the CICC
(supported by Investing in Children) host a
joint meeting with the CPP every six months.

During 2020, CPP meetings were cancelled
due to Covid restrictions so virtual monthly
meetings were set up with the CICC, the
Chair and Vice Chair of the CPP, the Head of
Children’s Social Care and some of the senior
managers from the service so that young
people were still able to have contact with the
Panel on a regular basis.

The young people set the agenda for the
meeting and invite members and officers of
the CPP to attend to meet with the CICC.
These meetings are less formal than the CPP
meeting and provide an opportunity for all of
the young people who are part of the CICC to
raise issues which are important to them and
have discussions directly with members and
officers of the CPP and have their ideas,
suggestions and comments heard.

Young people found these meetings really
valuable and so when the CPP meetings were
re-started a decision was taken to continue
these meetings virtually on a bi- monthly basis
to maintain regular contact with the CICC and
the CPP leads.
Some of the things we discussed at these
meetings were:

Feedback from the discussions is collated
and key issues are presented at a formal CPP
meeting, for further discussion. Work takes
place to address these issues within the
service, and feedback is provided to the CICC
at the next joint meeting.

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

IRO work
Use of language
Social worker profiles
Understanding PEPs and the PP+ project
Apprenticeships and job opportunities
Brothers and sisters and the importance of
staying together or maintaining contact
Independent review of Children’s Social
Care
Police work
Peer mentoring
Artstops project
Bus Pass deductions from College
Bursaries

CICC Newsletters
Young people from the CICC produce newsletters, which are shared with partners across the
service, with children, young people and their families and with the CPP.
DCC continue to support CICC with the newsletter on a monthly basis and Durham County
Council’s marketing team helped the young people understand the editorial role and become a
‘young editor’ for the newsletter.
You can find copies of the CICC newsletters at https://www.durhamcicc.co.uk/cicc-newsletters

Page 135

11

Ofsted inspections
Ofsted’s focused inspection of Children’s
Services, took place remotely on 13 & 14 July
2021, and looked at DCCs arrangements for
children in care.

One co-opted member was involved in
discussions with the inspectors, and the
inspector said that the young person explained
to them how much young people felt they had
been listened to and how DCC responded really
well to their feedback e.g. use of language.

A letter outlining a summary of the findings was
received from Ofsted on 23 August, which can
be accessed HERE

The inspectors talked to the Head of Children’s
Social Care about how empowered the young
people were, and shared really positive
feedback that the work of the CICC was
exceptional. The inspectors were really
impressed with all of the young people they
met.

The letter contained lots of positive feedback,
including the work of the CICC, and the
opportunities young people have to share their
experiences, and included two areas for priority
action and one area for improvement.

Celebrate Me event
On Thursday 21 October 2021 – a Halloween
themed celebration event took place virtually.
Young people helped to plan the event, and
chose the music and entertainment, and
picked the Halloween theme and insisted all
attendees dressed up. Although young people
appreciate the challenges that covid brings,
and enjoyed the virtual event and the diversity
it brought, they still like face to face events.

Page 136

12

Care day 2022

We hosted virtual events to celebrate Care
Day 2022 with a variety of activities and
communications on Friday 18 February and
Monday 21 February, including:

•
•
•
•

A play about the importance of promoting
relationships with brothers and sisters
Young people sharing their stories,
poems, achievement and experiences.
Virtual quiz: Young People v Staff
Virtual session about the importance of
life story work.

All of the young people has a great day and
look forward to next years event.

Children’s Social Care Teams
Children’s Social Care Teams won a Mind of My Own
award for a children’s launch event, when young people
designed the poster.

Page 137

13

Did you know that any
person in care (from primary
school age, until you turn
18 years old) is entitled to an
independent visitor.

Independent Visitors
Did you know that any person in care (from
primary school age, until you turn 18 years old)
is entitled to an independent visitor. An
independent visitor is a volunteer who can help
with your mental health and wellbeing, help with
social anxiety, and you can also plan trips and
activities to do together. Ask your social worker
for more information.
During 2021-22 the service received 68
referrals, which is a significant increase on the
previous year (17 referrals), and 59 young
people were matched with an Independent
Visitor. Of these, 24 matches ended due to the
young people becoming 18, not wanting
Independent Visitor any more, or the
Independent Visitor leaving the role – leaving
35 active matches.

‘The work done with ‘A’ has seen him develop
so much as in individual and his behaviour
has improved so much’ (Social Worker)
‘B’ is a completely different person. Once
upon a time he would not even talk to us. His
confidence has increased so much’ (Foster
carer)

The main impact of having an Independent
Visitor is reported as an increase in confidence
and self-esteem amongst young people.
Developing independent skills is also reported
as a significant impact. Feedback from users of
the Independent Visitor service is ...

‘I love going out with mu Independent Visitor
and doing different activities. I also get to
choose which is great!’ (Young person)
‘It is like having a relative that cares’ (Young
person)
‘The work that ‘C’ has completed with their
Independent Visitor has allowed him to
transition from foster care to independent
living with vital skills to survive when lots of
other support has gone’ (Social Worker)
‘The relationship between the Independent
Visitor and ‘D’ is very strong. This is helping
to support her through some very tough
periods in her life and give her someone
independent to talk to’ (Foster Carer)

Page 138

14

Children with disabilities
There have been significant changes to
services for children and young people with
disabilities since 2019 which includes additional
investment in front line staff as well as a
remodelling of the service to create a 0-18
children’s service and a 14-25 navigation
service within adult social care services,
focused on supporting the transition from
children’s to adults services.
We also work with partners to ensure that
where appropriate, children are signposted to
other services and sources of support.
Work has developed with a wide range of
partner agencies to support these practice
improvements to ensure the needs of our
children and young people are met and they are
in receipt of high-quality support and services.

Young people have told us what they want from us:
Making our services be the best they can be
for all children and young people:

•
•
•
•
•
•

A Governance Improvement Board for disabled
children has been created which has oversight
from a children’s and adults services
perspective and includes commissioning
colleagues who are key to service development
and innovation for children and young people
with disabilities. The board is jointly chaired by
Heads of Service in CYPS and ASC.

That we know them well, and when we can’t
help we find someone who can
Ensure that team culture promotes building
good relationships with young people, their
families and carers.
That where possible, young people have the
same social worker throughout their
childhood.
When you cannot help or when the criteria is
not met, you will endeavor to provide advice,
support and guidance to help meet young
people’s needs.

We have strengthened the voice of our children
so they along with their parent/carers are
informing their care plans, reviews. This means
they influence the development of the services
they receive and can be more confident that
they are the right services for the child.

•
•
•

Our procedures and guidance have been
updated and will be reviewed annually, and all
of our children have up to date assessments
which are also reviewed annually, and we see
the children who receive our services regularly.
We have managed some of the challenges of
the Covid 19 pandemic by reviewing services
and working with our commissioning colleagues
to think differently about service delivery for
families. As a result, improvements in the
service can be evidenced by the increase in
compliments from families and professionals
and a reduction in complaints.

Specialist community hubs (short breaks)
CICC development
MOMO feedback
Family Satisfaction Surveys
Governance Group
Disability Steering Board

‘My social worker is very fun’ (young person)
‘The team are kind and caring, giving
the right information at the right time,
even when the child doesn’t meet their
eligibility criteria’. (Carers)
Page 139

15

Ensure needs are understood and regularly discussed by
people who know the young people best

•
•
•
•
•

Young people are visited regularly by their named social
worker.
Annual assessments focusing on what’s working well for
young people, their families/carers, what they are
worried about and what needs to happen to meet their
needs.
Ensuring young people have a robust plan to meet
needs and/or keep them safe. That these are reviewed
and updated regularly by young people, their families
and carers.
Parents/carers have access to carers assessments.
When young people are ready to move into the
Navigation team it is done in a timely manner and their
transition to adulthood is really well planned.

‘it means we get to see the same
people and know what is going to
happen next’(young person)

‘The support, that I’m getting my own independence but I’m already independent. When I’m at the
Metrocentre the workers let me go and do bus spotting on my own, they are always upstairs [in the
Metrocentre].’ I would like them to ‘Take me out more often and have more quality time’ (young person)

Supporting Solutions Service
•
•

Supporting Solutions Service offers:

•
•
•
•
•

Edge of care support, offering intensive
interventions where there has been a
relationship breakdown
Family Group conferences to support families
to put in place a sustainable plan to support
the young people
Missing from home work
Child Exploitation support and interventions
Access to an out of hours bed for one night
where there is a crisis situation

•

During 2021-22, 198 young people received
support from the SSS service, 138 of these
were referred in 2021/22, whilst the other 60
had been referred prior to this.

•

•

130 young people who received support from
Supporting Solutions were able to remain in
the care of their family and 6 young people
were able to return to the care of their family
after a period in care. 10 young people were
supported to remain in their long-term
placement.
Page 140

16

The crisis bed at The Nest was used on 59
occasions, for a total of 73 nights.
231 initial Family Group Conferences were
completed in 2021/22; for 197 of these the
plan supported the child/young person to
remain with or return to the care of their
family.
The Erase child exploitation workers have
supported 92 young people who were
identified as high risk of criminal or sexual
exploitation in 2021/22. When reviewed in
April 2022 43 young people remained high
risk, but for 49 young people their risks had
reduced (26 to medium risk and 23 to low
risk).
683 young people were reported missing in
2021/22, a total of 1992 missing episodes.
This is an increase of over 80% on the
previous year. Of the 1910 occasions where
a Return Home Interview was offered 1417
were completed, and information shared with
partners to inform risk reduction planning.

Unaccompanied Asylum
Seeking Children (UASC)
Durham Children’s services works with the
national scheme for the dispersal of
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children and
has done for some time. The scheme became
mandatory around 6 months ago and since that
time an increasing number of children who are
seeking asylum alone have moved into the care
of Durham Children’s services.
The children come from diverse backgrounds
and experiences, with the majority having been
trafficked into the country and have then been
detained by border control through the South of
England Counties.

Fostering Friendly Award

The needs of these children are significant, and
services are developing and responding to their
needs in terms of safe places to live, education
physical and emotional health services along
with opportunities to enjoy life.

The Designated Nurse for Children in Care
was successful in their application for the
Fostering Friendly Award. Fostering Friendly
Employer status was gained in April 2021
following review of polices within the CCG
to ensure that they provided flexibility for
employees who were or were considering
being foster carers. The subsequent
Fostering Excellence Award was gained in
November 2021. This achievement
highlighted the support the CCG provided to
foster carers / potential foster carers in their
role so encouraging the uptake of foster
parents for our most vulnerable children
across County Durham. The Designated
Professionals support and take part in
fostering friendly fortnight – led by the local
authority, to encourage people to consider
the role but also highlight the excellent
although often challenging work our foster
carers do. County Durham CCG were the
first NHS organisation to have received this
accolade. The Designated Professionals will
continue to champion foster cares both at
place and across the ICB and as such will
be committed to being able to make a
difference for the people and children within
our communities.

A social work consultant from the children in
care teams leads much of the practice in this
work and has established a football group with a
number of young people that meets and plays
weekly. The language of football is assisting the
young people to reduce feelings of isolation,
build networks and have fun together. It is hoped
this can develop into a regional group where
young people will be able to meet others from
their home communities and build supportive
networks for their adult lives.

Page 141

17

Fostering Services

The fostering service in
Durham has 252 fostering
households offering around
460 fostering beds to children.
The service is well
recognised, and the work of
foster carers is valued
throughout the Council and
with partners.
The fostering community is
under significant pressure to
meet the needs of children
and the demand for fostering
beds significantly out strips
the capacity.
The fostering team is split into
6 teams to organise the work
and to support the ability to
recruit and train carers, match
them to the right carers and to
support the carers in their
fostering role across the
county.
The fostering team also
support connected carers with
dedicated fostering social
work support. Around 15% of
children in foster care live with
connected person carers.
Many of these children leave
care under a legal order to
these carers if they are not
able to safely return home

Foster Care Review
In early 2022, a Service
Manager was appointed to
undertake a review of the
support and recognition of
foster carers and the work
that they do. This includes a
review of the criteria for foster
carer skill levels, as well as
reviewing foster carer
payments known as ‘payment
for skills’ (PFS) to ensure they
have enough money to
support and care for their
foster children.
Foster carers were asked to
share their thoughts around
what we do well, or what we
could do differently so that we
can ensure Durham’s core
offer to its foster carers is as
good as it can be and
acknowledges the hard work
that they do.

Mockingbird Family
Model
The Service Manager also led
on the implementation and roll
out of the Mockingbird Model,
which is a project committed

Page 142

18

to increasing and retaining
our foster carers which is
critical to stabilising fostering
placement. The model also
increased the level of support
offered to foster carers and
children.

TV Advert
A number of targeted
campaigns take place across
the year to increase the
number of foster carers. We
recently launched our first TV
advert, watch it HERE

Did you know...
We have a group called ‘M8s’
that provides support for
foster carers own children, if
they have them. This gives an
opportunity for the young
people to meet others whose
parents are foster carers, and
to have fun whilst sharing
their experiences.

Foster Care
awards
Mind of My Own App
To ensure all we do has
children’s voices at the
centre, we have several ways
that we engage and in
addition to our direct work, all
young people are supported
to access the Mind of My Own
app. This enables young
people to share their views,
successes and any
challenges with their social
workers ahead of their
Looked After Reviews or
Foster Carer Reviews. The
app also allows young people
to contact their social worker
if they have any worries or
queries about anything at any
time.
You can find out more about
the app in this presentation:
Mind of my own

‘Fostering Friendly
Employer Award’
The County Durham Clinical
Commissioning Group have
worked with the Fostering
Network to achieve the
‘Fostering Friendly Employer’
Award, which will help staff
who are, or who wish to
become foster carers.

Foster care training
Feedback from the training is
so good, there have been
requests to make the
sessions even longer so that
more can be discussed.

Because of Covid
restrictions, the
2021 awards were
postponed as we
were not able to
have any in person
celebrations, so for the
2022 awards we
decided to go all out!!
We hosted the Foster Care
Star Awards on Wednesday 9
March 2022 at the Gala
Theatre, Durham to recognise
the outstanding achievements
of foster carers, as well as
their families who have
welcomed children and young
people into their homes and
lives.
Over 100 carers and their
families received awards for
long-service, outstanding
achievements, sons and
daughters of carers and
all-round support. As the 2021
event was postponed, even
more carers were recognised
this year for their efforts to
help young people reach their
full potential.
A new, publicly nominated
award was also given to the
foster family seen by local
communities as having gone
‘above and beyond’ in making
a child feel comfortable, safe
and secure in their new family
home. It was an excellent
event, and there were lots of
very proud staff and elected
members.

Did you know...
Staying Put arrangements
means that if a young person
and their foster carer agree,
the young person can
continue to stay with their
foster carers when they turn
18, even though they become
a care leaver. This may be
something a young person
wants to do because they
want support while they finish
their education, or they might
just want more time to make
the transition to
independence. They can stay
with their foster carer until
they are 21.
The Annual report of the
Fostering Service 2021-22 is
available on request.

Page 143

19

Regulation 44 / elected members

Children’s homes

Some of our elected members attend the
Regulation 44 inspection visits alongside the
NYAS inspectors on a quarterly basis (more
information on Reg 44 visits can be found here).
Posters of the inspectors are on display in the
home, so that young people know who is visiting,
and can identify them easily:

We currently have nine registered Children’s
Homes across the County (with a 10th being
registered) offering residential care to children and
young people. This could be support and care for
young people who cannot live at home, or short
respite breaks when children and young people
with disabilities need to have a little time away from
their family or carer. Many developments are taking
place within residential services including new
systems, new peripatetic staff teams, deputy
managers being introduced in all homes and
physical works being undertaken on the buildings
to ensure they are homely and fit for purpose.

Home/Councillor
Framwellgate Moor, Durham
Cllr Mamie Simmons
New Lea House, Stanley
Cllr Michelle Walton

Sufficiency

Park House, Sherburn Village
Cllr Stacey Deinali

A number of new children’s homes are being
developed to ensure that as many children as
possible live within County Durham and are able to
maintain links with their schools, friends, families
and hobbies. The new homes are different sizes
(ranging from 1 to 3 places) so that children and
young people with more complex needs can be
cared for. An Edge of Care home is also being
planned; this will offer short breaks and wider
support to young people and their families to help
them to remain living at home.

Coxhoe
Cllr Chris Varty
West Rainton
Cllr Bev Coult
High Etherley
Cllr Samantha Townsend

Staying Close

Hickstead, Newton Aycliffe
Cllr Joyce Charlton

This is similar to the staying put principles, when
young people leave our children’s homes they may
not feel ready to be fully independent, so we will
look for accommodation options that are close to
their former children’s home so that they are able
to pop in for advice and support, or to use laundry
facilities, have a meal etc when they need to.

Orchard House, Sacriston
Cllr Cathy Hunt
Moorside, Spennymoor
Cllr Beaty Bainbridge
Walworth, Aycliffe Secure Centre
Cllr Ken Robson
Barnard and Durham, Aycliffe Secure
Centre
Cllr Jake Miller
Lumley, Aycliffe Secure Centre
Cllr Chris Hood

NYAS
All children in Care have access to independent
advocacy services through the National Youth
Advocacy Service.

Page 144

20

Adoption
Adopt Coast to Coast was established as the
Regional Adoption Agency (RAA), and the
launched virtually on 1 April 2021 as the go to
agency for those who are interested in adoption.
Adopt Coast to Coast is a partnership RAA, and is
made up of the following three partners (spokes):

•
•
•

•
•
•
•
•

Cumbria County Council
Durham County Council
Together for Children who deliver children’s
services on behalf of Sunderland City
Council

Adopt Coast to Coast is working with partners to
embed models of early permanence in Durham,
for example ‘Fostering for Adoption’, and work
across the partnership to develop the post
adoption support offer.

Adopt Coast to Coast’s marketing activity for
2022-23 will focus on:

•

Adopt Coast to Coast’s marketing activity for
2021-22 was all about brand recognition, and
getting the name out as far and wide as possible.
This was impacted by the pandemic as we were
unable to use some of the traditional methods, so
we focused on the following:

•
•
•

A TV advert to celebrate the launch of Adopt
Coast to Coast which can be viewed HERE
Google advertising, making sure Adopt Coast
to Coast appears highly when searched for
Facebook and Instagram advertising to raise
awareness and promote events
Display advertising on key websites to raise
awareness of Adopt Coast to Coast
Third party campaigns e.g. joining in with
activity for National Adoption week

•

Public relations – stories about our launch,
appeals, events, campaigns and more ...
Internal communications – amongst our three
partners
A radio campaign in April during the launch
month, and a further two campaigns in
October and March

•

Potential enquirers for groups of brothers
and sisters, children with additional health
needs and/or developmental uncertainty.
An initiative with neighbouring regional
adoption agencies and voluntary adoption
agencies (VAAs) to increase opportunities for
children to be adopted by families living in
the North East and Cumbria.
Reviewing and developing marketing activity
and recruitment practice across the spokes,
being mindful of the lived experience of
children and their adoptive families and the
findings from the national mystery shopper
activity.

Page 145

21

Katie and James were one of six couples to have started their journey with Adopt Coast to Coast and
had a child placed with them before the services’ first anniversary. Katie said:
“What was clear from the start was that you don’t have to be a certain way to adopt, you don’t
need lots of money just time and love. “We’d had so many years to prepare for adoption and we
always knew it would be our route to parenthood so we accepted it and knowing him has been the
best four weeks of our lives – he’s just amazing. I was worried before we started all of this that we
wouldn’t have a connection but he’s our whole world - he 100% feels like our son already.”

DCC Adoption/Service
This has been a really busy year for Durham’s
Adoption Team in all areas of the service. The
post adoption service has helped to secure
funding through the Adoption Support Fund to
the value of almost £376000.115, and adopted
children have benefitted from therapeutic
support as a result of this.

Information, counselling and preparation
courses have been held monthly for those
moving along the assessment process. These
have been held jointly with our Regional
Adoption Agency partners in Together For
Children and Cumbria.
A total of 40 adoptive households were
approved in this time frame. This was a
combination of single adopters, heterosexual
and same sex couples.

The numbers of enquiries from people
considering adoption have risen hugely and the
team have responded to 216 enquiries,
whereas in the previous year 100 enquiries
were received.

65 children were matched with their adoptive
families, with a further 6 being placed under
Fostering for Adoption. Again, these figures are
increased on previous years.

Across the year, 30 information sharing events
have been held for people in the enquiry stage
to attend, and feedback from these has been
very positive. One attendee said

We continue to be proactive in responding to
enquiries, and provide a wealth of information
and support at all stages on their journey to
becoming adopters.

‘It was all very positive and information was
provided in an easy to understand way.’
Page 146

22

Care Leavers
The Durham County Council Strategy for Children in Care and Care
Leavers has been developed, covering January 2022 to December 2024.
It outlines our vision, and areas for action.
The strategy has a strong focus on learning from those who are care
experienced to drive forward practice improvements in County Durham
and help our young people to build strong relationships that will endure.

Local Offer to Care Leavers
The Local Offer has been published on our
website and gives details of how DCC will
support young people with:

•
•
•
•

Durham compares well to other areas, however
plans have been put in place to make our local
offer even better, and the proposals will be
presented to the Chief Executive Officer and
DCCs Corporate Management Team.

Options about where they live
Helping with money, benefits, and financial
advice
Looking after their health (physical,
mental, and sexual); drug, alcohol and
smoking cessation support; support about
relationships.
Education, Employment & Training

We will include an update in next year’s annual
report, but some of the key things in the local
offer are:

•
•
•
•
•

Care experienced young people have
undertaken a research project to look at
Durham’s local offer, which included a trip to
York Council to look at their care leavers offer.
The research project benchmarked Durham
against other regional and national local
authorities local offers.
Moving forward, colleagues and young people
from ten other Care Leavers services will visit
Durham and vice versa. The ten Local
Authorities will provide feedback on Durham’s
services in June 2022. Consideration is being
given to hosting a conference to share this
feedback, and what it means for us in Durham.

•

Improving the quality of pathway plans
Strengthening our corporate commitment
to our care leavers
Making sure our young people have a
variety of suitable accommodation options
Improving the health outcome of care
leavers, following the impact of Covid
Helping prepare our young people for
adulthood, which does not mean
‘independence’ as we recognise that
everyone needs support throughout their
lives
Improved coproduction

An action plan has also been developed for
2022/23 which outlines how we will do what we
say we are going to do, and by when.

Page 147

23

Midwifery offer to care experienced young people
We have a group called ‘M8s’ that provides support for foster carers own children, if they have them.
This gives an opportunity for the young people to meet others whose parents are foster carers, and to
have fun whilst sharing their experiences.

Supported lodgings

Care Leavers hub

Supported lodgings provides a safe,
supportive and friendly home environment for
young people, aged between 16 and 25 years
old, who are leaving care and do not want to
live independently. Supported lodgings
providers give young people a key to their
home, their own room, access to a bathroom,
kitchen and laundry facilities.

The care leavers hub was officially launched on
28 February 2022, by our care leavers. The hub
is a safe space to engage with services and
each other, and just a welcoming place to hang
out, get warm, clean and fed. A programme of
events has been developed for the hub for the
year ahead, and some further ideas for the hub
include a monthly Sunday dinner club with a
yorkshire pudding making competition.

Each young person is different, but many
need practical support and help with things
like learning to cook, doing laundry,
budgeting, attending appointments, or even to
help them find a job, or access education and
training.
Supported lodgings can be short term, or for
up to two years, and in Durham we have
several supported lodgings providers and
always seek to recruit more.

Drive project
The project supports young people by providing driving lessons,
up to the value of £500. The project pays for one lesson, the
young person pays for the next lesson, and so on then the
project pays for the first theory test and one practical test. This is
available for looked after young people aged 17+ and care
leavers up to the age of 21 (25 if in full time education).
Unfortunately, due to the pandemic restrictions the project was
on hold during 2020-21 and we are still seeing the impact of this
as the pandemic has impacted on the availability of driving
lessons nationally.
We are working with the DCC procurement team to consider
options, ensuring that lessons are secured with reputable
instructors.

Page 148

24

Health
It is the responsibility of Durham County Council, County Durham
Clinical Commissioning Group (CCG) and commissioned health
services to identify and address the unmet health needs of
children who become looked after.

Physical health
The CCG commission County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust
(CDDFT) to:

•
•
•
•

Provide medical services
Undertake initial health assessments (IHAs)
Undertake review health assessments (RHAs) for those living out of the Local
Authority boundary but within a 20-mile radius.
Complete health passports for those children aged 15½ years old and above.

Public Health commission Harrogate and
District NHS Foundation Trust (HDFT) to
undertake RHAs for young people living within
the Local Authority boundary.

Year on year there have been increasing
numbers of young people entering care, which
has posed some challenged to the CCG in
responding to the increasing numbers,
especially on the back of the existing Covid
pressures.

These health assessments result in individual
health plans being developed which form, part
of the young person’s overall care plan.

Moving forward, the increasing number of
unaccompanied asylum-seeking children
(UASC) and potentially children from Ukraine
will also bring challenges, especially as these
young people will come to us with no or limited
medical and / or mental health history or
differing systems of health care.

The CGG has recruited a Designated Nurse for
children in care, and ‘children in care’ is now a
key focus within training offered by primary care
professionals.

Mental Health
At present the CCG commission Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV) to
provide Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS) to support young people with mental
health difficulties (Tier 1-3).
NHS England provide in patient mental health services (Tier 4).
Durham County Council commissioning additional mental health support from Full Circle which is a
therapeutic service dedicated to working with care experienced young people. The Full Circle have
an important role in responding to mental health needs of children in care and adopted children. Full
Circle is a social work led team, made up of Therapeutic Social Workers employed by the Local
Authority, including a Consultant Clinical Psychologist and Clinical Nurse Specialist, who are
employed via and have links with the local Child and Adolescent Mental Health Services (CAMHS)
service within Tess, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust.
Full Circle utilise a trauma informed approach to assist placement stability by supporting the
children’s foster carers and adopters, social workers, residential staff, educational staff and the child’s
care team to support the child’s recovery from complex trauma and abuse.
The availability of suitable in-patient services is also a challenge for the service.
Page 149

25

Joint work continues with Local Authority
partners to:

Priorities for health moving forward include:

•
•
•
•

•

Continued support for the recruitment of
foster carers
Improved data collection
Working with local authorities to augment
information sharing processes
Improving mental health outcomes for
young people - the number of Children in
Care accessing CAMHS services and
their needs are fully understood

•

Facilitate the date of the first Looked After
Review being communicated to the
Foundation Trust to expedite a timely IHA
appointment – this is a longstanding
challenge for the LA to meet the statutory
5 day timeframe.
Augment the information sharing
pathways following a child entering care
and relevant documentation is distributed
to the Foundation Trust in a
contemporaneous manner.

Health outcomes for children in care and those care experienced continue to improve:

•
•
•
•
•

Health Needs Analysis to be complete to inform future service delivery
Continue to liaise with NHS England colleagues to ensure children in care are prioritised
by dental practices across the region
Immunisation campaign to be promoted
Recognising the needs of Children in Care who are reported missing.
Improving terminology used for Children in Care health assessments by working with the
Children in Care Council.

Page 150

26

•
Virtual
School

•

As of July 2021, there were 573 Durham
looked after children of statutory school age:

•
•
•
•
•
•

Virtual School Sub group

48% primary / 52% secondary.
46% female / 54% male.
81% County Durham schools / 19% out of
County schools, which is an increase of
3.6% from the previous year.
School attendance for the whole looked
after cohort was 89.3%
Fixed term exclusions remain low at 5.6%
(22 children)
49% had an identified special educational
need (SEN), which is an increase of 6%
from the previous year.

•
•
•

For 2020/21 centre assessed grades were
used as there were no formal examinations
due to Covid. Our young people performed
well with some young people achieving strong
sets of results.
For 2021/22 children will sit their Key Stage 2
SAT’s and formal exams for GCSE will take
place for young people in Year 11. This will
bring additional challenges for our CLA

Agreement was made by the Corporate
Parenting Panel to bring two new reps onto the
Virtual School sub groups to ensure
representation from maintained nurseries and
post 16 education.

Education fun fund
Given that schools were not operating in the
usual way during 2021-22 due to Covid, there
was an underspend in the Pupil Premium Plus
money, which is allocated from Government.
The Virtual School transferred £3,000 PP+
money to the CICC for an Education Fun Fund
project.
Within schools, PP+ money must be spent on
educational resources whereas this project
could be more flexible around purchasing non
education equipment.
Young people from the CICC set up the project,
and developed an application process whereby
young people can apply for up to £150 for noneducational items, which would not typically be
funded in this way for example, sport and
exercise equipment, boxing lessons, art and
craft supplies, instruments and music lessons
etc.
Post 16 young people attending further
education colleges have been involved in a
government pilot where they have received PP+
funding for one financial year. This has
supported them to access the wider college life
and has encouraged good attendance. A Mentor
was employed to provide additional pastoral
support.

21% are supported by an Education
Health and Care Plan (EHCP).
28% had a school SEN Support Plan, an
increase of 4% from the previous year
Social, emotional and mental health
needs (SEMH) were the primary need for
39% of primary aged children and 51% of
secondary aged children.

The Virtual School are proactive with SEN to
ensure young people are known, and that
interventions are available for schools to
access as early as possible. If a child with an
Education, Health and Care Plan (EHCP) is
moved out of the Local Authority area to have
their care needs met, it is important that
Durham retain the plan for that child until an
appropriate setting has been found. In
Durham, every child who is looked after who
has an EHCP now has an identified SEND
Caseworker as well as their PEP Caseworker.

Language

Following on from discussions with young people about the language we use, the Virtual School has raised
this at network meetings, so schools are aware that this is a priority for CLA. We have also developed the
use of the Clear Cut Communication Tool at the entry into care and at the personal education plan (PEP)
meeting to support young people by understanding their communication needs. This helps everyone
involved in the child’s life to provide the right support which should then lead to better outcomes.
Page 151

27

Education/Employment & Training
A range of support continues to be available for care leavers to enable and support them to progress
into education, employment and training (EET).

DurhamWorks
programme for
schools
This programme provides
support for young people
aged 15 and 16 to help them
to make a successful
progression from Year 11 into
to post 16 learning.
During the 2021-22 academic
year, a total of 800 young
people who were identified as
being at risk of becoming
NEET (Not in Education,
Employment or Training) were
supported, including 34
Looked After Children. Of
these, 28 Looked After
Children (82.4%) progressed
into a positive post-16
learning destination.

DurhamWorks
DurhamWorks provides care
leavers with wrap around
support to enable them to
progress into and remain in
Education, Employment and
Training.
Since its inception in 2016,
665 young people supported
by DurhamWorks have
identified themselves as being
Looked After or a Care
Leaver. Of these, 599 young
people have completed the
programme, with 417 (69.9%)
young people progressing into
a positive Education,
Employment or Training
destination.

DurhamEnable
This is a new supported
employment service available
for our Care Leavers, aged 18
plus who have learning,
physical and/or mental health
barriers to employment.
Overall, DurhamEnable aims
to support over 900 County
Durham residents between
now and December 2023.

Durham County
Council Pathway for
Young People
The pathway continues to be
embedded to provide more
opportunities for care leavers
within Durham County
Council ‘The Family
Business’. As part of this, a
sessional employment
programme offers care
leavers opportunities to
undertake paid work
experience which align to
their talents, interests and
aspirations.
A sessional employment
Coordinator was appointed in
July 2021 to facilitate the
programme and they are
actively engaging with Care
Leavers, Young People’s
Advisers, Durham County
Council Human Resources
staff, as well as Service
Managers. Joint recruitment
processes have been
developed in conjunction with
Durham County Council

Page 152

28

Human Resources staff, a
programme has been
designed and delivered to
support Care Leavers and
staff, and an agreement is in
place for a “Benefits
Calculator” to be completed
by Welfare Rights for each
Care Leaver.
At present, ten Care Leavers
are currently undertaking
Sessional Employment and
placements have been
agreed in the following areas:
Construction, Farming and
Protective Landscapes, Motor
Vehicle, Human Resources,
DurhamWorks and Catering.
Further placements are
anticipated in Quantity
Surveying as well as with
CYPS Young People’s
Service.

Apprenticeships
Further action was
undertaken to support more
Care Leavers into Durham
County Council
Apprenticeships. This
included the ring-fencing of
Apprenticeship opportunities
specifically for Care Leavers,
as well as delivery of bespoke
training to support Care
Leavers with their applications
and to prepare them for the
interview stage. There are
currently seven Care Leavers
undertaking Apprenticeships
within Durham County
Council.

•
Youth Hubs
DurhamWorks has liaised
with the Department for Work
and Pensions to set up ‘Youth
Hubs’ across County Durham.
These are spaces where
unemployed young people
can access a range of
intensive support and
provision to enable them to
find a job. Youth Hubs are
operating in Stanley and
Peterlee, and an exciting new
Youth Hub opened in Bishop
Auckland in March 2022.

PP+ Pilot
A ‘Keep In College’ incentive
payment of £20 per week is in
place for care leavers who
achieve over 80% authorised
attendance. There are
currently 52 Young People
attending 14 different Further
Education Colleges, who are
receiving this.
All information is available on
the DurhamWorks website

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Key performance data
There were 982 children in care at the end of March 2022.
This is higher than last year, however our rate of children in
care per 10,000 children in County Durham remains lower
than in the North East and our Statistical Neighbours.
Our number of children in care has fluctuated during the year
following an increase in children leaving care once Family
Courts reopened, but also a reduction in children coming into
care in through most of 2021. Children becoming looked after
has returned to similar pre-COVID levels but we have
experienced another recent reduction in children leaving care.
This is a direct impact of the Somerset Judgment, with 30
children who are currently placed for adoption experiencing a
delay. If these delays had not occurred, we would be at a
similar number of CLA to last year (949).
The National Transfer Scheme for Unaccompanied Asylum
Seeking Children has also started in year and the first young
people have started to arrive in Durham. This will also lead to
an increase in children who come into our care throughout the
year.
62 children were adopted in 2021/22. This equates to 18% of
all children leaving care which is higher than in England and
the North East in 2019/20.
A higher proportion of children in care in Durham are in a
foster placement than in our comparators (74% compared to
71% in England and 72% in our statistical neighbours in
2020-21).
Around a quarter of our children in care are placed outside of
County Durham, but the vast majority are within neighbouring
local authority areas. Often closer to their home than if placed
in other areas of the county. This continues to be consistently
lower than in our comparators.
We have experienced significant placement pressures during,
and following, COVID which has led to an increase in children
having 3 or more placement moves and long-term stability for
some of our children aged under 16 who have been in care
for more than 2 1.2 years.
We have seen an increase in the number of children in care
reported as missing alongside the number of missing
episodes, with some children regularly reported as ‘missing’.
This is a potential impact from lockdowns during COVID.
Multi-agency work is ongoing with Police and other partner
agencies to monitor, understand and address this.
Performance in relation to our care leavers remains positive in
relation to accommodation suitability and education,
employment and training remains above or at benchmarks
Educational attainment data is included in Virtual School and
EET sections.
Page 153

29

Aycliffe Secure Centre
In April 2021
ASC had its full
unannounced
Inspection and
was judged as
Outstanding
Overall.

In November 2021
ASC had an
interim inspection
and was awarded
Sustained
Effectiveness.

Our mission statement: “Through developing and investing in our staff and
infrastructure, Aycliffe secure centre will continue to provide each young person
with a safe, secure, caring home and school. Encouraging and motivating each
young person to be the best they can be in an environment they can enjoy.”
Aycliffe Secure Centre
provides secure homes and
onsite school for up to 38
young people, eight of whom
are sentenced or remanded
by the Youth Custody Service.
In addition, there are places
for 30 young people who are
looked after for their own
safety, under section 25 of the
Children’s Act 1989,
commission by Local
Authorities. Over the last year,
we reduced our occupancy
levels due to the impact of
Covid19, so we only had 4 out
of the 5 houses in use.
The philosophy of the centre
is that of Exceptional
Parenting underpinned by
Trauma informed care. We
have been an active part of
the National SECURE
STAIRS framework and
received an annual review
last Autumn which highlighted
the exceptional work and
support offered to young
people and staff alike.
Through this trauma informed
care young people
understand their journey and

work to build confidence,
positive self-esteem, and
resilience. Young people have
enhanced multi-agency care
and support and have been
encouraged to have a
significant voice and have
been part of the mantra “no
decision about me without
me.”
Over this last year, living with
the impact of the Covid19
pandemic we have continued
to follow the centres recovery
road map, and followed both
national and local guidance in
order to keep everyone as
safe and well as possible.
Ensuring the use of PPE,
effective testing and effective
measure of Infection control
are in place has taken a
whole centre approach which
has been challenging,
particularly in ensuring
staffing levels are kept
conducive to individuals and
groups of young people and
helping everyone’s mental
health and wellbeing was at
the forefront of our minds.

Page 154

30

Highlights over the year
include:

•
•
•
•
•
•
•

School has remained open
throughout the pandemic.
The horticultural and park
area is being actively used
in both the curriculum and
for leisure.
Health and Social Care is
now part of the curriculum.
Several of our young
people have been entered
and achieved success in
the national Koestler
Awards
Our first young person to
achieve their CSCS card
(Construction Skills
Certification Scheme)
Young people have been
able to keep contact and
connected to those who
are important to them
through technology in
particular Teams.
Since the roll out ,135
multi-agency staff have
participated in the 5x day
Trauma informed care

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Psychological formulation
and reformulations are
undertaken with and for all
of our young people.
Reflective practice is
embedded into the whole
centre
We have developed and
Enhanced Practitioner role
to up skill workers and help
with succession planning
We have launched the new
radio system which will
also reduce air wave noise
pollution
Stage one of the electronic
case management systems
ClearCare roll out has been
achieved
Refurbishments of the
catering and music
classrooms
Significant improvements
have been made to the
infrastructure
Hybrid working has been
implemented within the
support services.
Face to face meeting with
Investing in Children have
recommenced

We also work with our
catering company to ensure
that food is both nutritious and
meets the tastes and needs
of all our young people, and
one of the suggestions they
made was to have a themed
night where food from
different countries and
cultures is tried. This has
been established on
Wednesday nights - so far,
the Indian curry night has
been the favourite! These
activities have been
embraced and enjoyed.

Involving the young people in their care is vital to their success
and one young person’s Social Worker said:
“We have just completed the formulation/ transition meeting.
(Young person) did a presentation to at least 16 people
(professionals) including the new service provider about what
she has gained from therapy and general interventions from the
multi-agency team at Aycliffe and how she can carry this on
into independence. It was outstanding and testimony to the
work that has been undertaken with her in the nine months she
has been at Aycliffe. I was blown away by it. The care and
intervention they have received at Aycliffe is second to none
and now she has a fighting chance of success in the
community with good, continued support.”

Young people said:
“G is the kindest interventions worker I have ever had.”
“K is a good little umperlumper. He is a great negotiator he is
also a role model to other staff and should be entitled to a pay
rise.”
“I can see the difference in myself since I first came here. It has
helped me being here and I will stay in touch with H and C.”
We continue to promote engagement, leisure and hobbies
including,
Celebrating events including, birthday, religious and faith days
and leaving meals and mobility
Animal care, having regular pets and small animal care visiting
BBQ’s and pool parties
Centre wide quizzes and competitions
Pampering sessions
Sporting activities and pastimes, including football,
trampolining, the gym, and dancing and mindfulness
Gaming, Lego, board games and crafting

•
••
••
•
•

Future developments at Aycliffe includes the building and
registering of the Transitions Home, which will offer up to four
young people a steppingstone from living in secure
accommodation to moving into the community in a safe and
sequential way. The building work commenced in February 2022
and is set to be completed by October 2022. We are beginning
the registering process and have recruited the Homes Manager
who will be with us soon.
Page 155

31

Proud moments

In response to young people telling us that they sometimes faced
stigma and discrimination, agreement was made by the
Corporate Parenting Panel that proud moments would be shared
at each meeting to highlight young people’s achievements and
successes - no matter how big or small.

•

Some of our proud moments include:

•

•

•

•

A young person who won a competition with
posters and leaflets they had created. The
young person had been grateful for the
opportunity to showcase their talent and the
praise they received had increased their
confidence, improved their schooling and
relationships and had also led them to
decide to pursue art as a future career.
A young person who lives in one of our
children’s homes volunteers with a local
community allotment project, and worked
hard to support the project’s activities and
raise awareness of environmental issues.
This led to a commendation from the
volunteer lead and the project is now
supporting the young person to achieve the
John Muir award for raising awareness of
the natural environment.

•

A young person who had been finding life
particularly difficult, received help and
support from specialist services to overcome
their difficulties and as a result, developed
such empathy for other young people in
similar positions, that they are now leading
activities and providing help and support to
others. The young person is helping others
to live their lives to the full and realise that
they are valued and can make positive
contributions.

•
•

One young person had suffered numerous
traumas which had a long-lasting impact,
resulting in them missing much of their
education. With support, the young person
had grown stronger and secured a trial day
for a job. On their first day at work, the
employers were so impressed, they offered
them the job at the end of the day. This was
a well-deserved achievement for the young
person, who had shown great strength and
determination to succeed.

Page 156

32

A young person whose past experiences
had led to them finding it difficult to form
relationships and to share thoughts, feelings
and fears with others, discovered their talent
for baking. The young person enjoyed
making and decorating cupcakes, and one
day, decided to made a special cupcake as
a ‘thank you’ for a teacher who had provided
support through some particularly difficult
times. This gesture was a very brave step
for the young person who was
acknowledging the trust and attachment that
had been formed.
A young person living in shared care
arrangements had experienced difficulties
and disruption in their life, however they are
now making remarkable progress, attending
school regularly and achieving new goals
both at school and in their personal life. Staff
and their family had noted the changes and
said how proud they were to see their
progress and the kindness shown when
caring for their younger sibling who has
additional needs.
One young person who has disabilities
completed a sponsored walk for the Dogs
Trust and raised over £100. Everyone was
really proud of their achievements.
Young people living at one of our children’s
homes became aware of a ‘toilet-twinning’
project and set about fundraising for this to
help make a difference to children who are
living in difficult circumstances. They raised
£100 of donations to provide a toilet for a
family in Afghanistan, and their positive
proactive work was recognised and praised.

•

•

•

•

A young person who was preparing to move
into supported living arrangements had
been reflecting on the past whilst preparing
for the future. They explained that they felt
loved and prepared for the next phase of
life, knowing that their family will continue to
support them, just as they had done
throughout the years. Their carers spoke of
how proud they are and how they were
pleased to see such a positive outcome for
this young person.

•

Young people living at one of our children’s
homes were so happy with their new
bathroom facilities that they arranged an
official opening event to celebrate. The
event included a ceremonial ribbon-cutting,
handing over of the ceremonial ‘toilet roll’
and a tea party. Staff were proud at the
effort the young people had made and were
pleased to see how much they value their
home, which emphasised just how
important it is that young people are
provided with high quality facilities.

•

A year 11 student with an Education Health
and Care Plan moved out of Durham to
access specialist provision. They produced
an outstanding piece of descriptive writing,
expressing their thoughts and feelings
about their new surroundings which had
provoked an emotional response from staff,
who were so impressed that they sent a
message to the young person to
congratulate their good work, and
encouraging them to continue writing.

The Head of the Virtual School had
supported a young person during their
transition into year 7, and they met again
several years later at a Children in Care
Council meeting. The young person had
done well through school and acknowledge
how valuable the support from the Virtual
School had been to them at the time.
One of our older young people stood as an
independent candidate in their local
election in May 2021. Although they were
not elected, we were very proud that they
had the confidence to do this and to take
the next steps in their lives, knowing they
have the support they need around them.
Finally, the young people are proud of the
Chair of the Corporate Parenting Panel,
who donates ‘corporate grandparent’ gifts
of hand-knitted baby clothes,
to be given to our care
leavers who have
children of their own.
The young people
are appreciative of
the kind gesture.

Page 157

33

Achievements
PCSO training
In late 2020, the Children’s Commissioner for
England asked for the CICC to get involved in
some focus groups to inform the National Police
Chiefs Council’s work in updating their strategy
in relation to police and children. The aim of this
was to influence how police interact with
children, and they specifically wanted to include
voices of children, particularly those with care
experience.

A report was commissioned by the Association
of Directors of Children’s Services (ACDS) in
the North East on Children’s Social Care, which
will feed into the review to highlight the picture
in Durham to influence national policy, and to
share sector led improvements.

Following completion of this work with the
NPCC, the CICC approached Durham
Constabulary to discuss their thoughts on the
interventions they have received from police
regarding care interventions or in relation to
crime.

In addition, one of our young people attended a
national event hosted by Josh McAllister, to
discuss their views on children’s social care,
and another young person wrote about their
thoughts on the review, which have also been
shared. This young person’s story was also
shared in a variety of ways, including a film and
podcast as part of the Care Day celebrations.

As a result, the CICC have delivered training
sessions to highlight the importance of child
focused, and child sensitive work, and this is
being shared to a broader group of officers in
Durham Constabulary to ensure that better
relations are established with the police.
In addition, police will form links with our
children’s homes with ‘police buddies’, so that
they are visiting the young people in a positive
capacity – not just when there are problems or
concerns.

Government’s Independent Review
of Children’s Social Care
In March 2021, Government commissioned an
independent review of Children’s Social Care,
chaired by Josh McAllister - a link to the review
can be found HERE

Page 158

34

IIC Membership Award

Independent Reviewing Officer
(IRO) work

The membership award gives organisations
national recognition for the good practice and
active inclusion of children and young people in
dialogue that results in change.

An IRO document has been developed with
young people from the CICC. This will be sent
out with the invites for the review meeting so
that young people know what will happen and
who they will meet.

At present, 18 Durham County Council
Services have an active IIC Membership
Award, which recognises and celebrates
examples of imaginative and inclusive practice
across Children’s Services.

They young people have also developed this
animation which explains the role of an IRO
https://www.youtube.com/embed/GEM-w-x7xtc

Artstops - creative images in
public spaces
#artstops #durhamartstops

Social worker profiles
It was suggested by young people that social
workers (and Full Circle/CAMHS workers)
provide profiles of themselves so that young
people know a little bit about them e.g. if they
have children, favourite foods, movies they like
etc as well as their work contacts and a picture
of themselves.

Twelve care experienced young people
connected with this project to produce and
designed a range of images which have been
put on display in bus stops across the Durham
and Chester-Le-Street area. Use this
interactive map to see exactly where they are.
Following the success of this project, further
discussions are taking place to see how this
project can be implemented in other areas of
County Durham.
The young people’s artwork, poems etc can be
viewed here: HERE.

Peer mentoring
Seven young people have undertaken the
training to become peer mentors. IIC and the
CICC are working with DCC staff to ensure that
the young people taking part in the programme
have the support that they need to make sure
they feel safe and know what to do with any
information that is shared or disclosed during
these sessions.
The peer mentor programme is being
developed and implemented slowly to ensure
all plans and support are in place.

Contact details

countydurhampartnership@durham.gov.uk
Page 159

35

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 8

Cabinet
14th September 2022
Health & Care Integration
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
Jane Robinson, Corporate Director of Adult and Health Services
Councillor Chris Hood, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Adult and
Health Services
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To update Cabinet about potential changes to health and care
integration and seek agreement to a preferred option for discussion with
health and care partners.

2

To seek agreement to present further reports following those
discussions with health and care partners.

Executive Summary
3

The Health and Care Act 2022 received Royal Assent on 28 April 2022.
The Act includes provisions to strengthen health and care integration
which the Government set out in more detail in the Integration White
Paper (February 2022).

4

Alongside other measures, the Integration White Paper offers 5 options
for partnership working between health and social care at a place-based
level. These options have been developed by NHS England with the
Local Government Association. 'Place' is defined as upper tier Local
Authority areas. For us, those are the boundaries of County Durham.

5

The Integration White Paper asks that health and care partners
implement one of the 5 options in their 'places' by April 2023.

Page 161

6

The County Durham Care Partnership (CDCP) has discussed the 5
options available and has expressed a preference for a Joint Committee
to:
(a)

Be co-produced with the North East and North Cumbria
Integrated Care Board (ICB);

(b)

Operate in 'shadow form' from October 2022, as detailed
Government guidance is not currently available;

(c)

Be fully operational from April 2023.

Recommendation(s)
7

Cabinet is recommended to:
(a)

note the potential changes to health and care integration set out
in the Health and Care Act 2022 and the Integration White Paper
(February 2022);

(b)

agree the preferred option for future health and care integration is
a Joint Committee to be:
• co-produced with the ICB;
• operate in 'shadow form' from October 2022;
• fully operational from April 2023.

Page 162

(c)

note that further detailed discussion is needed with health and
care partners and, that Government guidance may be published
which would have an impact on the preferred option;

(d)

Request further reports are presented following discussions with
health and care partners with more detailed proposals for
consideration.

Background
8

9

10

Durham County Council has a strong track record in integrating health
and care services over many years. In 2018, the Council and Partners
formed the County Durham Care Partnership (CDCP). Since 2018, the
Council and CDCP have:
(a)

Integrated Adult Care and NHS Community Services and formed
stronger working relationships with primary care

(b)

Sustained integrated teams in Mental Health and Learning
Disabilities

(c)

Progressed integration through an Integration Programme

(d)

Made join appointments with health partners in Commissioning
and Adult Social Care and Community Services

(e)

Revised the CDCP structures in April 2021 in anticipation of
changes in the Health and Care Act 2022. A copy of the current
Terms of Reference and Memorandum of Understanding for the
CDCP Executive is attached at Appendix 2.

In February 2022, the Government published the Integration White
Paper which set out its ambitions for future joint working between health
and care. In summary, the White Paper:
(a)

Recognised the joint challenges facing health and care in
increasing and more complex demand, resources, prevention,
and workforce

(b)

Acknowledged the work done so far by the health and care
sectors and the commitment to do more learning from the
experience of Covid-19

(c)

Set out its ambition to 'level up health outcomes' and put 'much
greater emphasis on prevention'

(d)

Defined successful integration as 'the planning, commissioning,
and delivery of co-ordinated, joined up seamless services to
support people to live healthy, independent, and dignified lives
and which improves outcomes for the population. Everyone
should receive the right care, in the right place at the right time'

The White Paper has some specific proposals, such as:

Page 163

11

12

Page 164

(a)

A shared outcomes framework for health and care in County
Durham. We have a shared outcomes framework in place in
County Durham

(b)

A designated person with responsibility to deliver the shared
outcomes framework

(c)

Changes to nationally determined regulations about workforce,
digital and data, financial pooling, and assurance mechanisms
with underpin integration

(d)

Proposals to strengthen the health and care services in place that
feel familiar to the people living in them, while strategic planning
is carried out in the North East and North Cumbria level 'places
will be the engine for delivery and reform'

The White Paper offers 'places' 5 options which have been developed
with the Local Government Association. These include:
(a)

A Consultative Forum led by the ICB with an advisory role on
changes to health and care

(b)

The delegation of decisions to an 'individual executive' or other
staff by the statutory bodies in a 'place'

(c)

A committee of a statutory body. This could be the ICB or Council
acting alone or together

(d)

A Joint Committee of health and care partners with delegated
defined decision-making functions which are consistent with the
Constitutions of the statutory bodies

(e)

A lead provider, such as an NHS Trust, managing resources on
behalf of partners under a contract with the ICB and/or the
Council for a defined set of services

The CDCP has considered which of these options would:
(a)

Help us to deliver our vision for integrated care. 'To bring together
health, social care and voluntary organisations to achieve
improved health and wellbeing for the people of County Durham'

(b)

Build on the strengths of our current partnerships

(c)

Supports the wider aims of the Health & Wellbeing Board to
reduce health inequalities

(d)

Is the most effective way to address our shared demand,
complexity, workforce, finance, and assurance challenges

(e)

Involve all partners including the voluntary sector and
HealthWatch

13

The CDCP's preferred option is a Joint Committee. This option meets
the criteria set out above. Unlike the other options, it includes all
partners and gives the maximum potential to integrate health and care.

14

In May 2022, the Chief Executive of the ICB attended the Health &
Wellbeing Board and suggested that the ICB would co-produce a Joint
Committee with the CDCP. This would include arrangements for:

15

(a)

Leadership, accountability, and finance

(b)

Shared planning and managing delivery against an outcomes
framework

(c)

Shared risk identification and management

(d)

Common systems to use data and maximise the impact of digital
innovation on health and care

(e)

Clear accountability to partners especially statutory partners

(f)

Financial frameworks and incentives

(g)

Oversight of and support for the quality of services

(h)

The inclusion of a wide range of services such as Adult Social
Care, Children and Young People's Services, Public Health,
Commissioning and Supported Housing

On 24 June 2022 ICB staff met with partners from local authorities, the
voluntary sector, NHS Trusts, and patient groups to discuss each of the
options. This meeting helped clarify the possible governance,
membership and functions of a Joint Committee and the importance of
the Health & Wellbeing Board.

Possible Governance
16

A Joint Committee would enable collective decisions to be made within
its scope of delegated authority on behalf of several organisations such
as the ICB and the Council. The Joint Committee would bring about
multi-agency decision making and delegation of resources to address
the health and care needs of residents more effectively.

17

A Joint Committee would have direct lines of reporting and assurance to
the ICB, the Health & Wellbeing Board and Cabinet. It would require
agreement by all partners but especially the statutory bodies of the ICB
and the Council to levels of delegated authority. It would be expected
Page 165

that levels of delegated authority, governance and operating principles
would be set out in a formally agreed Memorandum of Understanding
18

We already have an agreed Terms of reference and Memorandum of
Understanding for the County Durham Care Partnership Executive that
we can use to establish? a Joint Committee with the ICB

Possible Membership
19

20

As a minimum it is expected that the membership of a Joint Committee
would include:
(a)

A chair jointly appointed by Joint Committee members

(b)

Senior ICB officers

(c)

Senior Local Authority officers covering services such as Adult
Care, Children and Young People's Services and Public Health

(d)

Clinical leaders from Primary, Community and Secondary care

(e)

Senior officers from NHS Trusts

(f)

The voluntary sector

(g)

Patients and service users

Our current arrangements in the County Durham Care Partnership
Executive has a membership which covers the ICB, Council, NHS
Trusts, clinical leaders, County Durham Community Action, and County
Durham HealthWatch

Possible functions
21

Page 166

A Joint Committee could:
(a)

Develop and agree a plan to meet the healthcare needs of the
local population. This would build on our current Health &
Wellbeing Strategy and Commissioning and Delivery Plan.

(b)

Plan and commission services (to include developing business
cases and procurement strategies) in line with the ICB and
Council's schemes of delegation and delegated financial limits

(c)

Commission local primary care services (excluding nationally
negotiated GP contracts)

22

23

(d)

Develop local clinical leadership including clinical pathway
redesign and helping to shape the commissioning of acute
services

(e)

Build on existing strong relationships with communities and the
wider local system including HealthWatch, the voluntary sector
and other local public services

(f)

Foster service development and delivery with a focus on
neighbourhoods and communities, ensuring local engagement
and consultations are undertaken as necessary

(g)

Monitor local service quality and the place-based delivery of key
enabling strategies as agreed by the ICB, the Council and
partners

(h)

Monitor and deliver target outcomes and outputs set by the
Secretary of State, NHS England, NICE, CQC, the Council and
partners and providing assurance on progress

In addition, the Joint Committee will work with ICB place teams to:
(a)

Coordinate NHS input into local partnerships to improve public
health prevent disease and reduce inequalities

(b)

Fulfil the NHS's statutory advisory role in adults and children's
safeguarding

(c)

Jointly commission local integrated community-based services for
children and adults including
(i)

Care homes and domiciliary care

(ii)

Continuing health care

(iii)

Personal health budgets

(iv)

Community mental health, learning disability and autism

(v)

Children and young people's services (including transitions,
special educational needs, and disabilities, looked after
children)

(vi)

Service integration initiatives and jointly funded wok through
the Better Care Fund and Section 75 agreements

In County Durham we already have an Integrated Commissioning Team
which delivers many of the activities outlined above across health, adult

Page 167

care, children and young people's care, public health, mental health,
and primary care

Health & Wellbeing Board
24

Throughout the discussions with the ICB the importance of the Health &
Wellbeing Board has been emphasised. Boards will have a central role
to play in developing plans and strategies but also in monitoring the
operation and progress of the Joint Committee. This is in line with the
Board's role to promote integrated working

Financial arrangements
25

In County Durham, we currently have pooled or shared funding such as
the Better Care Fund. The Integration White Paper (February 2022)
suggests that greater flexibility to pool budgets and share resources
could be given to Joint Committees. This will then lead to discussions
about:
(a)

How shared budgets will be set, agreed, and monitored. It is likely
that the Council's Budget and Policy framework and audit
systems will continue to apply to Council funds put into shared
budgets.

(b)

How we manage budget pressures, underspends, and
overspends.

Scrutiny and Corporate Oversight
26

The work of a Joint Committee would be within the scope of Overview
and Scrutiny Committees. It is expected, that as now, Overview and
Scrutiny Committees would receive reports from a Joint Committee and
can scrutinise performance and progress against objectives. Overview
and Scrutiny Committees would, as now, be able to carry out more
detailed examinations leading to service improvements and better
outcomes for residents

27

In terms of corporate oversight it is expected that the senior staff who
are part of the Joint Committee would report back to their organisations.
For the Council this would be via Corporate Management Team. For
other senior staff it would include the ICB Executive and NHS Trust
Executive's

28

As part of the discussions with health and care partners we will need to
identify which duties and responsibilities could be delegated to the Joint
Committee. This will require the advice and support of the Councils

Page 168

Legal and Democratic Services Team to ensure consistency with the
Council's Constitution.
29

Cabinet may wish to note that guidance from the Government about the
5 options for 'place' based working, finance and resources mentioned in
the White Paper has not yet been published but is expected in late
summer or early autumn.

Conclusion
30

County Durham has a strong track record in the integration of health
and care. The Integration White Paper and Health and Care Act 2022
provides opportunities to build on the success of the County Durham
Care Partnership. The option for 'place' based working offered by the
White Paper which would appear to deliver the council's agreed vision
for integration and our wider aims for health and care is a Joint
Committee

Background papers
•

NHS England and the Local Government Association 'Thriving
Places: Guidance on the development of place-based
partnerships' September 2021

•

Department of Health and Social Care 'Health and Social Care
Integration: Joining up care for people, places and populations'
February 2022

•

HM Government Health and Care Act 2022

Other useful documents
•

Contact:

None

Michael Laing

Tel: 07917 513348

Page 169

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
The proposed Joint Committee will need to be established in accordance with
the provisions of the Health and Care Act 2022 and the Government guidance
on ‘place’ based working, which is yet to be published. The Council will need
to review its decision making arrangements within the Constitution to reflect
the role and delegated powers of the Joint Committee.

Finance
The White Paper proposes changes to the regulations about pooling of health
and care budgets and resources. The detailed guidance is yet to be published
but is expected to give further discretion to health and care partners. The Joint
Committee option will help health and care partners shared resources and
manage variations in budgets collectively

Consultation
The CDCP Forum, HealthWatch and Durham Community Action will be
involved in the co-production of a Joint Committee

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
People who use health and care services have protected characteristics and
these will be considered as part of the co-production of the Joint Committee

Climate Change
Our aim is to minimise duplication and reduce the use of transport by
delivering care closer to home, this will contribute to the Council's zero net
carbon target

Human Rights
None

Crime and Disorder
None

Staffing
None

Accommodation
None

Page 170

Risk
None

Procurement
The Joint Committee option will enable further collaboration on procurement
between health and care partners.

Page 171

Page 172

Appendix 1

COUNTY DURHAM CARE PARTNERSHIP EXECUTIVE
Terms of Reference
Effective from 23rd August 2022
1.

Introduction
1.1. The County Durham Care Partnership Executive (CDCPE) has been
established to progress and embed the County Durham (CD) Care
Partnership arrangements, which have been in place since April 2017. The
partnership arrangements are in line with the proposals in the NHS White
Papers, published in February 2021 and February 2022. The Executive has
been established as a result of the revised Memorandum of Understanding
(MoU), between the organisations set out below, being agreed in July 2022.
The CD Care Partnership includes the following organisations:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Board (ICB)
Durham County Council (DCC)
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT)
Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV)
Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust (HDFT)
Primary Care Networks in County Durham (PCNs)
Durham Community Action
HealthWatch

1.2. Within the County Durham Care Partnership, there are four thematic
partnerships boards, focused on delivery:
• Acute Care Partnership Board
• Children and Young People's Partnership Board
• Primary, Community and Social Care Partnership Board
• Mental Health and Learning Disabilities Partnership Board
These thematic partnerships boards will be accountable to each of the
organisations within the CD Care Partnership. The confirmed minutes of
these meetings will be received by the CDCPE.
1.3. The CDCPE will be accountable to the Health and Wellbeing Board (HWBB)
of Durham County Council, the ICB and other partner members. For the
HWBB an update will be provided at each meeting under the heading of the
Integration Update. Individual members will be responsible for keeping their
own organisations informed and to ensure where required from a governance
1
Page 173

perspective, decisions are made or ratified linked to the work of the CD Care
Partnership.

2. Remit and responsibilities
The CDCPE is responsible for monitoring the shared ambitions set out in the revised
Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) between the CD Care Partnership
organisations. To do this activity within the scope of the CDCPE will:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

Be responsible for the strategic planning, delivery and oversight of health and
social care in Durham.
Develop and agree a plan to meet the health and care needs of the local
population. Currently this is the County Durham Place Based Commissioning and
Delivery Plan 2020-2025.
Plan and commission services(to include developing business cases and
procurement strategies), in line with the ICB’s scheme of delegation and
delegated financial limits
Commission local primary care services (excluding nationally negotiated GP
contracts)
Develop local clinical leadership, including clinical pathway redesign and helping
to shape the commissioning of acute services
Build strong relationships with communities, the wider local system including
Healthwatch, the voluntary sector and other partners
Foster service development and delivery with a focus on neighbourhoods and
communities, ensuring local engagement and consultations are undertaken as
necessary
Monitor local service quality and the place-based delivery of key enabling
strategies as agreed by the ICB Board or Executive Committee and Durham
County Council
Monitor and deliver targets and outcomes set by the Secretary of State, NHS
England, NICE, CQC and other authorised bodies and providing assurance to the
ICB and Durham County Council on progress
Work with the ICB place teams and Durham County Council to have oversight of
health and social care in County Durham including:
▪ Strategic planning,
▪ Performance and delivery,
▪ Workforce development
▪ Integration across the County Durham health and social care system,
▪ Financial performance,
▪ Service quality and patient experience
▪ The co-ordination of NHS input into local partnership initiatives to improve
public health, prevent disease and reduce inequalities
▪ Fulfil the NHS’s statutory health advisory role in adults’ and children’s
safeguarding
Monitor the progress of work within the thematic partnership boards acting as an
escalation point where necessary.

2
Page 174

CDCPE recognises the vital role of ICB place teams in delivering our ambitions for
health and care in County Durham, CDCPE aims to work with the ICB place team to
jointly commission local, integrated, community-based services for children and
adults including
•
Care homes and domiciliary care
•
Continuing health care
•
Personal health budgets
•
Community mental health, learning disabilities and autism
•
Children and young people's services covering transitions, special
educational needs and looked after children
•
Service integration initiatives and jointly funded work through, for
example, the Better Care Fund and Section 75 arrangements
The CDCPE, as an entity, does not have delegated authority as yet from any of the
CD Care Partnership organisations, however, decisions may be made in line with the
delegated authority conferred on individual members in line with each organisation's
Constitution and Scheme of Delegation. It is our ambition to co-produce a Joint
Committee by April 2023
The CDCPE will also:
Transformation
•
•
•
•
•

Receive and approve prioritised Acute, Community and wider system Service
Development Improvement Plans.
Receive reports to provide assurance regarding joint work plans and agree
mitigating actions relating to exceptions regarding non-delivery where
appropriate.
Call specific work stream leaders or relevant others to outline progress when
required.
Monitor system wide progress regarding cost reduction and improvement of
clinical services.
Devise, implement and monitor a driven collective vision and strategy congruent
with The Long-Term NHS Plan.

Quality and Performance
•
•
•

Receive reports relating to quality, financial and performance assurance,
regarding patient safety, experience and clinical effectiveness of the services
provided.
Monitor finance and activity against demand plans (In addition to activity and
Trust costs through quality, innovation, productivity and prevention (QIPP) and
agree any mitigating actions as required.
Ensure that any discussion includes quality and performance implications to
facilitate a truly integrated approach including patient and public implications.

The CDCPE:
3
Page 175

•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

•

3.

Is responsible for discharging any statutory duties delegated or identified by
partners relating to social care and health assessment, commissioning,
provision, quality and safety, finance, and performance reporting. This will
include any delegation from the ICB, Durham County Council or partners.
Is answerable to the partner organisations and will engage with the ICB and
any area-based style arrangements on behalf of partners.
Will negotiate/agree any relevant delegated budgets with the ICB and Durham
County Council as required.
Will set medium, and long-term milestones based on a realistic vision and
measurable goals.
Will agree joint strategies, objectives and priorities for approval by the partner
organisations
Will work together to align priorities and overcome cultural and performance
challenges.
Will agree and prioritise high level population health and care outcomes
based on public health evidence and establish a shared performance
management and benefits realisation framework.
Will agree any relevant budgets, shared financial plan and financial framework
and a way of sharing any efficiency gains, as appropriate.
Will have a specific responsibility to develop leadership across disciplines and
sectors.
Will allocate resources to the thematic partnership boards and others to
deliver the prioritised outcomes, approve the partnership boards
transformation plans, hold the thematic partnership boards accountable for
this delivery and act when outcomes are not delivered.
Will promote the cd care partnership to partners, external organisations and
residents.
Membership

Membership comprises of the (following or their nominated deputies, must be of
appropriate seniority):
Members (Voting):
•
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

ICB Executive Director of Place Based Delivery
ICB Medical Director and Directors of Finance and Nursing working in County
Durham
Chief Executive, County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust
Chief Executive, Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust
Chief Executive, Harrogate District Foundation Trust
Corporate Director of Adults and Health Services, Durham County Council
Corporate Director of Children's Services, Durham County Council
Director of Public Health
PCN Clinical Director representation x2
Director of Integrated Community Services
Director of Place ICB/Durham County Council
Executive Director, Durham Community Action
4

Page 176

•

HealthWatch Chair

The following will be invited to attend the meetings when necessary:
• Other senior ICB, Durham County Council, and partners. NECS staff will be in
attendance as required
4.

Frequency of Meetings

The meetings will be held at least once per month via MS Teams or in person.
5.

Administration

Arrangements for secretarial support to the CDCPE will be via the ICB place team
working with the Director of Integrated Community Services.
.
An annual cycle of business and agenda planner will be used to identify the regular
agenda items to be discussed at the meetings, to underpin the governance structure
of the committee and to ensure governance processes across the partner
organisations is adhered to.
Agendas will be issued a minimum of three days prior to the meeting. Requests for
items to be included on the agenda should be sent to the committee administrator at
least 10 days before the meeting.
All papers for discussion must be submitted to the appropriate lead officer for
approval before the agreed deadline.
If an item needs to be raised on the day, this will be covered under ‘any other
business’, subject to its agreed urgency, importance and there being available time.
Any items of other business must be declared at the beginning of the meeting and
their inclusion agreed by the group.
If separate papers require circulation, these should, wherever possible, be issued
with the agenda. This is intended to enable members to have the opportunity to read
information in advance.
At the start of each meeting, members will be asked to confirm the accuracy of the
declaration of interests noted on the agenda.
When necessary, a separate confidential agenda of the meeting will be held only
with agreed members, or their nominated deputies and individuals ‘in-Attendance’
may be required to leave the meeting.
Minutes of each meeting will be formally recorded and submitted to the next meeting
for approval.
A verbal update with regard to the business of the CDCPE will be given to the
County Durham Health and Wellbeing Board, via the Integration update.
Confirmed minutes of each meeting will be provided to each organisation involved in
the CD Care Partnership.
5
Page 177

6.

Conflicts of interest

All members and those in attendance should comply with the ICB and Durham
County Council Standards of Business Conduct and Declarations of Interest Policy
and complete a declaration of interest form on an annual basis, which can be
updated at any time, but which will be formally reviewed on a six-monthly basis. If a
member feels compromised by any agenda item, they should declare a conflict of
interest as soon as they are aware of it, ideally before the meeting. The conflict will
then be considered by the Chair either prior to the meeting or at the meeting. The
Chair would then determine whether the person who declared the interest should
leave the meeting for the discussion and decision making, take part in the discussion
but not the decision making or take part in both the discussion and the decision
making of that agenda item. A detailed record of any declarations of interest made
in relation to the items on the agenda will be recorded in the minutes of the meeting.
In a situation whereby the Chair of the meeting is conflicted, a non-conflicted
member will Chair the meeting.
7.

Governance Structure

The CDCPE will operate in accordance with the Constitutions of each of the Care
Partnership organisations and within the delegated authority of the individual
members.
8.

Policy and Best Practice

The CDCPE will apply best practice in its decision making, and in particular it will
ensure that decisions are based on clear and transparent criteria.
9.

Conduct of the Executive
6

Page 178

All members of the CDCPE and participants in its meetings will comply with the
Standards of Business Conduct for NHS Staff, the NHS Code of Conduct, the CCG’s
Policy on Standards of Business Conduct and Declarations of Interest which
incorporate the Nolan Principles and with the Local Authority Officer Code of
Conduct.

Each partner will ensure that their organisation is kept informed of the work of the
CDCPE and that strategies are aligned, and decisions have due regard to the shared
ambitions and values of the organisations within the County Durham Care
Partnership.
10.

Quoracy

The meeting will be quorate with at least four members or their deputies present,
including where possible, representation across health and social care. Members of
the CDCPE may appoint a deputy to attend meetings in their place.

Effective from: 23 August 2022

Review date: as required but no later than 1 April 2023
Document Management:
Version
V2

Date
23 August
2022

Author
Michael Laing,
Director of
Integrated
Community
Services,
CDDFT / DCC

Amendments
New ToR

Review
As required
but no later
than 1 April
2023

7
Page 179

Memorandum of
Understanding

8
Page 180

MEMORANDUM OF UNDERSTANDING
Date: 23 August 2022
Introduction
The purpose of this Memorandum of Understanding (MoU) is to establish a
framework for the discharge of delegated statutory duties, budgets, and outcomes
between the following organisations regarding integrated care in County Durham:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Durham County Council (DCC)
North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Board (ICB)
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust (CDDFT)
Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust (TEWV)
Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust (HDFT)
Primary Care Networks (PCNs)
County Durham Community Action
Healthwatch

Context
1.

County Durham has a strong track record in the integration of health and care to
improve outcomes for residents. The Health & Care Act 2022 and the Integration
White Paper 2022 provide opportunities to build on our current arrangements. It
is our intention to coproduce a Joint Committee for health and care in County
Durham by April 2023 as suggested in the Integration White Paper.

2.

It is now widely acknowledged that a new approach is needed to work towards
greater levels of integration to bring positive benefits in terms of improving
people’s health, wellbeing and experience of care, particularly in wrapping
services around people’s needs and shifting the focus to keeping people well
and happy at home, with reduced demand for hospital and other health and care
services.

3.

The aim of this MoU is to guide our work at “place” and strengthen our
arrangements so that the County Durham Care Partnership (CDCP) will be able
to:
•

Discharge statutory functions delegated by the ICB, Durham County Council
and partners.

•

Allocate and manage budgets delegated by the ICB, Durham County Council
and partners.

•

Through the supporting partnerships, deliver better outcomes for residents.
9
Page 181

4.

This version of the MoU is an updated version of that agreed in June 2021 to
reflect the changing landscape and the development of the ICB.

5.

Schedule 1 sets out our approach to Strategic Integrated Commissioning.

Shared Vison
6. Our vision for integrated care is:
To bring together health and social care and voluntary organisations to achieve
improved health and wellbeing for the people of County Durham
Our commitment to the people of County Durham is to:
• Deliver the right care to you by teams working together.
• Help you and those in your community lead a healthy life.
• Build on existing teams already working together to help you stay well and
remain independent.
• Provide improved services closer to your home.
• Offer a range of services working alongside GP practices which meet your
needs.
7. We will work together to develop a single comprehensive system delivery plan
for health and care across County Durham which covers the whole life course.
This plan will set out the key objectives for delivery and improvement across
County Durham.
Structures and Governance
8. Our structures and governance are described in detail below and attached at
Appendix 1.
Partnership Executive
9. The Partnership Executive will replace the Executives in Common. The
Partnership Executive:
•

Is responsible for discharging the statutory duties delegated or identified by
partners relating to social care and health assessment, commissioning,
provision, quality and safety, finance, and performance reporting. This
includes the delegation from the ICB of those activities which have been the
statutory duty of the CCG.
10

Page 182

•
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

•

Is answerable to the partner organisations and will engage with the ICB and
any Area style arrangements on behalf of partners.
Will negotiate delegated budgets with the ICB, Durham County Council and
partners.
Will set medium, and long-term milestones based on a realistic vision and
measurable goals.
Will agree joint strategies, objectives, and priorities for approval by the partner
organisations
Will work together to align priorities and overcome cultural and performance
challenges.
Will agree and prioritise high level population health and care outcomes
framework based on evidence and establish a shared performance
management and benefits realisation system.
Will agree a budget, shared financial plan and financial framework and a way
of sharing any efficiency gains.
Will have a specific responsibility to develop leadership across disciplines and
sectors.
Will allocate resources to the Partnership Boards and others to deliver the
prioritised outcomes, approve the Partnership Boards Transformation Plans,
hold the Partnership Boards accountable for this delivery and act when
outcomes are not delivered.
Will promote the County Durham Care Partnership to partners, external
organisations and residents.

The Partnership Executive will:
•

•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

Lead the social care and health system and by example create a culture of
collaboration, openness and joint working and ensure that the Partnership
Boards and partner organisations work in the same way.
Build commitment ensuring that integration is shared and rooted deeper within
organisations at tactical and operational levels.
Exercise the strategic management of the social care and health system
respecting the different legislative and regulatory frameworks of partners.
Agree, and periodically review, principles and protocols which underpin
integration.
Resolve differences between partners.
Facilitate mutual support between partners when needed.
Engage with representative bodies across County Durham with an interest in
social care and health.
Ensure that the Partnership Boards co-design services with those who receive
services.
Prefer to integrate senior posts and pool resources as the opportunity arises.
Work collaboratively on those activities set out in the Terms of Reference
11
Page 183

The Partnership Executive will:
•

•

•
•
•

Be led, initially, by the Chief Officers and move towards the identification of an
agreed integrated senior post which incorporates the responsibilities for social
care and commissioning delegated to the Executive by the partners as set out
in the Integration White Paper
Have as members Corporate Directors of Durham County Council, ICB
Executive Directors and Directors working in County Durham, joint
postholders including the Director of Integrated Community Services, the
Director of Place, the Director of Public Health, NHS Trust Chief Executives,
representatives of the Primary Care Networks x2, County Durham Community
Action and HealthWatch
Be supported by a core team of other staff
Draw on the expertise taking part in Enabling Groups
Be advised when requested by members of the Partnership Boards.

The Partnership Boards
10. The Partnership Boards will build on our existing joint working groups and
partnerships for acute services, children’s and young people’s services, mental
health and learning disabilities and adult social care, primary care and
community services. The Partnership Boards will:
Be answerable to the Partnership Executive.
• Be responsible for the delivery of the outcomes determined by the Partnership
Executive.
• Be accountable for the best use of the resources allocated to them by the
Partnership Executive.
• Adopt a shared performance management and benefits realisation framework.
• Share accountability for the successful delivery of outcomes and resolve
challenges jointly.
• Resolve issues between themselves and hold each other accountable.
• Agree between partners the most effective and efficient way to deliver the
outcomes regardless of organisational boundaries based on the partnership’s
principles.
• Agree lead partners on the delivery of outcomes and activity.
• Deploy resources jointly to deliver outcomes.
• Promote partnership working within operational teams.
• Co-operate with other Partnership Boards.

12
Page 184

The Partnership Boards will:
•
•
•
•
•

•
•
•

Take a lead their area of work with collaboration, openness and joint working.
Agree shared Transformation Plans and projects to facilitate integration.
Share resources to deliver the Transformation Plans.
Involve residents and the voluntary sector in service development and
improvement.
Develop services which address the needs of localities and PCN areas taking
account of the needs of the population, the geography and distribution of
facilities, gaps in services and strengths.
Share efficiency gains to further the overall aims of the partnership.
Operate on an “open book” basis.
Share good practice and innovation.

The Partnership Boards will:
•
•
•
•

•

Have as members representatives of partners of enough seniority or
experience to commit organisations within the bounds of delegated authority.
Include advisers with financial, clinical, quality and safety, digital,
communications and estates expertise.
Be supported by an integrated Project Management Team.
Link, via their members, with other groups within the system. For example, the
Primary, Community and Social Care Partnership will link into the Primary
Care Network Clinical Directors Group and co-produce improvements with
them.
Integrate posts when the opportunity allows across the partnership.

The Partnership Forum
11. The Partnership Forum will bring together, in an informal setting, ICB Lay or
Partner Members, Councillors and Trust Non-Executive Directors, Healthwatch,
the voluntary sector and other partners 3 times per year to focus on shared
issues. These can range from health inequalities, the needs of groups,
developments in national or regional policies and their impact locally and to
foster a better understanding of each organisation. The forum will encourage the
Executive and Partnership Boards to integrate services and highlight areas
where the system is working well or may need to re-consider our approach. The
Forum may wish to have themed meetings covering each Partnership or a
particular condition or geographical area.
The Enabling Groups
12. It is expected that the expertise mentioned in the Enabling Groups meet
regularly and work together to support the Executive and Partnership Boards. It
13
Page 185

is anticipated that over time, shared plans on digital and IT management and
estates will be developed.
13. All MoU signatory organisations are an integral part of the governance structure
and are represented at all levels of decision-making.
14. The governance structure is based on the principle that decisions will be taken
by the relevant partner organisation(s) at the most appropriate level.
15. Partners are committed to delegating functions to the Executive Partnership and
exercising oversight. It is acknowledged that individual partner organisations will
retain their responsibility for their statutory duties and governance.
Guiding Principles
16. The following guiding principles underpin the work of the County Durham Care
Partnership:
• Partners are all equal status and will work collaboratively and support each
other in the spirit and intention of this MoU.
• Partners will be open and transparent and act in good faith towards each
other.
• Partners will commit resources appropriately to support the delivery of the
agreed objectives.
• Partners will demonstrate a willingness to put the needs of the public before
the needs of individual organisations.
• All partners recognise and acknowledge that integration is an interactive and
iterative process.
• The CDCP will review its progress at regular intervals with the aim of
challenging the level of ambition to enhance the integrated offer further.

Objectives
17. Partners agree the following objectives of development, commissioning and
delivery of integrated care:
• To commission and deliver integrated care at “place” as part of a reformed
Integrated Care System.
• A whole system approach, moving from fragmented to integrated care, with a
willingness to put the needs of the public before the needs of individual
organisations.
• Person-focused to promote wellbeing, prevention and independence.
14
Page 186

• Providing the right care and support, in the right place, at the right time, by the
right person.
• Delivering a sustainable health and social care system within existing
resources, using a multidisciplinary team approach.
• A system built on trust, not only between leaders and organisations but also
with local people and communities.
• Supporting and developing staff to develop a shared culture, behaviours and
ownership.
• Everyone’s contribution matters – from local people, frontline teams,
healthcare practitioners, providers, voluntary and community sector leaders
and board members.
• The integrated model will be developed to link with the wider system including
housing, employment, the environment, voluntary and community facilities, to
align priorities for the benefit of local communities. This evolving partnership
approach will involve primary care being at the centre of patient activity and
taking a proactive role in the commissioning of both NHS and integrated
service provision.
18. Partners have agreed and developed a set of standards which represent the
ambition to deliver the vision, based on four key principles:
•
•
•
•

Prevention
Proactive care
Responsive and accessible care
Coordinated approach

19. The anticipated outcomes of successful delivery of the vision are shown in
Schedule 2.
Sharing information
20. The partners agree that they will share all information relevant to delivery of the
vision for integrated care in an honest, open and timely manner.
21. The CDCP will consent to an information-sharing agreement, which will allow the
partners to manage their relationships and the flow of information between them
in a confidential manner and with the best interest of the client (service user,
patient and carer) at its core.
22. The partners have developed an approach to risk sharing which forms the basis
of any future formal agreements. This will be reviewed as required and does not
negate the need for risks to be reflected in individual partner organisations risk
management systems as well as the CDCP risk register.

15
Page 187

Conflicts of Interest
23. The partners agree that they will:
• Disclose to each other the full particulars of any real or apparent conflict of
interest which may arise in connection with this MoU.
• Not allow themselves to be placed in a position of conflict of interest or duty
with regard to any of their obligations under this MoU.
• Use their best endeavours to ensure that all associated partners also comply
with the guiding principles and aims when acting in connection with this MoU.
Term and Termination
24. This MoU will commence on the date of signature of the partners and shall
continue for an initial period of one year, to be reviewed at least annually.
25. This MoU, including the Schedules, may only be varied by written agreement of
all the signatory organisations.
26. This MoU is not intended to be legally binding, and no legal obligations or legal
rights will arise between the partners from this MoU. The partners enter the MoU
intending to honour all their mutual obligations.
27. In the event of a partner leaving the CDCP the following will apply:
• The relevant partner will notify the other signatory organisations in writing
• This MoU will be amended as appropriate
• The annual review date for this MoU will be revised accordingly

16
Page 188

Signatories
Signature
Date
John Hewitt, Chief Executive,
Durham County Council

Signature
Date
Samantha Allen, Chief Executive
North East and North Cumbria Integrated Care Board

Signature
Date
Sue Jacques, Chief Executive,
County Durham and Darlington NHS Foundation Trust

Signature
Date
Brent Kilmurray, Chief Executive,
Tees, Esk and Wear Valleys NHS Foundation Trust

Signature
Date
Chief Executive,
Harrogate and District NHS Foundation Trust

Primary Care Network Representatives

Signature
Date
Representative, County Durham PCN
17
Page 189

Signature
Date
Representative, County Durham PCN

Signature
Date
Kate Burrows, Executive Director
Durham Community Action

Signature
Date
Chris Cunnington-Shore
HealthWatch

18
Page 190

Schedule 1
Development of the Strategic Integrated Commissioning Function
The inclusion of local government in integrated care systems represents a significant
opportunity to include social care, public health and wider population health, bringing
the relevant skills that they have. The NHS cannot do this alone. Generally, local
government has a more direct relationship with its citizens and has a different
understanding of insight. Bringing these skills together with the work already done in
the NHS will only increase capacity, capability and understanding in the system
overall.
https://www.kingsfund.org.uk/publications/joined-up-listening-integrated-care-andpatient-insight

Introduction
1. We have agreed to develop this annexe to the Memorandum of Understanding to
help strengthen our joint working arrangements and to support the development
of our Strategic Integrated Commissioning Function. It builds on our existing
collaborative work to establish more robust mutual accountability and break down
barriers between our separate organisations.
2. This is not intended to be legally binding, and no legal obligations or legal rights
shall arise between the Partners from this Memorandum. It is a formal
understanding between the Partners who have entered this Memorandum
intending to honour all their obligations under it.
3. It is based on an ethos that the partnership is for the people of County Durham; it
does not replace or override the legal and regulatory frameworks that apply to our
statutory NHS organisations and Council. Instead, it sits alongside and
complements these frameworks, creating the foundations for closer and more
formal collaboration.

Background
4. The focus for partnerships is moving increasing away from simply treating ill
health to preventing it, and to tackling the wider determinants of health, such as
housing, employment, social inclusion and the physical environment.
5. Nationally the agenda is shifting to promote integrated commissioning across
larger footprints, however, systems are being allowed to put forward local
solutions, which align to this agenda and are being allowed to proceed if they can

19
Page 191

demonstrate they have a clear plan in place and are already in the process of
implementation.
6. The proposed direction of travel to develop a Health and Social Care Plan for
County Durham has been agreed, including the integration of commissioning
functions; the Integrated Commissioning Group has been developing options for
an Integrated Strategic Commissioning function
7. This is likely to include the commissioning of community-based services for
children and adults across the County. Acute (hospital based) and other health
care commissioning may sit outside of this model, being undertaken by the ICB at
scale.
8. The arrangements for integrated commissioning in County Durham will
complement the ICB's operating model

Principles
9. The following have been proposed as working principles upon which a new
model for Integrated Commissioning will be developed and have been agreed by
Cabinet and Governing Body:
• Function will capture all ages i.e., commissioning for Children and Adults
across the whole life course.
• Whilst the initial focus is on Community Services it is acknowledged in line
with national policy, that the direction of travel is for more hospital-based
services to be provided in the Community.
• Any model will need to work with existing and emerging elements on a
potential Hub and Spoke model i.e., links with Primary Care Networks
(including Teams Around Patients), the Mental Health and Learning Disability
Partnership.
• Joint Management arrangements will be required reporting to the Corporate
Director of Adult and Health Services and the ICB Executive Director of Place
Based Delivery.
• Any integrated team will follow the same approach adopted within the
Community Services model where staff retain their employment status with
their own organisation and associated Terms and Conditions.
• Durham County Council will host an Integrated Function giving opportunities
to explore support to the ICB, for example in terms of legal support.
• Existing connections with Primary Care will be enhanced to ensure the local
influence of clinical leads across the Primary Care Network is maximised
• Both Durham County Council and the ICB will retain their statutory
responsibilities and decision-making processes.

County Durham Care Partnership (CDCP)
20
Page 192

10. CDCP arrangements bring together the Council, voluntary and community
groups, and NHS commissioners and providers (including Primary Care), to take
responsibility for the cost and quality of care for the whole population.
11. These ways of working reflect local priorities and relationships and provide a
greater focus on population health management, integration between providers of
services around the individual’s needs, and a focus on care provided in primary
and community settings.
12. Our partnership approach is geared towards performance improvement and
development rather than traditional performance management. It will be datadriven, evidence-based and rigorous. The focus will be on improvement,
supporting the spread and adoption of innovation and best practice.

Governance
13. The CDCP Executive is the key coordinating body and with membership
including leaders from all organisations in the system, will be able to act as a
forum where whole-system challenges can be addressed, and solutions identified
and initiated.
14. Durham County Council is not subject to NHS financial controls and its
associated arrangements for managing financial risk, however, through this
Memorandum, they agree to align planning, investment and performance
improvement with NHS partners where it makes sense to do so. Democratically
elected councillors will continue to hold the partner organisations accountable
through their formal Scrutiny powers
15. Partners understand no decision shall be made to make changes to services in
County Durham or the way in which they are delivered without prior consultation
where appropriate in accordance with the partners statutory and other
obligations.

Financial Framework
16. All partners are ready to work together, manage risk together, and support each
other when required. Partners are committed to working individually and in
collaboration with others to deliver the changes required to achieve financial
sustainability and live within our resources.
17. Partners commit to demonstrate robust financial risk management. This will
include agreeing action plans that will be mobilised in the event of the emergence
of financial risk outside plans.
18. A set of financial principles have been agreed and confirm we will:
•

Aim to live within our means, i.e., the resources that we have available to
provide services
21
Page 193

•

Develop a County Durham system response to the financial challenges we
face
• Develop payment and risk share models that support a system response
rather than work against it.
19. Partners agree to adopt an open-book approach to financial plans and risks
leading to the agreement of fully aligned operational plans.
20. A detailed financial risk share agreement will be developed as part of the
Strategic Integrated Commissioning Function and will be agreed by all partners.

22
Page 194

Schedule 2
Standards

Responsive & Accessible

Prevention
• Health, wellbeing and independence
should be promoted
• Patients will be supported to self-manage
their condition and to maintain a healthy
lifestyle
• A directory of services to be implemented
of health, care and support services in
their local community

• Access to GP / Clinician
• Access to social care support
• Rapid Response from a community
team
• Appropriate services available 7 days
a week
Outcomes

Principles

Outcomes

Proactive
•
•

Co-ordinated

We will develop plans to delay or reduce
the need for care and support
Provide care closer to home where safe
and cost effective to do so to meet the
wider needs of the population
Connecting and supporting people into
their own community with voluntary
sector support

•
•

People will be able to access the
necessary care and support when it
is required
We will provide co-ordinated Health
and Social Care delivery to meet
peoples needs

Standards

•

23
Page 195

Page 196

Appendix 3

24

Agenda Item 9

Cabinet
14 September 2022
Discharge of Transport Functions by
Durham County Council 2021/22
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
Amy Harhoff, Corporate Director of Regeneration, Economy and
Growth
Councillor Elizabeth Scott, Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economy
and Partnerships
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

To update Cabinet on the transport activity carried out by the Council
under delegation originally from the North East Combined Authority
(NECA) which has continued under the North East Joint Transport
Committee.

Executive summary
2

The Council is required to report to the North East Joint Transport
Committee annually on the discharge of the functions delegated to the
Council. Appendix 2 to this report contains the information which will be
reported in respect of the last year.

Recommendation
3

Cabinet is recommended to:
(a)

note the contents of this report.

Page 197

Background
4

When NECA approved its constitution in April 2014, it delegated to
Durham County Council transport functions contained in Parts 4 and 5
of the Transport Act 1985 and Part 2 of the Transport Act 2000. These
primarily relate to securing socially necessary bus services,
concessionary travel, and ticketing on local passenger transport
services. Durham’s Cabinet approved the delegation of these functions
at its meeting of 16 April 2014 to the Corporate Director of Regeneration
and Local Services in consultation with the Cabinet Portfolio Holder,
Economic Regeneration.

5

During 2018, responsibility for transport functions became vested in a
statutory Joint Committee comprising of representatives of the new
North of Tyne Combined Authority and the North East Combined
Authority. It was agreed in a Deed of Cooperation entered into by the
seven constituent councils, that the transport functions delegated to the
two counties would remain the same pending any decision by the new
Joint Committee. No changes to the delegations have been proposed.

6

Attached in Appendix 2 is an account of the discharge of transport
functions for 2021/22 agreed by the Corporate Director for
Regeneration, Economy & Growth and Transport Portfolio Holder,
Economy and Partnerships. Appendix 2 is also scheduled to be
reported for information to the North East Joint Transport Committee
meeting on 18 October 2022.

Background papers
•

The North East Combined Authority Constitution
http://northeastca.gov.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2019/07/Constitution-Version-8-June-2019-1.pdf

•

The North East Combined Authority Deed of Operation dated 29
April 2014

•

The North East Combined Authority Deed of Cooperation dated 4
July 2018 https://northeastca.gov.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2018/07/Appendix-1-Deed-of-Cooperation-4July-2018.pdf

Author
Cathy Knight

Page 198

Tel: 03000 268512

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
As detailed within this report.

Finance
Transport functions carried out by or on behalf of the Combined Authority are
funded by a levy raised by the Combined Authority. The funding for transport
functions in Durham is transferred into the Combined Authority, and the
Combined Authority in turn transfers the funding back to the Council to cover
the discharge of its transport functions.

Consultation
None specific in this report.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None specific in this report.

Climate Change
All of the areas of transport detailed in Appendix 2 (The JTC Report)
contribute to many of the aims of the Climate Emergency by maintaining and
encouraging the public to use a comprehensive passenger transport network
across County Durham and beyond.

Human Rights
None specific in this report.

Crime and Disorder
None specific in this report.

Staffing
None specific in this report.

Accommodation
None specific in this report.

Risk
None specific in this report.

Page 199

Procurement
None specific in this report.

Page 200

Appendix 2: JTC Report

Date:

18 October 2022

Subject:

Discharge of Transport Functions by Durham County Council

Report
of:

Portfolio Responsibility for Transport for Durham County Council

Executive Summary
The purpose of this report is to advise the Committee of how Durham County
Council has discharged the transport functions delegated to it by NECA for
the 2021/22 year.
Recommendations
The North East Joint Transport Committee is recommended to note this
report.

Page 201

1.

Background Information

1.1

When NECA approved its constitution in April 2014, it delegated to Durham
County Council transport functions contained in Parts 4 and 5 of the
Transport Act 1985 and Part 2 of the Transport Act 2000. These primarily
relate to securing socially necessary bus services, concessionary travel, and
ticketing on local passenger transport services. Durham’s Cabinet approved
the delegation of these functions at its meeting of 16 April 2014 to the
Corporate Director of Regeneration and Local Services in consultation with
the Cabinet Portfolio Holder, Economic Regeneration.

1.2

During 2018, responsibility for transport functions became vested in a
statutory Joint Committee comprising of representatives of the new North of
Tyne Combined Authority and the North East Combined Authority. It was
agreed in a Deed of Cooperation entered into by the seven constituent
councils, that the transport functions delegated to the two counties would
remain the same pending any decision by the new Joint Committee. No
changes to the delegations have been proposed.

1.3

Attached at Appendix A is an account of the discharge of transport functions
for 2021/22 agreed by the Corporate Director for Regeneration, Economy &
Growth and Transport Portfolio Holder, Economy and Partnerships.
Appendix A was reported for information to the County Council’s Cabinet
meeting on 14 September 2022.

2.

Proposals

2.1

Members are requested to note the report.

3.

Reasons for the Proposals

3.1

The NECA operating agreement requires that the relevant Portfolio holder
provides reports when required to the North East Joint Transport
Committee advising on how the delegated functions have been exercised.

4.

Next Steps and Timetable for Implementation

4.1

These are identified as far as practicable in Appendix A.

5.

Potential Impact on Objectives

5.1

The report describes how Durham County Council is discharging transport
functions delegated by NECA.

6.

Financial and Other Resources Implications

Page 202

6.1

The transport functions will be funded by the levy issued by NECA to
Durham County Council.

7.

Legal Implications

7.1

This report is submitted in accordance with obligations contained in the
Deed of Operation entered into by the constituent authorities on formation
of the Combined Authority.

8.

Key Risks

8.1

None specific in this report.

9.

Equality and Diversity

9.1

None specific in this report.

10.

Crime and Disorder

10.1

None specific in this report.

11.

Consultation/Engagement

11.1

None specific in this report.

12.

Appendices

12.1

Appendix A – North East Combined Authority (NECA) – Durham County
Council Transport Activity Report 2021/22

13.

Background Papers

13.1

The North East Combined Authority Constitution
The North East Combined Authority Deed of Operation dated 29 April 2014
The North East Combined Authority Deed of Cooperation dated 4 July 2018

14.

Contact Officers

14.1

Cathy Knight, Integrated Passenger Transport Strategic Manager, Durham
County Council, cathy.knight@durham.gov.uk, Tel: 03000 268512

15.

Sign off
•
•
•

The Proper Officer for Transport:
Head of Paid Service:
Monitoring Officer:

Page 203

•

Page 204

Chief Finance Officer:

Appendix A
North East Combined Authority (NECA)
Durham County Council Transport Activity Report 2021/22

Introduction
1.

This report covers the discharge of the powers delegated to Durham County
Council in the period April 2021 to March 2022. The Covid-19 pandemic has
naturally continued to have a very substantial impact on activity in this year and
continues to have major repercussions.

Organisational arrangements
2.

The County Council continues to undertake its passenger transport functions
through an ‘Integrated Passenger Transport Group’ (IPTG) in line with
Government’s best practice guidance. The IPTG delivers public transport, home
to school transport, Special Education Needs (SEN) transport and adult social
care transport. It also has close links with health, clinical commissioning groups
and the North East Ambulance Service.

3.

Integrating transport in this way is especially important in more rural areas,
enabling the authority to create packages of work across sectors to maximise the
use of vehicles and staff, ensure full use is made of existing local bus services
for education and social work purposes and deliver consistency of standards
across different modes. The opportunities to integrate commissioning and
delivery of local authority transport with non-emergency healthcare transport
have also helped to deliver a simpler and more understandable service for the
user.

4.

The Council also values the benefits of the harmonisation of policy and delivery
across the economic development, planning, housing and transport functions.
This approach ensures that we can maximise transport’s contribution to
economic growth in the County.

5.

Due to the pandemic, in line with almost all Durham County Council office-based
staff, where possible IPTG staff worked from home during much of 2021/22.
Normal work continued for activities that could not be done from home, such as
printing and distributing bus stop information posters. A hybrid return to 50%
office working was made in autumn 2021 and then suspended in line with the
resumption of national restrictions. Since March 2022 a 60% return to office
working has been made. Functions have been successfully maintained through
these various phases.

Bus Service Network
6.

The diverse geography of County Durham, including its many rural destinations,
creates complex travel demands highlighting the importance of transport across

Page 205

our rural County. The local bus network plays a key role in our ambitions for
County Durham and our wider plan for both transport and the economy.
7.

A comprehensive network of bus services operates across almost all the county,
although frequencies and coverage are reduced during later evenings and on
Sundays, reflecting lower demands for travel.

8.

Services operating without subsidy from Durham County Council (“commercial
services”) provide a high proportion of the network in most of County Durham.
Go North East (53%) and Arriva (42%) provide the majority of the services across
the county. Three other firms also run locally significant bus services without
subsidy. Most of the main towns of County Durham have at least two operators
providing locally significant services without subsidy.

State of Commercial and Subsidised Networks
9.

Until the impact of the Covid pandemic from March 2020, much of the bus
network had been quite stable for a number of years in terms of the level of
service and the service routes, although there have been periodic adjustments
to details. However, following temporary changes in the initial pandemic in 2020,
more substantive changes have occurred in 2021/22

10. In the period up to September 2021, the government’s Covid-19 Bus Service
Subsidy Grant (CBSSG) arrangements, introduced in 2020, continued to provide
crucial financial support to bus services. The full normal scale of the bus network
was maintained from April 2021 except where Arriva had to reduce the weekday
daytime service frequencies on four services from November 2020 primarily due
to driver recruitment issues. The Durham Park and Ride also continued to run at
a reduced frequency for similar reasons. All DCC’s other subsidised services
were maintained as normal.
11. Supplementary school time services introduced from September 2020 continued
until July 2021, funded by the government’s Additional Dedicated Home to
School and College Travel Grant. The Bus Recovery Grant scheme from early
September 2021 provided scope for operators to make a commercial return but
did not protect operators from losses. Services could be reduced by up to 10%
subject to a tapering reduction in funding levels. In the light of predicted losses,
Go North East (GNE) made some material revisions to its services from 4th
September as part of a strategy of making a network they considered fit for the
future. This included certain new links and enhanced services, but also some
economies in frequencies or complete withdrawals of some services which were
considered no longer to be commercially viable. DCC awarded new tendered
contracts for two services and extended an existing contract to sustain services
where the commercial withdrawals would have left communities with no service
or lost important links. The costs were covered by LTA Bus Recovery Grant.
12. Driver shortages became an increasing issue from autumn 2021 onwards, with
buses failing to run due to no staff being available.

Page 206

13. To better match scheduled services with the available workforce, from October
2021 Arriva made temporary changes, with services that had run more frequently
reduced to three buses per hour during Monday to Saturday daytimes, and one
service reduced for part of the route from two to one bus per hour. Most of these
changes were restored in April 2022. For the same reason, from January to early
March 2022 Go North East operated Sunday timetables on Saturdays on most
services from its Consett depot.
14. Both operators have continued to face problems providing fully reliable services,
with cancellations continuing to affect passengers.
15. Total bus boardings have continued to be radically affected by the impact of the
pandemic. It appears patronage in County Durham has generally followed the
experience in other parts of the region, with a bounce back from summer 2021
as pandemic restrictions were eased, and a further growth in the Autumn months.
However, by the year end patronage remained at least 20% below pre-pandemic
levels, with travel by concessionary pass holders lagging materially behind other
passengers. The degree of recovery as the lockdown measures ease remains a
matter of concern, with potential large impacts.

Secured Services Retendering Activity
16. The Council’s general practice is that contracts for bus services are arranged on
4-year cycles, with an option to extend contract periods up to 5 years. Almost all
the Council’s contracts were set to expire in October 2021 but were extended to
October 2022. New and varied contracts were arranged where necessary to
sustain previously commercial services, and two contracts were replaced by new
arrangements where driver shortages made the previous contractor unable to
continue.

Concessionary Fares
17. Reimbursement payments under Durham’s concessionary fare scheme for older
and disabled people form the major element of the County Council’s spending
on public transport. Largely fixed price arrangements have been negotiated with
the two major operators, with “cap and collar” provisions to handle deviations
from expected volumes.
18. In line with government requests, payments to operators were maintained at prepandemic levels except for a proportionate temporary adjustment reflecting the
temporary reduction in services from January/February 2021. In March 2022
Durham’s Cabinet were advised of the uncertainty of government support and
the reduced number of passenger numbers as a result of the Covid pandemic.
Cabinet agreed to enable additional support for bus services in County Durham
during 2022/23 by redirecting funding from the Concessionary Fares budget.

Multi-Operator Ticketing Scheme
19. The circumstances of the pandemic have delayed progress towards a formal
multi-operator ticket scheme. A comprehensive scheme continues to be a key

Page 207

aspiration, with DCC’s ambitions reflected in the proposals in the region’s Bus
Service Improvement Plan bid submitted in autumn 2022.

Community Transport (CT)
20. The CT sector in County Durham has largely resumed its operations during 202122, following a significant reduction or complete suspension of activity in 2020
However for most groups the scale of activities remains reduced.

Home to School/Social Care Transport
21. Home to school and social care transport forms the major part of Durham’s
operations, with a total spend of approximately £22.5million, net spend after
income £18.6million. This includes school transport buses that are paid for by
parents and or schools, supplementing the statutory free travel provided by the
Council. In the 2021/22 school year, about 6,500 pupils received free travel to
school from Durham County Council, with a further 3,000 pupils travelling under
the non-statutory concessionary schemes.
22. Overall transport costs have been increasing and are forecasted to rise further
in future years. This is largely explained by increases in SEN and special
transport demand, increasing contractor prices and increasing expectations and
demands from parents and schools.
23. Following an external review, a number of potential initiatives which can impact
positively on the existing service were identified. The external review identified a
potential opportunity for the Council to deliver efficiencies once fully
implemented.

In House Bus Fleet
24. The council operates an in house bus fleet with 15 buses and 19 drivers. These
vehicles operate on adult social care journeys for passengers with complex
needs. In addition the council operates some on demand transport services.
The Link2 service is open to everyone and aims to cater for people who do not
have a suitable bus service or are unable to access regular bus services due to
mobility issues. The Access Bus provides once a week opportunities for
members of the service to access main shopping destinations.

Travel Response Centre
25. The Council has continued to operate a Travel Response Centre (TRC) for the
telephone booking of non-emergency Patient Transport Service (PTS) to health
appointments, the Council’s Link2 service and Access Bus as well as referrals
from social workers for client travel to adult day care.
26. The TRC handled over 55,000 calls in 2021/22 compared to 30,000 calls in
2020/21 and 63,000 in 2019/20. This fluctuation has been in response to
changes to health appointments and travel restrictions during the pandemic.
Bookings for transport are starting to return to pre-pandemic levels.

Page 208

27. The health booking service is delivered on behalf of the NHS Clinical
Commissioning Groups in County Durham. Following an eligibility assessment,
patients are booked on to North East Ambulance Patient Transport Services.
Patients and visitors who are ineligible for NHS patient transport are advised of
alternative services providing access to hospitals or how to make their journey.

Public Transport Information
28. The Council has continued to provide a comprehensive range of passenger
information on local bus services operating within the County. This includes
maintaining printed timetable displays at over 2,800 bus stops, providing 150
electronic information displays at bus stations and on-street stops and a web
based interactive bus map. The interactive bus map shows bus routes and
individual timetables for all registered services in downloadable format. A new
and improved version of the interactive bus map will go live on 1 June 2022.
29. The Council has also continued to manage the processing of public transport
data (via Traveline Information Limited) for the regional and national data sets
on behalf of Tyne and Wear, Northumberland, Durham and the Tees Valley local
authorities. This data is required for national and regional journey planning,
NextBus, electronic displays at bus stops as well as being used by third party
applications.
30. The Council has continued to act as the regional contact for national data issues
and represent the region at national working groups and meetings. This includes
taking an active role in working groups for the DfT Bus Open Data initiative that
has changed the way that bus operators provide information about their
registered services and make it easier for bus passengers to plan their journeys
through access to routes and timetables data, fares and tickets data and real
time information.
31.

The new regulations require bus operators to publish route, fares and vehicle
location data to a central web service called the Bus Open Data Digital Service
(BODDS) from January 2021 with requirements being phased in until 2023.

32.

The council has provided support to help bus operators meet the new
regulations. This includes the council acting as an agent to provide timetable
data to BODDS on behalf of seven small bus operators for services that operate
in County Durham.

Real Time Passenger Information
33. The data management role for the North East Real Time Passenger Information
(RTPI) has continued to be shared by Durham County Council and Nexus.
Durham is responsible for submitting public transport data to the regional data
broker for County Durham and Tees Valley led services. Nexus is responsible
for Tyne & Wear and Northumberland led services.

Page 209

Bus Service Improvement Plan and Enhanced Partnership
34. The Council has been actively involved in developing the region’s Bus Service
Improvement Plan and associated Enhanced Partnership in association with
regional partners. On 4 April 2022 the region received a letter from DfT which
offered indicative funding of up to £163,521,172. The letter did not constitute a
formal or binding grant offer. There are a number of actions that must be
completed by the region before final funding may be confirmed.
35. In addition whilst the funding amount is significant, being the largest indicative
funding amount for any BSIP, it does not cover the costs for full delivery of all of
the North East BSIP proposals. As such the region is currently prioritising
proposals. These prioritised proposals will then need to be discussed further with
the DfT.
36. The council has established the County Durham Local Bus Board. The board
aims are:
The overarching aim of the County Durham Local Bus Board is to allow
representatives from across County Durham to meet with bus operators’
representatives to increase understanding between the parties involved,
specifically but not limited to, reporting and discussion of forthcoming bus
service changes in the Council area and consideration of bus network planning
work which may be carried out at a regional level. It may also include improved
working arrangements for the discussion of bus service reliability such as
service improvements, highway infrastructure measures, fares initiatives or
information to the public.
The County Durham Local Bus Board will not be a public meeting. Attendance
at Board meetings will be by invitation only and is expected to include:
•
•
•
•
•

the Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economy and Partnerships
a representative of each of the County Durham Area Action Partnerships
representatives of NEBus, the bus operators’ association, encompassing
the providers of services across the North East
a representative of the Disability Partnership
a representative of the Youth Council

The Board is not a decision-making body. Meetings will be chaired by the
Cabinet Portfolio Holder for Economy and Partnerships unless otherwise directed
by the Cabinet Member.

DfT Capability Fund
37. The DfT allocated £301k revenue funding to the Council for sustainable travel.
This funding has been used to continue the Living Streets ‘Walk To’ sustainable
travel to school project that has been delivered in County Durham since 2012.
The funding has also been used to support projects that align with the Local
Cycling and Walking Infrastructure Plan delivery.

Page 210

Wheels to Work County Durham
38. The successful County Durham Wheels to Work (W2W) scheme has continued
to develop and has now expanded to cover the whole of the County. This
scheme, established in 2016, provides people who are experiencing difficulties
in accessing employment or training with the loan of a scooter until a longer-term
transport solution can be found. The scheme is managed by Wheels to Work
County Durham Charitable Incorporated Organisation (CIO).
39. The scheme continued to operate during the Covid-19 restrictions, although the
number of clients was reduced. The scheme operated 40 scooters and
supported 42 people into work or training during 2021/22. A total of 272 people
have been supported since the scheme started. The scheme is funded by
Durham County Council transport revenue budget as well as Area Action
Partnerships and the Local Transport Plan. External grant funding has also been
successfully secured. Additional funding opportunities will continue to be
explored.

Page 211

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 10

Cabinet
County Durham Pound Project Update
14 September 2022

Report of Corporate Management Team
Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources
Cllr Susan McDonnell, Portfolio Holder for Digital and Customer
Services
Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide.

Purpose of the Report
1

To provide Cabinet with an update on the progress and agree to the
proposed next steps of the County Durham Pound project which was
initiated following Cabinet approval of the Social Value and Wealth
Building Report on 13 January 2021.

Executive summary
2

On 13 January 2021 Cabinet approved a report on Social Value and
Wealth Building. This report set out a proposal to improve the social
value and local wealth building outcomes for the community in support
of the Council Plan and the response to the COVID-19 outbreak via
restoration and recovery objectives. The proposal included 10 initiatives
to enable the Council and its local partners to support the report
objectives.

3

One of the key initiatives was the use of a County Durham Partnership
to establish a ‘County Durham Family’ procurement network to improve
place-based procurement and local spending, collaborative sourcing
and social value impact.

4

To help facilitate this initiative the Head of Procurement, Sales and
Business services put forward a bid to obtain funding from the Contain
Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) in relation to Social Value and
Local Wealth Development in County Durham, designated the ‘County
Durham Pound’ project. The bid was successful and resulted in £260K
of funding being awarded.

Page 213

5

The funding was integral in providing the support and infrastructure
necessary to initiate the County Durham Pound project in relation to the
following critical elements:
(a)

Professional services in relation to spend analysis across all
partners

(b)

Professional services to enhance knowledge and expertise in
relation to social value, training/delivery of social value via
procurement exercises and local needs analysis across County
Durham.

(c)

Appointment of collaborative resource to support all aspects of
the programme

(d)

Communications and marketing to promote the County Durham
Pound programme

6

The funding opportunity and then subsequent funding availability was
outlined to partners in a series of overarching County Durham Pound
meetings. The first meeting in January 2021, set the scene with the next
meeting in May 2021 allowing presentations from professional services
partners, Social Value Portal (SVP) and Centre for Local Economic
Strategies (CLES), with the programme then gathering pace as we
moved from theory to practical implementation of the project. The
Council has also held 1-2-1 meetings with partners to facilitate and
encourage engagement and address any areas of concern.

7

The County Council has also been careful, however, to ensure that this
is not seen as a Council led programme but a collective collaboration
between willing partners for the benefit of the residents of County
Durham. Partners have been increasingly engaged and are now active
participants and leaders in the project and meetings as collaboration
intensifies.

8

The current project partners includes public sector organisations plus
Northumbria Water, and has specifically not included private sector
companies, particularly those who commercially compete for business
with the current partners, but a future consideration could be expanding
the project to include County Durham based companies to be
“Supporters” of the County Durham Pound, and also Federation of
Small Businesses and discussions have already commenced with
Amazon in this regard.

9

Appendix 2 provides an overview of the County Durham Pound Project
Timeframe outlining outcomes and deliverables achieved and ongoing
actions.

Page 214

10

11

The following outcomes have been delivered or are anticipated to be
finalised:
(a)

Spend analysis training was undertaken with each partner
subsequently providing the requisite spend information across
their top 300 suppliers for aggregated analysis by CLES. The
analysis of a spend of almost £926 million provides the
opportunity to identify local leakage and enhancement of local
and regional supplier engagement. (CLES)

(b)

Statement of Intent drafted and agreed ready for signature by
relevant senior management across 12 partners to commit
formally to the social value work we are collectively engaged in .
Appendix 3 provides an overview of the 12 partners involved.
(SVP)

(c)

Local Needs analysis to identify the priorities of all the partners
coordinated by SVP and Council colleagues. (SVP)

(d)

Overarching Social Value Strategy for County Durham Pound has
been developed to act as a tool to communicate what we all as
partners are seeking to do and how (SVP)

(e)

Appointment of a locally based Social Value Coordinator
employed by SVP but based in the Council’s procurement team
to provide a collaborative resource across the project. (SVP)

(f)

Development, and subsequent training on, new County Durham
Family ‘Themes Outcomes and Measures’ toolkit for use in
procurement exercises to extract social value from the
procurement process (SVP)

(g)

Knowledge Hub website to keep the people of County Durham
informed of the project’s progress and create a space for them to
send us their ideas and feedback (SVP)

(h)

Production of a series of promotional videos by a locally based
provider, 3Point Media, highlighting social value delivery including
those via collaborative projects involving collective engagement
between partners (3 Point Media).

For the Council, it should be noted that the approach to the County
Durham Pound Project complements the actions in the Poverty Action
Plan and the Inclusive Economic Strategy

Recommendation(s)
12

Cabinet are recommended to:

Page 215

Page 216

(a)

note the progress made to date and support ongoing progression
of the County Durham Pound project;

(b)

agree to the signature of the Statement of intent by the Council’s
Chief Executive; and

(c)

agree to development of appropriate communications via
Communications and Marketing teams across the partners.

Background
13

On 13 January 2021 Cabinet approved the Social Value and Wealth
Building Report. The report set out a proposal to improve the social
value and local wealth building outcomes for the community in support
of the Council Plan and the response to the COVID-19 outbreak via
restoration and recovery objectives. The proposal included 10 initiatives
to enable the Council and its local partners to support the reports
objectives.

14

One of the initiatives was the use of the County Durham Partnership to
establish a ‘County Durham Family’ network to improve place-based
procurement and local spending, collaborative sourcing and social value
impact.

15

To help facilitate this initiative the Head of Procurement, Sales and
Business services put forward a bid to obtain funding from the Contain
Outbreak Management Fund (COMF) in relation to Social Value and
Local Wealth Development in County Durham, designated the ‘County
Durham Pound’ project. The bid was successful and resulted in £260K
of funding.

16

The funding was integral in providing the support and infrastructure
necessary to initiate the County Durham Pound project in relation to the
following critical elements:
(a)

Professional services in relation to spend analysis across all
partners

(b)

Professional services to enhance knowledge and expertise in
relation to social value, training/delivery of social value via
procurement exercises and local needs analysis across County
Durham.

(c)

Appointment of collaborative resource to support all aspects of
the programme

(d)

Communications and marketing to promote the County Durham
Pound programme

Partner Engagement
17

The funding opportunity and then subsequent funding availability was
outlined to partners in a series of overarching County Durham Pound
meetings. The first meeting in January 2021 set the scene with the next
meeting in May 2021 allowing presentations from professional services
partners, Social Value Portal (SVP) and Centre for Local Economic
Strategies (CLES), with the programme then gathering pace as we

Page 217

moved from theory to practical implementation of the project. The
Council has also held 1-2-1 meetings with partners to facilitate and
encourage engagement and address any areas of concern.
18

The County Council has also been careful, however, to ensure that this
is not seen as a Council led programme but a collective collaboration
between willing partners for the benefit of the residents of County
Durham.

19

Partners have been increasingly engaged and are now active
participants and leaders in the project and meetings as collaboration
intensifies.

20

Appendix 2 provides an overview of the County Durham Pound Project
Timeframe outlining outcomes and deliverables achieved and ongoing
actions.

Outcomes and Deliverables
21

The following outcomes have been delivered or are anticipated to be
finalised via the County Durham Pound Project.

Spend Analysis
22

Spend analysis training was undertaken with each partner subsequently
providing the requisite spend information across their top 300 suppliers
for aggregated analysis by CLES.

23

The analysis of a total spend of £926 million provides the opportunity to
Identify local leakage and enhancement of local and regional supplier
engagement.

24

The table below provides a breakdown of the spend by category and
partners involved.

Page 218

25

The project is now undertaking further reviews of the spend data in
conjunction with Business Durham with the objective of:
(a)

Market Analysis - to understand the makeup of the County
Durham supply base

(b)

Gap Analysis - the collective spend analysis will be overlaid with
the market analysis to allow us to identify the areas of spend
leakage outside of County Durham to target

(c)

Sectoral Action Plans – to identify a number of priority areas or
subsectors that emerge from the analysis, each of which would
then be subject to more detailed discussion with the County
Durham Pound group. This would help to develop bespoke action
plans to put in place practical ways for localising spend

(d)

Supply Chain Opportunities – whilst the County Durham market
may not be sufficiently developed to fully deliver major areas of
spend there may be opportunities for tier 2 or 3 suppliers to
engage with ‘Out of County’ main contractors

(e)

County Durham ‘Make Strategy’ – identify opportunities for
companies to manufacture or supply locally

Statement of Intent
26

A Statement of Intent has been drafted and agreed ready for signature
by relevant senior management across the 12 partners to commit
formally to the social value work we are collectively engaged in. This is
a major step in endorsing the work and approach of the County Durham
Pound and is underpinned by the following 6 commitments:

Page 219

Local Needs Analysis
27

Social value is maximised when activities and initiatives are directed
towards addressing local needs and priorities. Therefore, in March
2022, SVP, as part of their brief, conducted a Local Needs Analysis in
conjunction with Durham County Council using data from the Indices of
Multiple Deprivation (IMD) and other public data sets. This data was
mapped to show the areas of severe, high, mild, and low deprivation
across County Durham.

28

The County Durham Pound project recognises the different business
strengths and objectives of each partner and respects their autonomy in
choosing geographical areas and themes to focus on for their social
value contributions. As outlined later in the report the Local Needs
Analysis was fundamental in identifying key areas of social value criteria
for inclusion in the procurement process via the County Durham Family
‘Themes Outcomes and Measures’ (TOMS) toolkit.

Overarching Social Value Strategy
29

An overarching Social Value Strategy for County Durham Pound has
been developed to act as a tool to communicate what all the partners
are seeking to do via the project and how.

30

The strategy introduces the collective partners, maps out the strategy,
and provides practical mechanisms to support the delivery of this placebased project. It contains guidance on how partners can maximise
social value through various processes, provides examples of good
practice and how to measure and report on social value through the
County Durham Family Themes, Outcomes and Measures (TOMs)
toolkit. An overview of TOMS is provided later in this report.

31

The strategy is an integral constituent of the project as it provides the
framework and parameters under which partners will operate and the
collective approach which is so important in maintaining our County
Durham Family going forward.

Social Value Coordinator
32

A locally based Social Value Coordinator has been appointed. The
coordinator has been employed by SVP but is based in the Council’s
procurement team to provide a collaborative resource across the
project. It is to be noted this resource is funded until March 2024 only.

County Durham Family ‘Themes Outcomes and Measures’ toolkit
33

Page 220

In partnership with the National Social Value Taskforce (chaired by
Darren Knowd, Head of Procurement, Sales and Business Services),

SVP developed the National Social Value Measurement Framework–
known as the ‘National TOMs’ as it was built around a set of Themes,
Outcomes, and Measures.
34

The National TOMs Framework provides a common language for
measuring social value that enables consistency, comparability, and
transparency. Endorsed by the Local Government Association, the
Framework has been widely adopted across both public and private
sectors including Durham County Council within its procurement
processes.

35

This project required its own set of TOMs and using the National TOMs
framework, the County Durham Family TOMs have been built. County
Durham Family TOMs were selected as meaningful to the county by
aligning them to the findings of the Local Needs Analysis, CLES
analysis and the local knowledge and visions of the partners. They
needed to be deliverable within the capacity of the partner organisations
and proportionate to their underlying business activity.

36

The following activities have taken place or are due to take place in
relation to the County Durham Family TOMs:
(a)

User training on the TOMs for each of the partners

(b)

Such TOMs training can then be utilised to include TOMs within
partners procurement exercises where organisationally agreed

(c)

Each partner has been provided with access to and training for
the use of the actual Social Value Portal electronic system. An
individual account has been set up for each partner to record their
own organisational progress against the County Durham Family
TOMs

(d)

Following the training, the Social Value Coordinator will be on
hand to support partners with their reporting. Each partner will be
requested to report monthly, with a minimum requirement of
quarterly, to facilitate a progress report being published for the
collective project every quarter.

Knowledge Hub
37

The project has now developed a Knowledge Hub website to keep the
people of County Durham informed of the project’s progress and create
a space for them to send us their ideas and feedback. Going forward
partners are determined the Knowledge Hub remains vibrant and
dynamic with case studies outlining the progress of the County Durham
Pound and the initiatives that will bring value to our communities.

Page 221

38

39

Currently the Knowledge Hub contains:
(a)

An overview of each of the partners involved

(b)

Our collective commitment and objectives in working together for
the benefit of County Durham

(c)

The Statement of Commitment as outlined earlier in the report,
signed by all partners

(d)

Case studies from partner organisations outlining their delivery of
social value across the County

(e)

An outline of the County Durham TOMs and training videos
explaining how the TOMs are applied in practice

(f)

Social Value guidance for those organisations bidding for
contracts and tenders that include social value requirements

(g)

Contact details to allow the sharing of ideas and case studies or
to become a supporter of the County Durham Pound project

A link to the Knowledge Hub is provided to allow an exploration of the
current information held County Durham Pound – Social Value
Knowledge Hub

Internal Awareness and Coordination Across Durham County
Council
40

Given the size and scale of the County Council itself, it is critical that the
organisation is aware of the work being carried out via the County
Durham Pound Project.

41

The Council’s procurement team have therefore engaged across the
following areas:

Page 222

(a)

Inclusive Economic Strategy – regular engagement has taken
place between officers involved in both projects to ensure
synergy across the work being undertaken. Procurement will now
be attending future Economic Inclusion meetings. This
engagement has led to the potential of the NHS now joining the
County Durham Pound project.

(b)

A meeting has now been held with NHS Training & Development
Business Partner at County Durham & Darlington NHS
Foundation Trust who is now discussing internally with Directors
regarding increased participation, and all recent engagement also
represents a good opportunity to join up work being carried out on

the Inclusive Economic Strategy, Left behind Neighbourhoods as
well as wider community wealth building across all partners.
(c)

The new build of Belmont Primary School has provided the
opportunity to outline the Council’s social value approach,
including the County Durham Pound Project, with the Council’s
Principle Project Management Office and the Area Action
Partnership.

(d)

Poverty Action Group (Workplaces Project) – the Councils
procurement team attended a meeting on 2nd August 2022 to help
develop a proposal to support Careers Education, Information,
Advice and Guidance (CEIAG) in schools. The project will seek to
provide students in Years 10 and 12 with a valuable insight into
the world of work through organised visits to employers. This
aligns with initiatives being developed via the County Durham
Pound Project and activities will be coordinated going forwards.

(e)

It should be noted that the approach of the County Durham
Pound Project is to complement the mitigating actions in the
Poverty Action Plan and the Inclusive Economic Strategy.

Promotion and Celebration of the County Durham Pound Project
42

43

A series of promotional videos by 3Point Media, a locally based
provider, have or are in the process of being developed which will
highlight social value delivery including collaborative projects involving
collective engagement between partners. Such videos include:
(a)

An overview of 200 hours of social value delivered by the
Council’s Digital Service’s team following a successful tender
exercise by the team at Bishop Chadwick Catholic Education
Trust.

(b)

Construction video has been produced which highlights the
delivery of social value by the Council’s supply chain, Chapter
Homes and the Council itself.

(c)

Wingate Primary School – a collaborative project, via the County
Durham Pound Project, between Believe Housing and Durham
County Council to deliver a community garden at the school
(being finalised).

To ensure the continued progression of the County Durham Pound
Project quarterly meetings of the County Durham Pound Working Group
have been set up with representation by partners to ensure we meet the
projects outcomes and deliverables.

Page 223

44

45

A Communications and Marketing sub-group has been set up reporting
into the Working Group to coordinate a communications strategy for the
County Durham Pound Project. This will encompass a variety of events
and activities to maximise the impact of the collective work under the
project such as:
(a)

Collective ‘meet the buyer’ events with multi partner
representation providing opportunities for County Durham
suppliers to engage ‘once’ across major County Durham buyers

(b)

Supplier training to prepare them for bidding for respective
partner opportunities

(c)

Skills and employment awareness events which will make sure
that young people learn more about a variety of career
opportunities before making crucial choices about their future
options

(d)

Engagement with Business Durham to maximise their skills and
knowledge to support partner engagement with the County
Durham supply base

(e)

Delivery of grant opportunities across County Durham with a bank
of multi partner social value opportunities able to fulfil grant
submissions which one partner could not individually deliver

(f)

Coordination of social media communications to ensure
awareness of the work, activities and events which will be taking
place under the banner of the County Durham Pound

The first role of the Communications and Marketing subgroup is to
promote and celebrate the signing of the Statement of Intent by all 12
partner organisations and ensure awareness of the potential
opportunities available via the project. Press statements and media
activity will be coordinated via this group.

Recommendation(s)
46

Page 224

Cabinet are recommended to:
(a)

note the progress made to date and support ongoing progression
of the County Durham Pound project;

(b)

agree to the signature of the Statement of intent by the Council’s
Chief Executive; and

(c)

agree to development of appropriate communications via
Communications and Marketing teams across the partners.

Background papers
•

Cabinet Report - Social Value and Local Wealth Building (“The
County Durham Pound”) 13th January 2021

Other useful documents
•

None

Author(s)
Darren Knowd, Head of Procurement, Sales and Business Services
Peter Shuttleworth, Chief Procurement Officer

Page 225

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Current compliance with the Social Value Act 2012 and future compliance with
the Procurement Bill 2023 considered in this approach.

Finance
Social Value delivery is additionality to the main contract delivery and is of no
extra cost to contract budget holders.

Consultation
Consultation has taken place across service areas within the Council most
notably Regeneration, Economy and Growth and Adult and Health Services.
All partner organisations have been consulted in overarching meetings and 12-1 sessions with a working group now formed with representation by all
partners.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Climate Change
Environmental and sustainability considerations are addressed within the
TOMs outlined in the report which have been formulated in conjunction with
the Low Carbon Team.

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
Procurement resource will be utilised to support ongoing and future social
value delivery until April 2024 with a Social Value Coordinator appointed to
support the County Durham Pound Project as outlined in the report.

Accommodation
None.

Page 226

Risk
Social Value assessment criteria is managed with the procurement process
risk profile.

Procurement
Current compliance with the Social Value Act 2012 and future compliance with
the Procurement Bill 2023 will be addressed via the County Durham Pound
Project and the Council’s own ongoing social value activities.

Page 227

Appendix 2: The County Durham Pound Project Timeframe

Page 228

Appendix 3: The County Durham Family Partners

Page 229

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 11

Cabinet
14 September 2022
Maintained Schools Budget Plans and
Permission to Set Deficit Budgets
2022/23
Ordinary Decision

Report of Corporate Management Team
John Pearce, Corporate Director of Children and Young People’s
Services
Councillor Ted Henderson, Portfolio Holder for Children and Young
People’s Services
Paul Darby, Corporate Director of Resources
Councillor Richard Bell, Deputy Leader and Portfolio Holder for
Finance

Electoral division(s) affected:
Countywide

Purpose of the Report
1

This report highlights that schools have delegated budgets and carry
forward surpluses and deficits from year to year. It sets out the
responsibilities of the Governing Bodies and the Council with regards to
agreeing budgets.

2

The report provides an overview of maintained schools’ budget plans for
2022/23, as agreed by the relevant Governing Bodies and highlights
where the Corporate Director of Resources has exercised his
judgement in terms of approving the setting of deficit budgets, in
accordance with the Council’s constitution and the Scheme of Financing
for Schools.

Executive summary
3

The main source of funding for mainstream primary and secondary
schools is the funding formula, which is largely driven by pupil numbers

Page 231

attending the school. More information is provided about this in
Appendix 2.
4

At 31 March 2022, maintained schools had a net cumulative surplus
balances of £28.652 million, which was an in year increase of £2.039
million on their net balances held at 31 March 2021.

5

The initial budget plans agreed by schools for the current financial year
indicated an in-year use of £7.321 million of their retained balances,
reducing the forecast retained balances to £21.331 million at 31 March
2023.

6

The Quarter 1 forecast position indicates schools will need to utilise
£17.673 million of retained balances in-year, reducing the forecast
retained balances to £10.979 million at 31 March 2023.

7

The deterioration in the financial position for schools reflects the impact
of unfunded inflationary pressures, for pay awards and energy costs in
year which are forecast to outstrip the initial budget planning
assumptions.

8

Seven maintained schools had deficit balances at 31 March 2022. The
initial 2022/23 budget plans for two of these schools (Durham
Community Business School and Wellfield) has resulted in the
Corporate Director of Resources having to exercise his judgement in
terms of approving the setting of a licensed deficit budget in 2022/23, in
accordance with the Council’s constitution and the Scheme of Financing
for Schools. The other five schools that had a deficit balance at 31
March 2022 have set budgets for 2022/23 which sought to fully recover
the deficit at 31 March 2022 in year.

9

The approved accumulated deficits of the schools that have set a deficit
budget in 2022/23 is £3.576 million. In both cases the schools are
budgeting for in-year surpluses in order to reduce their accumulated
deficits in year.

10

One of the schools that has had a licensed deficit approved (Durham
Community Business School) is due to convert to be sponsored by a
Multi-Academy Trust later this financial year. The licensed deficit at the
point of conversion will be written off and charged against the Schools
Reserve, which had a balance of £5.239 million at 1 April 2022, having
been utilised to write off deficits totalling £0.119 million last year.

Recommendation(s)
11

Cabinet is recommended to:
(a)

Page 232

note the contents of this report; and

(b)

note the action taken under delegated powers by the Corporate
Director of Resources to approve licensed deficits for two schools
in 2022/23.

Page 233

Background
12

This report set outs a summary of maintained school budget plans for
2022/23 and provides details of schools that have requested to set a
licensed deficit this year i.e. those whose budget plan in year will result
in the school having a deficit balance carried forward at 31 March 2023.

13

Previous reports have outlined the significant financial difficulties being
experienced by many schools across the county as a result of real
terms reductions in schools funding, reductions in admission numbers
and, to a lesser extent, school formula funding changes, which has
necessitated approval for the setting of licensed deficits within some
schools in previous years. To date licensed deficits have mainly arisen
in some secondary schools, with many of these now having converted
to be sponsored by a Multi-Academy Trust (MAT) and the accumulated
deficit position written off by the Council.

14

Setting a licenced deficit is a particular concern and potential financial
risk to the Council because schools that have a poor OFSTED
judgement are required to become sponsored academies and if / when
this happens any deficit balance that the school carries becomes a cost
to the local authority and is not transferred to the sponsoring MAT.

School Budget Setting Processes and Challenges
15

School budget setting processes are governed by Education and Skills
Funding Agency (ESFA) regulations and funding timetables.

16

For mainstream primary and secondary schools, the formula funding
allocations for each school are not finalised until February, though
schools are provided with indicative allocations in advance of this to
frame initial budget planning. The finalised allocations follow receipt of
our Dedicated Schools Grant allocation in December along with data
from the ESFA for each school. The data, which is based on the
October census, must be used in determining formula funding and
includes pupil numbers and the proportions of pupils qualifying for
different formula factors (e.g. deprivation). Appendix 2 provides more
information about this formula and future developments.

17

For maintained schools, budgets are set for the financial year, which
covers elements of two academic years. Staff restructuring, which is
often necessary to balance budgets and to respond in changes in pupil
numbers, usually takes effect from September each year, because
schools operate on an academic year rather than a financial year.

18

Funding for early years provision is allocated to nursery schools and
nursery units in primary schools. Most funding is in the form of an hourly
rate, which is updated termly to take account of termly headcounts. In

Page 234

addition, nursery schools receive a formula funding allocation, which is
fixed for the year and which is notified at the end of February.
19

Funding for pupils with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities in
mainstream schools varies during the year according to pupil
movements and changes in assessments. Initial funding is notified in
March and is updated regularly throughout the year.

20

For special schools and alternative provision (for excluded pupils),
funding is agreed based on anticipated numbers and a formula which
allocates funding according to the numbers of places required in each
category of need. Initial funding is notified in the autumn, and final
funding is notified at the end of February, following consultation
between schools and CYPS about requirements for places in the
coming year.

21

Post-16 funding is determined the ESFA.

22

Schools also budget for income from the Pupil Premium and other
income, including income from school meals.

23

Schools can set a budget with an in-year deficit, providing that they
have enough surplus retained balances (reserves) carried forward to do
so without this resulting in the school having a net deficit balance at the
end of the financial year. Where a school cannot do this and therefore
wishes to set a licensed deficit, it must have permission from the
council’s Corporate Director of Resources – the statutory Responsible
Financial Officer (s.151 officer) to do so.

24

The respective duties and responsibilities of schools and local
authorities are determined by local schemes of delegation, prepared in
line with statutory guidance. These schemes confirm the arrangements
for delegation to governing bodies, but also give authorities powers to
monitor school budgets and determine whether a school is allowed to
set a licensed deficit. The scheme also sets out the procedure for
dealing with schools causing concern, including the power to require
schools to provide budget plans and, in extreme cases, to suspend
delegation. Schemes also prohibit authorities from writing-off the
deficits of schools with deficit balances, in order that authorities cannot
favour one school over another by allowing one to overspend and
write-off the deficit.

25

Maintained schools are supported in their financial planning by the
Council’s Schools Finance Team via a Service Level Agreement
arrangement. This involves support during the budget setting process
and then forecasting and monitoring during the financial year to
highlight where there may be pressure on budgets and action is
required to avoid overspending.
Page 235

26

Where schools need to reduce staffing, this process begins with a
strategy meeting involving governors and the head teacher, supported
by the School Governor Support Service and Human Resources, with
advice from the School Funding Team. If it is agreed that the school
needs to change or reduce staffing, it forms a First Committee to begin
the formal process of staff reduction, which includes the issue of s.188
notices and usually culminates in either voluntary or compulsory
redundancy.

School Budget Planning and Final Outturn 2021/22
27

The schools that are currently maintained had retained balances of
£26.613 million at 31 March 2021 and the balances held at 31 March
2022 for these schools was £28.652 million, an in year increase in
balances of £2.039 million.

28

The table below summarises the changes in schools-related balances,
including changes in respect of schools that have now converted to
academies:

School balances

Maintained schools
Schools that have converted
TOTAL
29

Balance
at 31
March 21

Movement in
year

Balance
at 31
March 22

£ million
26.613
4.631
31.244

£ million
2.039
-2.064
-0.025

£ million
28.652
2.567
31.219

The table below breaks down the balances for those maintained
schools that are still in place, split between the different phases of
education, and excludes the schools that converted after 31 March
2021:

School balances by phase
Nursery
Primary
Secondary
Special/Alternative Provision
TOTAL

Page 236

Balance at 31 Movement Balance at
March 21
in year
31 March 22
£ million
£ million
£ million
1.034
21.302
1.061
3.216
26.613

-0.201
-0.042
2.781
-0.499
2.039

0.833
21.260
3.842
2.717
28.652

30

Alternative Provision is for pupils who have been permanently excluded
from school, or who are at risk of exclusion. In Durham, the council
maintains The Woodlands school for these pupils.

31

At 31 March 2022 there were seven schools with deficit balances
totalling £3.689 million. For comparison purposes, at 31 March 2021
there were five schools with deficit balances totalling £3.722 million.

32

For 2021/22 the Corporate Director of Resources exercised his
judgement to grant licensed deficits to four schools that were unable to
set a balanced budget and requested permission to set a deficit budget.
One of these four schools converted in year and are now part of a MultiAcademy Trust. Of the remaining three schools, two complied with the
conditions of the licensed deficit and the other exceeded the licensed
deficit by £2,000.

33

Of the seven schools with deficit balances at 31 March 2022, five have
set balanced budgets for 2022/23 and the remaining two have been
granted licensed deficits following approval by the Corporate Director of
Resources. All other maintained schools have set balanced budgets for
2022/23.

Budget plans for 2022/23
34

The council currently maintains 164 schools, including nursery, primary,
secondary, special schools and a single Alternative Provision (AP)
school. The AP school is for pupils who have been permanently
excluded from other schools, or who are at risk of permanent exclusion

35

The original budget for 2022/23 for these 164 maintained schools was
£255 million, funded by income of £62 million, formula funding budget
shares of £186 million (from central government funding) and a
budgeted circa £7 million use of accumulated schools’ reserves. The
table overleaf summarises the schools’ initial budgets.

Page 237

Employees
Premises
Transport
Supplies and services
Gross expenditure
Income
Net expenditure
Budget share
Reserves
Balance at 31 Mar 2022
Balance at 31 Mar 2023
36

Nursery
£million
4.523
0.311
0.001
0.391
5.226
-3.883
1.343
1.072
0.271
0.833
0.562

Primary
£million
141.327
9.543
0.366
26.171
177.407
-43.804
133.603
128.305
5.298
21.260
15.962

Secondary
£million
25.354
1.881
0.445
4.629
32.309
-6.290
26.019
25.390
0.629
3.842
3.213

Special
/ AP
£million
32.723
1.750
1.189
4.757
40.419
-8.037
32.382
31.259
1.123
2.717
1.594

Original
Annual
Budget
£million
203.927
13.485
2.001
35.948
255.361
-62.014
193.347
186.026
7.321
28.652
21.331

The two schools who have been given approval to set deficit budgets in
2022/23 i.e. where planned expenditure during 2022/23 would result in
a deficit balance at 31 March 2023 (known as a licensed deficit). The
budgets for these schools are summarised in the table below.

School
Name

Phase

Deficit at 31
March 22

Planned
movement
of reserves

Planned
deficit at
31 March
23

Licensed
deficit (i.e.
balance)
at 31
March 23

£ million

£ million

£ million

£ million

DCBC

Secondary

-0.670

0.093

-0.577

-0.577

Wellfield

Secondary

-2.906

0.203

-2.703

-2.703

Durham Community Business College (DCBC)
37

This school is expected to convert to an academy later this financial
year and is the subject of a separate report that recommends that the
deficit at the time of conversion be written-off by the council, to facilitate
the conversion of the school. In the meantime, the Corporate Director of
Resources has approved a licensed deficit of £0.577 million, which
includes an in-year budget surplus of £93,000.
Wellfield

38

Page 238

This school has a legacy of long-standing financial issues, though in
recent years has become much more financially stable and has started

to payback the deficit that it accumulated a number of years ago. The
school had an in-year surplus of £0.209 million in 2021/22 and a
retained deficit balance of £2.906 million as at 31 March 2022. The
Corporate Director of Resources has approved a licensed deficit of
£2.703 million, which requires the school to have an in-year surplus of
£0.203 million in 2022/23.

Forecast Outturn for 2022-23
39

The forecast position for all schools for Quarter 1 is shown in the table
below:
Budget Heading

Employees
Premises
Transport
Supplies
Gross expenditure
Income
Net expenditure
Budget share
Use of reserves
Balance at 31 March 2022
Balance at 31 March 2023
40

Original
Budget

Quarter 1
Forecast

Forecast
Variance

£ million
203.927
13.485
2.001
35.948
255.361
-62.014
193.347
186.026
7.321
28.652
21.331

£ million
220.624
16.233
2.081
38.580
277.518
-73.819
203.699
186.026
17.673
28.652
10.979

£ million
16.697
2.748
0.080
2.632
22.156
-11.805
10.351
0
10.351
0
10.351

The updated forecasts include the following assumptions:
(a)

pay award for teachers at 5% for Upper Pay Scales (UPS) grades
and higher levels for Main Pay Scales (MPS) – compared to the
budgeted assumptions of a 2% increase in year;

(b)

pay award of £1,925 per employee per annum for non-teaching
support staff – compared to a flat 2% pay award budget
assumption;

(c)

electricity costs are 63% higher than the 21/22 outturn figures –
around 10% higher than the 22/23 budgeted amounts;

(d)

gas costs 96% higher than the 21/22 outturn figures – around
40% higher than the 22/23 budgeted amounts;

(e)

impact of inflation on supplies and provisions (particularly food
products) has been considered with individual schools;
Page 239

41

(f)

income forecasts have been reviewed and updated to include the
latest available information, particularly for SEND funding;

(g)

no additional grant income is included in the forecast to cover
costs associated with pay awards at this stage.

The forecast at Q1 indicates schools will be required to utilise
£17.673 million of reserves in comparison to the £7.321 million included
in original budget plans. The change relates to the following:
(a)

employees – an increase of £16.697 million, the majority of which
relates to the forecast of staff pay awards of £7.8 million for nonteaching support staff and £3.5 million for teaching staff (7/12ths
impact in 22/23);

(b)

premises – increase of £2.748 million due to updated energy and
repairs and maintenance forecasts;

(c)

supplies – increase of £2.632 million due to updated forecasts
reflecting latest inflation figures;

(d)

income – increase in income of £11.8 million, mainly relating to
£9.75 million of grant funding plus SEN funding and increases in
fees and charges.

42

The forecast position at individual school level indicates that a small
number of schools may be in deficit at the end of the current financial
year (this is in addition to the two schools given permission to set a
licensed deficit) and a more significant number of schools may not have
sufficient reserves available to set a balanced budget in 2023/24

43

The School Funding Team will work closely with schools over the
autumn term to continue support the financial planning process in the
current and future financial years.

Main implications
Financial implications
44

The council has a responsibility for the oversight of maintained schools,
including their financial planning.

45

If a school is allowed to set a deficit budget without good reason and
without corrective action being taken by the Governing Body, then it is
likely that its financial position will deteriorate over time until it reaches a
point where it is unable to clear the accumulated deficit and the only
option for the school is for the school to close or become part of a multiacademy trust as a sponsored academy.

Page 240

46

Where a school converts to become a sponsored academy, any deficit
must be written-off by the council from its own resources. Surplus
balances are transferred to the sponsored academy’s Multi Academy
Trust.

47

The School Funding Team will work closely with schools in the autumn
term to provide support for financial planning in the current and future
years.

Schools Reserve
48

The council has a Schools Reserve to fund the cost of writing-off deficits
of schools that are converting. The balance on the Schools Reserve at
1 April 2021 was £5.357 million.

49

During 2021/22 the council wrote-off £0.119 million of accumulated
deficit which reduced the balance on the Schools Reserve to £5.239
million at 31 March 2022.

50

A further write-off of between £0.650 million and £0.577 million is
expected in 2022/23 in respect of Durham Community Business School
when it converts to form part of the Advance Learning Partnership. This
would leave a forecasted balance of between £4.589 million and £4.662
million on the reserve at 31 March 2023.

Conclusion
51

There are significant financial challenges for schools in the current
financial year and beyond, largely linked to current inflationary
pressures being felt across the UK economy.

52

This report outlines the licenced deficit position for two schools in
2022/23, however it should be noted that this number is likely to
increase significantly in 2023/24 should current forecast cost pressures
continue, and no additional funding be provided.

Background papers


None

Other useful documents


None

Contact:

Jeff Garfoot

Tel: 03000 261946

David Shirer

Tel: 03000 268554

Page 241

Appendix 1: Implications
Legal Implications
Section 15 of the Education and Inspections Act requires a Local Authority to
publish statutory proposals where it is considering discontinuing a maintained
school. Section 16 of the Act requires the Local Authority to consult such
people as they feel to be appropriate and to have regard to guidance
published by the Secretary of State before publishing such proposals.
The Corporate Director Resources is responsible by virtue of Section 151 of
the Local Government Act 1972 for the administration of the authority’s
financial affairs. The Corporate Director Resources also has a duty to report
certain matters to the authority by virtue of Section 114 of the Local
Government Finance Act 1988.
Schools have delegated budgets, but if a school closes or converts as a
sponsored academy then any deficit balance remains with the council, which
must meet the cost of writing-off the deficit from its general funds. Surplus
balances of closing schools are credited to the council, but it does not retain
any surplus balance for a school becoming a sponsored academy: the
academy receives the balance upon conversion.
The funding framework governing schools finance, which replaced Local
Management of Schools, is based on the legislative provisions in sections
45-53 of the School Standards and Framework Act 1998. Under this
legislation the council is required to publish a Scheme of Financing for
Schools. The scheme sets out the financial relationship between the authority
and the maintained schools which it funds, including the respective roles and
responsibilities of the authority and the schools. The scheme does not limit
unreasonably the flexibility of schools to control and deploy their budgets,
recognising the need for public monies are involved to be properly accounted
for and recorded. The scheme includes provisions which are binding on both
parties. Under the scheme, any deficits of expenditure against budget share
(formula funding and other income due to the school) in any financial year will
be charged against the school and will be deducted from the following year’s
budget share to establish the funding available to the school for the coming
year.
Schools cannot set a deficit budget without the prior agreement in writing of
the authority. For clarity, a deficit budget is one where the gross expenditure
in the budget plan exceeds the total of funding, income and the balance
(surplus or deficit) brought forward from the previous year. This consent is

Page 242

given by the Section 151 officer - Corporate Director, Resources; where
approval is given this is known as a licensed deficit.
The scheme of delegation allows for deficit budgets, but only for three years,
and no more than 20% of the school’s budget share, up to a maximum of
£750,000. This requirement has not been met for the two schools with
licensed deficits approved in 2022/23, due to legacy issues relating to an
inability to secure an external academy sponsor.

Finance
Schools are funded through Dedicated Schools Grant and operate to
delegated budgets, which are the responsibility of individual school governing
bodies. Where a school wishes to set a deficit budget (where its spending
exceeds it resources in year – including any retained balances brought
forward from previous years) it can only do so in accordance with EFA
guidance and the Scheme of Financing for Schools and with the permission of
the councils S151 Officer; where approval is given this is known as a licensed
deficit.
Changes (restrictions) placed on the council through formula funding
regulations, has made funding for mainstream schools more sensitive to
changes in pupil numbers, and has reduced the scope of local authorities to
use its funding formulas to target funding to schools that are struggling
financially.
From April 2013 schools now have the powers to accept pupil numbers above
their Pupil Admission Number, which is what the council (through the Schools
Admissions Team) previously used to cap the admission numbers to an
individual school and help manage demand across schools. In addition, from
April 2015 schools that had a poor Ofsted judgement have been required to
convert and become sponsored academies.
There are a small number of maintained schools in financial difficulty across
the county, with insufficient capacity in some areas to accommodate the pupil
numbers displaced should these schools need to close. Notwithstanding this,
should a school close, the additional cost of providing home to school
transport to pupils' nearest schools can be significant. There would also need
to be significant capital investment to expand other secondary schools to
accommodate additional pupils should a secondary school close for financial
reasons.
Where a school is in financial difficulties, officers from the Education Service
can advise schools about where there is scope to make savings, supported
the Schools Finance Team.

Page 243

Consultation
None.

Equality and Diversity / Public Sector Equality Duty
None.

Climate Change
None

Human Rights
None.

Crime and Disorder
None.

Staffing
Staffing within schools is continually reviewed as schools consider
arrangements for balancing their budgets on an annual basis. Any staff
restructuring exercises are considered in line with the council's existing
schemes and the School Brokerage Scheme to minimise redundancies
wherever possible.

Accommodation
None.

Risk
If schools become financially unsustainable there is a risk to their ability to
deliver a good standard of education. This would normally lead to a school
failing an Ofsted inspection and being required to seek a Multi-Academy Trust
to sponsor it. This can be problematic where the school has significant in-year
deficits and is perceived as a financial liability for an existing trust to take on.
At the point of conversion the Council would have to meet the cost of
writing-off the deficit.
In such a situation, the Council is at risk of damage to its reputation by being
perceived to have failed to monitor the performance and financial position of
maintained schools.
In addition if a school is in deficit and the school transfer to academy status
the council has to finance the write off of the deficit value. The council is also
responsible for financing any ER/VR costs associated with cost reduction
strategies in schools

Page 244

Procurement
None.

Page 245

Appendix 2: Mainstream Primary and Secondary Formula
Funding - Overview
1

The main source of funding for mainstream primary and secondary
schools is the local funding formula. Local formulas are set by councils,
but must comply with statutory regulation, which restricts local discretion
over formula factors and how they are applied. The formula is used for
both maintained schools and academies, albeit the formula applies to
maintained schools from April, (the start of the local authority financial
year) but to academies from the following September (the start of the
academy financial year).

2

Most funding in the formula is allocated through pupil-led factors,
including a basic amount per pupil and additional pupil needs.
Additional pupil needs factors are based on measures such as
deprivation which are linked to lower educational attainment. Other
funding is provided through school and premises-led factors to ensure
that schools with fewer pupils (and hence less pupil-led funding) have a
minimum amount of funding to cover fixed costs.

3

A further allocation is made through Minimum Per Pupil Funding, which
provides additional funding for schools that have relatively low levels of
funding for additional pupil needs and larger schools whose school and
pupil-led funding per pupil is smaller than other schools.

4

The formula also provides protection for schools in respect of changes
in funding per pupil from year-to-year. This protection can stop funding
reducing too quickly, or can provide a minimum increase, depending on
the funding regulations for that year. This protection takes the form of
the Minimum Funding Guarantee and Funding Floor.

5

The protection through the Minimum Funding Guarantee and Funding
Floor does not apply to schools whose funding is reducing because of
falling pupil numbers, but these schools do receive a degree of
protection through the formula, because it uses lagged pupil numbers,
which means that there is a delay between numbers falling and funding
reducing. The lag is because pupil numbers are taken from the October
School Census but do not apply until the formula that applies from the
following April (for maintained schools) or September (for academies).

6

The local formula is funded through the Schools Block of the Dedicated
Schools Grant.

Page 246

7

Funding levels for 2023/24 have recently been announced and include
increases in overall funding per pupil of 5% per primary pupil and 6%
per secondary pupil.

8

Schools will be consulted about the formula for 2023/24 in September
and Cabinet will be asked to approve a provisional formula in November
or December 2022, pending confirmation of funding and pupil numbers
by the DfE.

9

The increases quoted above are for the units of funding per pupil used
to allocate funding to local authorities. Increases for individual schools
will vary, depending on the application of the final version of the formula
to the specific circumstances of each school.

10

The DfE has also announced changes to regulations for 2023/24 that
will require local authorities that have not already done so to increase
alignment of their formulas to the NFF and a consultation about making
further progress towards the replacement of local funding formulas by
the National Funding Formula (NFF). The DfE’s aim is that the NFF is
used to determine funding for all schools across the country by no later
than 2027-28. Since 2018-19, the NFF has been used as the basis for
determining the units of funding per pupil that determine overall
allocations of funding to local authorities, and many local authorities,
including Durham, have already aligned their formulas to the NFF.

11

The units of funding are determined using data that is one year older
than that used in the local formulas, and this means that local formulas
cannot match the NFF exactly.

12

Durham’s formula for the current financial year uses the NFF values for
school-led factors, (lump sum per school and sparsity funding), but
pupil-led factors that are 0.66% higher than the NFF values. The
difference in pupil-led factors is the percentage difference necessary to
make use of all of the funding provided for the formula.

13

The existing 2022/23 formula is summarised in the table overleaf.

Page 247

Primary
KS3
KS4
FSM (Primary)
FSM (Secondary)
FSM6 (Primary)
FSM6 (Secondary)
IDACI Band F (Primary)
IDACI Band E (Primary)
IDACI Band D (Primary)
IDACI Band C (Primary)
IDACI Band B (Primary)
IDACI Band A (Primary)
IDACI Band F (Secondary)
IDACI Band E (Secondary)
IDACI Band D (Secondary)
IDACI Band C (Secondary)
IDACI Band B (Secondary)
IDACI Band A (Secondary)
Primary
Secondary
Primary
Secondary

38,167.17
16,212.00
10,359.00
12,254.76
7,370.00
12,752.88
8,681.00
5,208.24
6,347.08
4,110.90
3,172.96
3,603.08
2,446.48
3,679.39
4,251.43
2,835.88
2,016.69
2,431.75
1,493.21
633.42
107.16
173.09
10.20

Formula
values
£
3,238.11
4,565.76
5,145.54
473.08
473.08
593.87
870.67
221.44
271.77
422.76
463.02
493.21
644.20
322.10
427.79
598.90
654.26
704.59
895.84
568.71
1,540.04
931.07
1,338.73

Primary

10,514.36

1,137.41

11,959,177

3.38%

5,389.91

1,721.22

212.00
30.70

121,300.00
121,300.00

9,277,207
958,980
316,734,667
25,715,600
3,723,910
1,101,666
30,541,176
6,113,302
353,389,144

2.63%
0.27%
89.63%
7.28%
1.05%
0.31%
8.64%
1.73%
100.00%

2022/23 Mainstream Primary and
Secondary Funding Formula
Basic funding
per pupil

Deprivation

EAL
Mobility
Low Prior
Attainment

Secondary
Minimum per-pupil funding
Total for pupil-led factors
Primary
Lump sum
Secondary
Sparsity
Total for school-led factors
Total for premises factors
Total funding

Page 248

Eligible
pupils

Allocation through
formula
£
123,589,296
34.97%
74,020,074
20.95%
53,302,620
15.08%
5,797,524
1.64%
3,486,625
0.99%
7,573,563
2.14%
7,558,328
2.14%
1,153,331
0.33%
1,724,955
0.49%
1,737,905
0.49%
1,469,136
0.42%
1,777,092
0.50%
1,576,017
0.45%
1,185,129
0.34%
1,818,710
0.51%
1,698,417
0.48%
1,319,447
0.37%
1,713,391
0.48%
1,337,677
0.38%
360,229
0.10%
165,025
0.05%
161,156
0.05%
13,655
0.00%

